

EN

CORE

University of Tennessee, Knoxville Trace: Tennessee Research and Creative Exchange

Doctoral Dissertations

THE UNIVERSITY OF

Graduate School

8-2007

Supply Chain Leadership

Charles Clifford Defee University of Tennessee - Knoxville

Recommended Citation

Defee, Charles Clifford, "Supply Chain Leadership." PhD diss., University of Tennessee, 2007. https://trace.tennessee.edu/utk_graddiss/148

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at Trace: Tennessee Research and Creative Exchange. It has been accepted for inclusion in Doctoral Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Trace: Tennessee Research and Creative Exchange. For more information, please contact trace@utk.edu.

To the Graduate Council:

I am submitting herewith a dissertation written by Charles Clifford Defee entitled "Supply Chain Leadership." I have examined the final electronic copy of this dissertation for form and content and recommend that it be accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy, with a major in Business Administration.

Theodore P. Stank, Major Professor

We have read this dissertation and recommend its acceptance:

John T. Mentzer, Terry L. Esper, Kenneth J. Levine

Accepted for the Council: <u>Dixie L. Thompson</u>

Vice Provost and Dean of the Graduate School

(Original signatures are on file with official student records.)

To the Graduate Council:

I am submitting herewith a dissertation written by Charles Clifford Defee entitled "Supply Chain Leadership". I have examined the final electronic copy of this dissertation forform and content and recommend that it be accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy, with a major in Business Administration.

Theodore P. Stank, Major Professor

We have read this dissertation and recommend its acceptance:

John T. Mentzer

Terry L. Esper

Kenneth J. Levine

Accepted for the Council:

Carolyn R. Hodges

Vice Provost and Dean of the Graduate School

(Original signatures are on file with official student records.)

SUPPLY CHAIN LEADERSHIP

A Dissertation Presented for the Doctor of Philosophy Degree The University of Tennessee, Knoxville

> Charles Clifford Defee August 2007

DEDICATION

This dissertation is dedicated to the memory of my wife, Celia Sue Defee

Whose unconditional love and support made this journey possible, and whose courage I admire beyond all others.

And to my children, Scott and Casey

You inspire me daily.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The faculty and staff of the Department of Marketing and Logistics have my sincere gratitude. The support and encouragement I have received here goes well beyond the norm. Thank you for "teaching an old dog new tricks". I am especially fortunate to have made so many good friends among my colleagues in the doctoral program. To each of the above, I say thank you and hope you know you will always be a part of my family. I owe a special thanks to my Dissertation Committee, Dr. Theodore P. Stank, Dr. John T. Mentzer, Dr. Terry L. Esper, and Dr. Kenneth J. Levine. I am particularly grateful to my Dissertation Committee Chairperson, Dr. Theodore P. Stank, for his insight, calming influence, and friendship throughout this process.

I have been privileged to call Mr. Mark Layton, CEO of PFSweb, my friend for many years. Without Mark's ongoing support on so many levels this life-changing experience would not have been possible. In addition, I thank PFSweb and the University of Tennessee Integrated Value Chain Forums, both of whom provided financial support for this dissertation.

Of course, my passage through the doctoral program was never a solo trip, and has been fueled constantly by the love and support of my family. Some have made it to this point of the journey in mind and body, others in spirit, but each of you lives daily in my heart. I am truly fortunate that the two people I most admire are my father, William J., and my brother, Bill. Thank you for setting the standard so high.

ABSTRACT

The complexity found in supply chains draws on the combined capabilities of multiple firms. Success in this environment requires the coordinated efforts of both a supply chain leader organization, and one or more supply chain follower organizations. Supply chain leadership has traditionally been ascribed to the most powerful, dominant organization in the supply chain. The theory of supply chain leadership presented in this dissertation redefines leadership in the supply chain context as a relationship between leader and followers described by the behaviors exhibited through each organization's actions. The theoretical model was developed from literature in the leadership, logistics, and strategic management disciplines. The nomological network is derived from five constructs: supply chain leadership, supply chain followership, information availability, communications, and rewards. Empirical testing was facilitated by data collected through an interactive simulation.

Findings were evaluated across two distinct environments: transactional networks and transformational networks. The results suggest supply chain leadership and followership both have a significant effect in transactional networks. Interestingly, supply chain followership was discovered to make a greater contribution to overall supply chain structural development and performance than supply chain leadership in transformational environments. The structural model demonstrated good fit and all six hypotheses were at least partially supported.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1 – INTRODUCTION	1
THEORETICAL JUSTIFICATION	5
Transformational Leadership	6
Supply Chain Leadership	
Strategy - Structure - Performance Theory	9
Structure and Performance in Supply Chains	
Gaps in Existing Knowledge	12
SCL is a Misunderstood Concept	
Establishing the Critical Role of SCF Organizations	13
The Need to Confirm SSP in the Supply Chain Context	14
The Need for Theory to Explain Supply Chain Phenomena	16
STATEMENT OF PURPOSE	18
Research Questions	19
Potential Contributions of This Research	20
DISSERTATION ORGANIZATION	22
CHAPTER 2 – BUILDING THE THEORY	
LEADERSHIP RESEARCH AND THEORY	23
Roots of the Leadershin Discipline	23
Trends in the Study of Leadership	26
Leader-centric Theories of Leadership	26
Relationship-oriented Theories of Leadership	29
Defining Leadership	
Many Different Definitions of Leadership	
Concepts tied to Leadership	
Creating a Broad-based Definition of Leadership	
Summary of the Review of Leadership	
THE TRANSFORMATIONAL LEADERSHIP PARADIGM	
Foundations of Transformational Leadership	
Dimensions of Transformational Leadership	
The Domain of Transformational Leadership	
Summary of Transformational Leadership Theory	64
FOLLOWERSHIP	64
The Importance of Followership	65
Overcoming Negative Perceptions of Followership	
What is Followership?	67
Dimensions of Followership	
A Theory of Followership	74
Summary of Followership	78
STRATEGY, STRUCTURE AND PERFORMANCE	79
SSP in Supply Chains	
Supply Chain Structure	
Supply Chain Performance	
Problems with Performance Measurement	
Suggested Approaches to Performance Measurement	90
The Strategic Profit Model	93

Measures of Efficiency	93
Measures of Effectiveness	95
Summary of Performance Measurement	96
CONCEPTUALIZING THE THEORY OF SUPPLY CHAIN LEADERSHIP	96
Establishing a Definition of Supply Chain Leadership	
Inconsistent Uses of SCL	97
Placing SCL in the Proper Context	
Creating the Definition of SCL	
A Model of Supply Chain Leadership	
Distinguishing Characteristics of Supply Chain Leadership	103
Transformational versus Transactional SCL	103
Transformational versus Transactional SCF	107
Supply Chain Networks	109
Supply Chain Networks and Structural Outcomes	
Supply Chain Networks and Performance	117
Efficient Holistic Performance	118
Effective Holistic Performance	119
Summary of the Theory of SCL	
CHAPTER 3 – RESEARCH METHOD AND THEORY TESTING	121
STRUCTURAL EQUATION MODEL	
RESEARCH DESIGN	
Simulated Environment	
Sample	
Approach to Data Collection	
MEASUREMENT DEVELOPMENT	
Scale Availability	
Construct Operationalization and Development	131
Supply Chain Leadership	133
Inspirational Behavior	
Intellectual Stimulation	133
Individualized Consideration	134
Contingent Reward	135
Management-by-Exception	
Supply Chain Followership	135
Independent Mindset	136
Critical Thinking	136
Assume Responsibility	137
Collaborating with Supply Chain Members	137
Supply Chain Commitment	138
Information Availability	
Communication	
Decision-Making	
Rewards	
Performance	140
The Survey Instrument	
PRE-TESTING	
Scale Purification	
FINAL DATA COLLECTION AND ANALYSIS	
Summary	147

CHAPTER 4 – ARTICLE 1: UNDERSTANDING SUPPLY CHAIN LEADERSHIP	148
LITERATURE REVIEW	151
Views of Leadership and Followership	151
Transformational Leadership	153
Leadership in Supply Chains	154
Supply Chain Structure	156
BUILDING THE MODEL	157
SCL Style Determination	157
SCF Style Determination	159
Supply Chain Networks	160
Supply Chain Structural Outcomes	162
Supply Chain Performance	165
RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	168
Data Collection	169
Scale Development	170
RESULTS	171
Evaluation of Measures	171
Overall Structural Model Fit	175
Hypothesis Testing	176
DISCUSSION AND IMPLICATIONS	179
Managerial Implications	180
Implications for Researchers	181
Limitations and Future Research	182
CHAPTER 5 – ARTICLE 2: ROLE OF FOLLOWERSHIP IN SUPPLY CHAINS	185
LITERATURE REVIEW AND CONCEPTUALIZATION	186
A New View of Leadership	187
The Importance of Effective Followership	189
Characteristics of Followership	190
Supply Chain Leadership and Followership	193
PROPOSED MODEL.	195
METHODOLOGY	199
Sample and Data Collection Approach	200
Initial Scale Development and Pilot Testing	201
RESULTS	202
Measurement Model Analysis	202
Analysis of the Structural Model	206
Analysis of Performance	208
IMPLICATIONS AND CONCLUSIONS	209
REFERENCES	212
APPENDICES	238
APPENDIX A	239
APPENDIX B	252
VITA	265

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1:	Influence Strategies Available to Leaders	38
Table 2.2:	Example Definitions of Leadership	42
Table 2.3:	Elements of a Conceptual Definition of Leadership	44
Table 2.4:	Dimensions of Transformational & Transactional Leadership	51
Table 2.5:	Transformational Leadership Theoretical Factor Structure	53
Table 2.6:	Summary of Organizational Citizenship Behaviors	62
Table 4.1:	Construct Validity (Transactional Group)	. 173
Table 4.2:	Construct Validity (Transformational Group)	. 174
Table 5.1:	Comparing Transformational & Transactional Supply Chain Followers	. 195
Table 5.2:	Construct Validity Measures (Transactional Group)	. 204
Table 5.3:	Construct Validity Measures (Transformational Group)	. 205

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1:	Supply Chain Knowledge Gaps	17
Figure 2.1:	Transformational Leadership Theoretical Domain	56
Figure 2.2:	Kelley's Model of Followership	70
Figure 2.3:	Potter et al's Model of Followership	71
Figure 2.4:	Followership Dimensions	72
Figure 2.5:	Transformational Followership Theoretical Model	75
Figure 2.6:	Model of the SSP Paradigm	79
Figure 2.7:	Supply Chain SSP Framework	87
Figure 2.8:	The Strategic Profit Model	94
Figure 2.9:	Theoretical Model of Supply Chain Leadership	102
Figure 2.10	Supply Chain Network Classification	110
Figure 2.11	Predicted Supply Chain Structural Matrix	112
Figure 2.12	Predicted Supply Chain Performance Matrix	117
Figure 3.1:	Supply Chain Leadership Structural Model	124
Figure 3.2:	Supply Chain Value Game Structure	126
Figure 4.1:	Structural Model of Supply Chain Leadership	158
Figure 4.2:	Standardized Path Weights for Transactional Group	176
Figure 4.3:	Standardized Path Weights for Transformational Group	177
Figure 5.1:	Proposed Structural Equation Model	196
Figure 5.2:	Standardized Path Weights	206
Figure 5.3:	Simulation Performance Results	208

CHAPTER 1 – INTRODUCTION

The emergence of supply chains has shifted the locus of competition from firm against firm to supply chain against supply chain (Christopher 1992). A supply chain is defined as "a set of three or more companies directly linked by one or more of the upstream and downstream flows of products, services, finances, and information from a source to a customer" (Mentzer 2001, p. 5). Supply chains are inherently complex (Christopher and Towill 2002) and require the cooperation and coordination of multiple organizations working in concert to satisfy the tandem goals of efficiently and effectively fulfilling customer needs (Mentzer 2001). Many techniques have been suggested for achieving supply chain goals including collaboration (Sinkovics and Roath 2004; Stank, Keller, and Daugherty 2001), process integration (Min and Mentzer 2004; Rodrigues, Stank, and Lynch 2004), information sharing (Bowersox, Closs, and Stank 1999; Sanders and Premus 2005), standardization (Bowersox, Closs, and Stank 1999; Defee and Stank 2005) and aligning measures and rewards (Mentzer 2004).

The implementation and acceptance of these techniques across multiple supply chain members requires leadership. A supply chain leader often emerges to become the driving force behind strategic supply chain decisions. It has been suggested a firm must take the position of leadership to avoid chaos among the member organizations (Lambert, Stock, and Ellram 1998). Nevertheless, the role played by the supply chain leader has been largely overlooked in the logistics discipline.

Supply chain leadership (SCL) is a term frequently found in the literature. Unfortunately, the term suffers from inconsistent use and lack of a precise definition. SCL has been used to identify the most powerful organization in the supply chain (Maloni and Benton 2000), a firm that outperforms others in an industry (Harrison and New 2002; Sankaran and Luxton 2003), and thought leaders in the supply chain discipline (Williams 2004). Descriptions of leadership are based on the ability to influence others, often from a base of power (Yukl 2001), suggesting the association of SCL with powerful organizations is the most applicable description for this investigation. The power-centered view limits the scope of SCL by ignoring other potential antecedents. Therefore, a new definition is developed in this dissertation:

SCL is a relational concept between a supply chain leader and one or more supply chain follower organizations. SCL is characterized by the ability of one organization in a supply chain to exert influence over other member organizations in order to increase supply chain follower compliance with and commitment to the leader's vision for the entire supply chain.

Examples of SCL help to describe its existence and reinforce the definition. Wal-Mart establishes the rules member organizations must follow in many of the thousands of supply chains that feed its stores. A demonstration of SCL is seen in the company's willingness to share point-of-sale data with members, significantly influencing processes instituted across Wal-Mart supply chains (Gruman 2005). The company also indirectly influences supply chain processes in other industries through its continuous search for new and better technology solutions such as its recent emphasis on the adoption of RFID technology (Kinsella 2003; Moore 2005). Dell provides another example of SCL. The supply chain practices masterminded by the company have become a model for other supply chains in terms of inventory management and agility (Archer 2003).

Wal-Mart and Dell are easily identified as supply chain leaders of their own extended businesses operations, in part because of their size and relative economic power compared to the other organizations comprising their supply chains. The foresight and supply chain expertise demonstrated by these exemplar companies may also contribute to their leadership positions. Supply chain leaders may also emerge because of customer patronage, the existence of a comprehensive trade franchise, or inter-organizational relationship development (Bowersox and Closs 1996).

The existence of supply chain leaders seems undeniable, but supply chain performance requires the cooperation of multiple member organizations and the coordination of complex processes across all members (Mentzer 2004; Stank, Crum, and Arango 1999; Stank, Keller, and Daugherty 2001). A supply chain leader may provide the incentive that encourages supply chain member firms to work more collaboratively than is found under traditional arms-length relationships. However, unless supply chain member organizations willingly choose to *follow the leader*, conflict may arise and supply chain performance may suffer as a result (Brown and Day 1981; Etgar 1979; Gaski 1984). It has generally been assumed that supply chain follower organizations -- i.e., those supply chain members not in a position of supply chain leadership -- lack the ability to influence supply chain strategies, and must simply accommodate the leader's wishes because of their relative lack of power (Maloni and Benton 2000). However, the success of any supply chain leader's strategy depends on its acceptance by those performing the lion's share of the work -- the supply chain follower organizations.

So, both SCL and supply chain followership (SCF) are critical to the success of a supply chain. The existence of one without the other is analogous to trying to wash one dirty hand while the other resides in a pocket. The process (wet hand, apply soap, scrub, rinse, and dry) and definition of a successful result (removal of dirt, hand dried and ready for next task) is understood, but accomplishing the task is impossible without the willing

participation of both hands. Similarly, the existence of a supply chain leader organization without follower organizations to accept responsibility for critical task completion destines the supply chain to failure. Supply chains lacking a leader organization can anticipate a similar fate. Since there appears to be a need for SCL and SCF it is unfortunate neither concept has received much attention from researchers. SCL is a somewhat overlooked concept and SCF is neither described nor defined in the literature. Since our understanding of SCL is limited, a greater understanding of the phenomenon holds the potential for new theory development and insights leading to improved supply chain performance and a strengthened, more sustainable competitive advantage.

The importance of achieving a deeper understanding of these concepts is found in three areas. First, the definitions of SCL and SCF are inadequate (in the case of SCL) or do not exist (in the case of SCF). Precise definitions allow the domain of the concept to be properly described, and provide a foundation for building a workable theory of SCL. A major reason for this investigation is to clarify the definition of SCL. Likewise, a definition of SCF is required to provide a complement to SCL, and more accurately describe the domain of the theory of SCL.

Second, identifying and classifying the styles used by supply chain leader and follower organizations will provide a means of understanding a key driving factor underlying the inter-organizational dynamics found in supply chains. Managers display different leadership and followership behaviors or styles. Leaders have been categorized as charismatic (House 1977), transformational (Bass 1985a; Burns 1978), authoritarian (House 1965; Jennings 1959), authentic (Avolio et al. 2004; Masarech 2001; May et al. 2003), and passive (Bass 1985a) among others. Just as managers exhibit different styles,

supply chain organizations project differing leadership and followership styles, and through these styles develop differing types of relationships with other members.

Third, the existence of certain SCL and SCF styles may contribute to consistently better or worse performance. Performance is considered a consequence of the structure developed throughout a supply chain as a result of strategic decisions (Defee and Stank 2005). Leader and follower styles may be seen as a manifestation of supply chain strategy that influences performance. Linking leader and follower styles to performance may highlight differences attributable to certain SCL and SCF style combinations.

The remainder of this chapter elaborates on the theoretical justification and purpose of this research. Transformational leadership (Bass 1985a; Burns 1978) and strategy-structure-performance theory (Chandler 1962; Rumelt 1974) are proposed as existing theories critical to the development of a theory of SCL. Gaps in existing supply chain theory are highlighted to further support the need for a more complete understanding of SCL and SCF. Objectives of the research are discussed, research questions that will guide the investigation are developed from the gaps, and potential contributions are summarized. The chapter concludes with an outline of the remaining chapters contained in the dissertation.

THEORETICAL JUSTIFICATION

The phenomenon of SCL has not received significant empirical investigation in the logistics or other supply chain related disciplines. As the core concept of interest, SCL is proposed as a macro, inter-organizational level concept elevated from micro, managerial level concepts found in the leadership literature. This section builds the foundation needed for development of the SCL concept.

Transformational Leadership

Leadership has been a field of intense interest to academics and managers throughout the past century (Bass 1990; Stogdill 1974) with many theories of leadership proposed. The earliest theories tend to be leader-centric in their scope and emphasize the special qualities, traits or behaviors that distinguish leaders from non-leaders (Hunt 1999). More recent theories have taken an increasingly holistic, relationship-oriented view of the phenomenon (House and Aditya 1997). These theories credit followers as possessing the wherewithal to assume greater responsibilities and influence leader plans (Kouzes and Posner 1987; 2004).

As recently as the 1970s, leaders were perceived as pursuing a series of costbenefit exchanges, or transactions, intended to meet subordinates' immediate economic and psychological needs in return for task performance (Bass 1985a). Transactional leadership occurs when "leaders use sanctions and rewards to induce followers to perform defined tasks and exhibit loyalty and commitment to the organization" (Grundstien-Amado 1999, p. 250). This view is consistent with social exchange theory (Hollander 1958; 1978), and is based on the assumption that leaders strive to control follower behavior by simultaneously imposing their authority and satisfying follower needs. Follower behavior is influenced by reinforcing desired behaviors that support the organization's goals, and punishing undesirable behaviors (Pearce et al. 2003).

Transactional leaders focus on clearly defining the requirements of a task and establishing supervisory controls needed to ensure followers deliver at the desired level of performance (Burns 1978), but make no effort to change followers' values (Grundstien-Amado 1999). Contingent reinforcement -- the use of rewards and/or punishments to ensure performance -- is the primary motivational tool, and is often combined with management-by-exception as a supporting behavior used by transactional managers to obtain compliance (Bass 1985a).

Transformational leadership has become the dominant paradigm of leadership research (Bass 1999). The theory expands the role of the leader beyond the exchange dynamic and is posited as the reason followers willingly expend extra effort to achieve organizational goals (Podsakoff et al. 1990). Transformational leadership was initially described by Burns (1978), and refined and tested by Bass (1985a). The transformational leader strives to raise the consciousness of followers (Yukl 2001), and is distinguished from the transactional leader through the behaviors used to influence followers.

"Transformational leadership involves fundamentally changing the values, goals, and aspirations of followers so that they perform their work because it is consistent with their values, as opposed to the expectation that they will be rewarded for their efforts" (MacKenzie, Podsakoff, and Rich 2001, p. 116). Commonly described leader behaviors include articulating a vision (Podsakoff et al. 1990), expressing high performance expectations (Podsakoff, MacKenzie, and Bommer 1996), providing intellectual stimulation (Bass 1985a), and displaying consideration for follower-specific needs (Bass 1985a; Hater and Bass 1988). Performance expectations may be less specific than in transactional leadership because the organization itself may be undergoing significant change as a result of a new vision presented by the leader. The desired outcome is higher performance by followers motivated to transcend their own self-interests and achieve the larger goals of the organization (Bass 1999; Burns 1978). Research has shown transformational leadership increases follower satisfaction (Bass, Avolio, and Atwater 1996), motivation (Masi and Cooke 2000), extra role performance (MacKenzie, Podsakoff, and Rich 2001; Podsakoff et al. 1990), quality of output for the organization (Hoyt and Blascovich 2003; Jung and Avolio 2000), and bottom-line financial results (Perry and Proctor 2000). The findings associated with transactional leadership have not been as strong (Bryman 1992). "[Transactional] leader behaviors have not accounted for as much of the variance in performance and other criterion variables as originally expected" (MacKenzie, Podsakoff, and Rich 2001, p. 116). Transactional behaviors are associated with greater stress (Bass 1999), increased quantity of output (Hoyt and Blascovich 2003), and enhanced follower expectations (Keller and Szilagyi 1976).

All leaders are transactional to some extent, and certain tasks lend themselves to use of a transactional style rather than a transformational style (Bass 1985b; 1999; Hater and Bass 1988; House and Aditya 1997; Howell and Avolio 1993; Hoyt and Blascovich 2003; Vandenberghe 1999). Research findings suggest leaders demonstrating more transformational behaviors are more effective than their transactional counterparts (Bass et al. 1987). This result is termed the augmentation effect of transformational leadership (Bass and Avolio 1993; Waldman, Bass, and Yammarino 1990).

Supply Chain Leadership

In a supply chain context transformational SCL is proposed to occur in organizations intent on establishing long-term relationships with member organizations and achieving holistic goals that benefit all members. Transformational supply chain leaders are expected to reinforce these relationships by creating supply chain structures that make information available, encourage informal communications, decentralize decision-making activities, and promote the use of holistic rewards. Transactional SCL is proposed to be found in organizations preferring short-term, arms-length relationships with member organizations and focused primarily on the achievement of their own firm-centered goals. Transactional supply chain leaders are expected to create supply chain structures that limit information sharing, promote formal communications, centralize decision-making authority, and use firm-specific rewards. The rationale for these classifications is developed in detail in Chapter 2.

Strategy - Structure - Performance Theory

Organizations use strategy to differentiate their offerings in the marketplace and create a competitive advantage (Porter 1985; 1980). Strategy is "a pattern or stream of major and minor decisions about an organization's possible future domains" (Miles and Snow 1978, p. 7), and represents the roadmap the firm follows in the quest for competitive advantage. Competition is dynamic and any competitive advantage gained as a result of a successful strategy is only temporary (Day and Reibstein 1997) requiring that strategies be updated over time to remain effective (Hunt and Morgan 1995).

Strategy alone does not guarantee a successful result. Firms must develop mechanisms for realizing strategic plans, and this is accomplished through the creation of structure. Structure is "the design of the organization through which the enterprise is administered" (Chandler 1962, p 14). Structure may be manifested in many ways including formal organizational form represented by the degree of specialization, centralization, and formalization found throughout the organization, formal lines of authority, communication and information flows between departments and individuals,

the allocation of work into roles, techniques of coordination, methods of reward and punishment, and organizational policies (Chandler 1962; Child 1972; Dalton et al. 1980; Galbraith and Nathanson 1978; Miles and Snow 1978; Rumelt 1974). The alignment, or fit, between strategy and structure is a prerequisite for organizational success (Galbraith and Nathanson 1978; Miles and Snow 1978). Some minimal level of fit has been suggested as a baseline requirement for organizational survival (Miles and Snow 1984).

Chandler (1962) was the first to describe how companies develop specific organization structures as a result of the strategies they pursue. Rumelt (1974) augmented this view by linking performance outcomes to these strategy-structure combinations. Strategy and structure combinations that work well together, or "fit", have consistently been found to outperform poorer fitting combinations (Miles and Snow 1984; 1978). Performance may be influenced by factors outside the firm's control including market concentration, market growth, competitive intensity, changing customer requirements, governmental intervention in the form of public policy, health of the economy, and foreign market differences (Christensen and Montgomery 1981; Dalton et al. 1980; Galbraith and Kazanjian 1986; Khandwalla 1972; Miller 1988; 1987a; 1987b; Porter 1985; 1980). Internal factors other than strategy and structure may also influence performance outcomes. Acknowledgement of the effect of external and other internal forces on performance outcomes has further expanded SSP and led to the creation of structural contingency theory (Galunic and Eisenhardt 1994).

Structure and Performance in Supply Chains

The unit of analysis of SSP theory has been extended beyond the individual firm to include the multi-firm environment of modern supply chains (Bowersox, Closs, and Stank 1999). As firm boundaries blur because of closer supply chain relationships, structural elements are required that encompass all organizations in a supply chain (Chow, Henrikssen, and Heaver 1995). As with traditional SSP, the best structural outcome to support a supply chain strategy may be contingent on the influence of environmental variables outside the control of the supply chain leader such as changing customer requirements, competitive intensity, and the impact of government regulations. In a supply chain context, structural elements have been described as a means of ensuring tighter integration between supply chain members (Lambert, Cooper, and Pagh 1998). Poor integration may result in the failure of supply chain member working relationships and lead to reduced performance (Bowersox, Closs, and Stank 1999; Chow, Henrikssen, and Heaver 1995; Mollenkopf, Gibson, and Ozanne 2000).

The existence of aligned supply chain strategies and structural elements has been linked to improved performance in supply chains (Rodrigues, Stank, and Lynch 2004; Stank and Traichal 1998). Supply chain performance is a complex concept that spans financial, operational, and customer service criteria (Brewer and Speh 2000). Excellent performance cannot be determined on a single dimension such as low cost because other dimensions, such as customer service, may be adversely affected by attempts to optimize a single dimension. If customers are lost as a result, then high performance on a single dimension may cause irreparable damage to the supply chain's reputation and limit future growth opportunities.

Another concern surrounding supply chain performance measurement is that most research has attempted to measure performance for a single firm. Optimizing a single firm's performance may result in harming the performance of other supply chain members. Holistic performance measures are necessary to ensure fairness in supply chain performance measurement and encourage member firms to actively participate in programs aimed at enhancing supply chain results (Holmberg 2000). Brewer and Speh (2000) suggest the balanced scorecard as an approach to performance measurement that may overcome the problem of multi-dimensional complexity. Economic value added (EVA) throughout the supply chain is another method that measures end-to-end performance of the supply chain and between-member dyadic performance (Lambert and Pohlen 2001). No consensus exists on a universally accepted supply chain performance measurement technique.

Gaps in Existing Knowledge

The first journal articles describing "supply chains" appeared about 20 years ago (Bowersox, Carter, and Monczka 1985; Jones and Riley 1985). Since that time research in the discipline has evolved from primarily descriptive of supply chain processes and inter-organizational linkages (for example see Cooper, Lambert, and Pagh 1997; Croxton, Garcia-Dastugue, and Lambert 2001) to a more strategic view of supply chain management (SCM) as a way to achieve competitive advantage (Bowersox, Closs, and Cooper 2002; Bowersox, Closs, and Stank 1999; Christopher 1992; 2005; Lambert, Cooper, and Pagh 1998; Mentzer 2004; 2001). The rush to establish the strategic importance of SCM may have caused researchers to skip a step. Design and implementation of the cross-organizational, collaborative programs that define SCM requires a driving force. An organization must step to the front and assume leadership of SCM initiatives. Thus, SCL is a necessary antecedent of SCM, although no theory has been proposed to explain and predict SCL phenomena. This section describes five knowledge gaps associated with SCL which will be used to develop the research questions that guide this dissertation.

SCL is a Misunderstood Concept

SCL has frequently been a label applied to firms *after* assuming a leadership role, typically as a result of their differential power to influence the actions of other organizations in the supply chain. Other uses of SCL, such as a firm that is a top performer (Harrison and New 2002), a source of best practices (Anon 2005) or a thought leader (Fawcett and Magnan 2004) place the term in a very different context. This study proposes SCL occurs within the multi-organization context of a supply chain and is associated with the organization capable of exerting the greatest influence over other supply chain member organizations. As no definition consistent with this view of SCL exists in the literature, a need exists to distinguish supply chain leader organizations that take a leadership role in supply chains from other uses of the term. This is gap 1.

Establishing the Critical Role of SCF Organizations

Followership is a largely overlooked concept (Chaleff 1995; Kelley 1992) that is essentially unheard of in the logistics and supply chain related disciplines. The omission of followership from the supply chain literature appears to be a significant oversight considering the importance of collaboration to the success of SCM (Mentzer 2004; Skjoett-Larson, Thernoe, and Andresen 2003; Stank, Keller, and Daugherty 2001). While collaborative efforts bring organizations together around a mutually held goal, the burden of initiating collaboration between organizations requires leadership. Arguably the supply chain leader is the driving force behind these initiatives in most cases. Leadership is not a stand-alone concept, and it cannot be conceived without including the balancing concept of followership (Hollander 1993). Since most organizations in supply chains do not assume a leadership role, follower organizations must exist. Knowledge of supply chain followers, like supply chain leaders, is anecdotal. The unwritten assumption made in the logistics literature is follower organizations simply do as they are instructed by the leader organization. They are viewed similarly to followers in theories of leadership in which leaders hold all the power and followers have no choices available other than to do as the leader insists. Current theories of leadership have evolved into a relationship concept in which both leader and follower exert influence on the other (Grundstien-Amado 1999; Kouzes and Posner 1987; 2004).

This empowered view of followers is more appropriate for understanding supply chain inter-organizational relations. A supply chain follower organization will not pursue the direction of the supply chain leader without regard for its own interests -- i.e., a follower firm will not continue in a supply chain relationship that forces it to lose money or damage its reputation with customers simply because the leader desires a course of action that is contrary to the best interests of the follower. Unfortunately, the phenomenon of SCF has not been studied, and as with SCL, no definition of SCF has been proposed despite the important role played by supply chain follower organizations. Therefore, a definition of SCF is needed as a starting point. This is gap 2.

The Need to Confirm SSP in the Supply Chain Context

SSP theory has been suggested as an important strategic theory that is directly applicable to the supply chain environment (Bowersox, Closs, and Stank 1999; Chow, Henrikssen, and Heaver 1995; Defee and Stank 2005; Rodrigues, Stank, and Lynch 2004;

Stank, Davis, and Fugate 2005; Stock, Greis, and Kasarda 1999). Application of the theory in an inter-organizational context has been largely conceptual to this point. Only one empirical study uses an SSP framework to perform a limited test of an antecedent supply chain strategy (a relational strategy), linked to supply chain structure (integrated operations), with the measurement of performance consequences (Rodrigues, Stank, and Lynch 2004). The authors successfully establish the relevance of SSP in supply chains, but limit structural outcomes to a single broad integration construct and only measure performance from a firm-specific perspective. Continued empirical exploration is needed to confirm and extend SSP theory in a supply chain context.

Defee and Stank (2005) provide a conceptual outline of five supply chain structural outcomes including technology integration, communications, standards, decision making authority and rewards. Each of these structural outcomes represents a dimension of supply chain integration. Empirical testing of one or more of these structural dimensions provides a deeper level of understanding that may be viewed as closer to the tactical decision making required of supply chain managers. The need to expand on previous testing of supply chain structural elements represents gap 3.

Supply chain performance measurement is a problematic issue because of the difficulty of getting quantifiable performance results from multiple member organizations (Brewer and Speh 2000). Internal measures of operational performance have been used frequently in past research (Lambert and Pohlen 2001). True supply chain performance cannot be gauged unless a more holistic set of measures is used (Holmberg 2000). Hence, gap 4 is the need for testing of holistic measures of supply chain performance.

The Need for Theory to Explain Supply Chain Phenomena

There is a need for rigorous theory that assists in the explanation and prediction of supply chain phenomena (Mentzer and Kahn 1995; Mentzer, Min, and Bobbitt 2004). One approach to theory development is to utilize theories developed in other disciplines (Stock 1996). Transformational leadership theory is a widely recognized theory in the social sciences (Bass 1990) that has not been applied in a supply chain context. Transformational leadership has been examined exclusively as a managerial level concept to date, but previous research into related concepts such as trust (Doney and Cannon 1997) suggests the theory can be applied at the organization level.

Transformational leadership theory posits all leaders use transactional behaviors at times, but the most effective leaders employ more transformational behaviors (Hater and Bass 1988). Thus, leaders should not be perceived as either transactional or transformational, rather leaders can be categorized as more transactional or more transformational based upon their set of behaviors. This set of behaviors represents the leadership style portrayed by the leader. Transactional versus transformational leadership styles can also be applied to organizations found in supply chains, and should be measurable based upon the characteristics of each member's supply chain relationships.

The lack of solid definitional footing around the concept of SCL antecedes the fact that no theory exists to explain leadership in supply chains. At best researchers know how to describe a supply chain leader but are limited in their ability to make any important theoretical predictions of SCL and its consequences. Gap 5 is the need for an empirically testable theory of SCL. Figure 1.1 presents a visual portrayal of the knowledge gaps that will be explored in this dissertation.



Figure 1.1: Supply Chain Knowledge Gaps

STATEMENT OF PURPOSE

SCL has been inconsistently defined, and the mirrored concept of SCF is not found at all in the literature. This may partially explain why no theory of SCL exists that can be used to explain and predict supply chain performance. This is an issue of great importance to the discipline because SCL is a necessary precondition for the implementation of SCM, and thus is also a prerequisite for firms striving to create a competitive advantage through enhanced supply chain performance. The primary purpose of this dissertation is to develop and test a theory of SCL. The proposed theory fills a significant gap in the body of knowledge and serves to clarify the SCL concept and introduce the concept of SCF to the discipline. The investigation also serves several secondary purposes.

First, because existing definitions are inadequate, a clarified definition of SCL will be developed in conjunction with a review of the leadership literature. The clarified definition benefits the discipline by precisely describing the concept and elevates its importance by placing it in the context of workable theory. SCF will also be defined to allow for common interpretation and to completely describe the domain of SCL theory.

Second, a practical application and test of SSP in a supply chain theoretical context has been called for on many occasions (Bowersox, Closs, and Stank 1999; Chow, Henrikssen, and Heaver 1995; Rodrigues, Stank, and Lynch 2004; Stank and Traichal 1998; Stock, Greis, and Kasarda 1999) and holds the potential to enhance our understanding of supply chains. Previous empirical tests have been limited in scope and a more comprehensive test of SSP theory is needed (Rodrigues, Stank, and Lynch 2004).

This dissertation will provide an expanded test of structural dimensions and further test the structure-performance link by incorporating end-to-end performance measures.

Third, new insights become available to logistics researchers by utilizing theories developed in other disciplines (Stock 1996). The use of transformational leadership and SSP are in line with this recommendation. Supply chain research is a cross-disciplinary field, and any theory attempting to explain supply chain outcomes must be robust enough to deal with the complexity of the phenomenon. Transformational leadership and SSP are drawn from extensive research pools and have attained paradigmatic status in their own disciplines (Bass 1985a; Galunic and Eisenhardt 1994).

Fourth, a field of research may underachieve if it is conducted within a narrow methodological domain (Dunn, Seaker, and Waller 1994; Sullivan 1998), while the use of differing methods of investigation provide for new understandings to be gained (McGrath 1982; McGrath, Martin, and Kula 1982). Logistics and supply chain research has been dominated by quantitative methods, specifically analysis of survey data that has increasingly been plagued by problems of very low response rates, over-sampling of the same response base, and reduced statistical power associated with small sample sizes. Understanding of logistics and supply chain phenomena can be enhanced through the use of methods that differ from those used in the past. This dissertation will use an experimental design approach to investigate SCL. Experimentation is a methodology seldom found in logistics research.

Research Questions

The gaps identified in the body of knowledge and echoed in the statement of purpose highlight the opportunities for research sought by this dissertation. Leadership and followership styles identified in the questions listed below are developed in greater detail in Chapter 2. The transformational-transactional view of leadership is utilized to describe the SCL and SCF styles exhibited by supply chain member organizations. SSP provides the theoretical framework to identify supply chain outcomes. The following research questions guide the investigation:

- 1. How should leadership be defined in the inter-organizational context of supply chains?
- 2. How should followership be defined in the inter-organizational context of supply chains?
- 3. What leadership styles can be attributed to supply chain leader organizations as viewed through the lens of transformational leadership theory? What followership styles can be attributed to supply chain follower organizations as viewed through the lens of transformational leadership theory? What attributes describe SCL and SCF styles?
- 4. Do supply chain leader organizations possessing differing leadership styles develop supply chains with different structural configurations? Are structural configurations influenced by the followership styles of member organizations?
- 5. Do supply chain leader organizations possessing differing leadership styles develop supply chains with different levels of performance at the overall supply chain level? Is holistic supply chain performance affected by the followership styles of member organizations?

Potential Contributions of This Research

The development of theory is a central goal of scientific endeavor (Kerlinger and Lee 2000), and this dissertation supports that goal in multiple ways. First, a new theory of SCL is proposed. The theoretical model described in Chapter 2 is built upon more precise definitions of SCL and SCF than exist in the literature currently. Inclusion of SCF in the theory meets an important requirement of theory development -- that theories must accurately describe the domain of relevance (Spender 1979). A theory of SCL that

excludes SCF does not meet that standard. Of additional importance is the recurring call for theory needed in the logistics and supply chain fields (Mentzer, Min, and Bobbitt 2004), and the theory developed in this proposal addresses that need. The proposed definitions of SCL and SCF provide a means for greater understanding of the concepts.

The theory of SCL proposed in this dissertation is built using widely researched and well-respected theories from the leadership and strategic management disciplines. This investigation marks the first known attempt to leverage transformational leadership theory in the supply chain environment. A potential contribution returned to the leadership discipline is the elevation of transformational leadership from the traditionally conceived managerial level to organizational level leadership in supply chains.

To be useful theory must be testable (Hunt 1991), and the proposed theory of SCL will be tested using an experimental research design. Experimental design is a core research method used throughout the social sciences. Empirical testing of SSP in a supply chain context is extended by this dissertation. The empirical limitations of earlier research in the area are addressed by inclusion of the multiple structural elements considered and the measurement of holistic performance.

Managers will also benefit from this research. By providing a framework through which to view SCL as either transformational or transactional, managers may gain a greater understanding of the nature of the relationships in which their companies are involved today. This understanding may provide managers the information necessary to make "stay or go" decisions concerning existing supply chain relationships. For example, firms wishing to deal transactionally with their partners may choose to reassess relationships with transformational organizations. The reverse is also true. Also, because performance is described as a consequence of SSP and SCL, managers may use the proposed theory to diagnose performance problems in their own supply chains. These problems may arise from mis-matched SCL and SCF styles or structural elements that do not properly align between members. Understanding of the roots of performance problems allows practitioners to take corrective actions immediately.

DISSERTATION ORGANIZATION

This dissertation is organized into five chapters. Chapter 1 is the introduction and provides an overview of the topic area and rationale for studying the phenomenon of supply chain leadership. Transformational leadership theory and SSP theory are established as the theoretical foundation of the research. This chapter highlights gaps in existing knowledge, the statement of purpose, key research questions, potential contributions of the study, and outlines the organization of the dissertation.

Chapter 2 provides an in-depth review of the relevant leadership, followership, and supply chain structure and performance literatures. This background information provides the foundation used to build the theory for this dissertation. Research hypotheses associated with the theoretical model are presented. Chapter 3 describes the research methodology used to test the proposed model and associated hypotheses. This chapter explains the research design and justification for the design choice, sample selection, measure development and purification, data collection method, and data analysis procedures. Chapter 4 presents the empirical supply chain leadership article developed based on the analysis of results from this research. Chapter 5 presents a conceptual article of supply chain followership developed from this research.

CHAPTER 2 – BUILDING THE THEORY

In the logistics and supply chain disciplines there is a continuing need for theory to explain the fast-evolving domain (Mentzer, Min, and Bobbitt 2004; Stock 2002). Developing supply chain theory is especially challenging because inter-organizational phenomena are inherently complex and dynamic (Levy 1995; Parkhe 1993), making them difficult to observe and measure. Recent supply chain trends suggest complexity is increasing. For example, many supply chains are driven by increasing forces of globalization (Mentzer 2001) stretching supply chains across borders and making them more susceptible to foreign market uncertainty (Rivoli and Salorio 1996), country risk (Aulakh and Kotabe 1997), and differences in national culture (Kogut and Singh 1988).

A topic that has received little attention in the discipline is supply chain leadership. This dissertation attempts to further understanding of this phenomenon through the development of a theory of supply chain leadership. Theory development is facilitated by the use of two broadly researched theories from other disciplines: transformational leadership theory and SSP theory. This chapter begins with a review of relevant literatures to provide important background on transformational leadership, followership, supply chain structure, and supply chain performance measures. The conceptual model of SCL is then introduced and supporting hypotheses are developed.

LEADERSHIP RESEARCH AND THEORY

Leadership has been a topic of considerable interest in social science disciplines including organizational behavior, psychology, political science, military science and strategic management (Bass 1990; House and Aditya 1997) with early studies published over 150 years ago (Carlyle 1841/1907; Galton 1869; Spencer 1884). While the study of leadership has a long history, it is not necessarily all that well understood.

"The term (leadership) connotes images of powerful dynamic persons who command victorious armies, direct corporate empires from atop gleaming skyscrapers, or shape the course of nations. Much of our conception of history is the story of military, political, religious, and social leaders. The exploits of brave and cleaver leaders are the essence of many legends and myths. The widespread fascination with leadership may be because it is such a mysterious process, as well as one that touches everyone's life" (Yukl 2001).

This section provides a literature review of the past and current thinking in the field of leadership and describes the evolution of research trends.

Roots of the Leadership Discipline

Leadership is considered by many to be a universal concept (Bass 1997). All known societies exhibit at least some form of leadership (Murdock 1967). The study of leadership has been an area of interest for thousands of years. Egyptian hieroglyphics written 5,000 years ago include references to "leadership," "leader" and "follower" (Bass 1990). Legendary leaders are described in the writings of ancient civilizations such as Greece, Iceland, and China. Leadership is closely linked to the development of civilized societies, and societal norms and myths have been created to justify the dominance of leaders and the deference of the followers (Paige 1977). Despite this ample history, the systematic study of leadership did not flourish until the 1930s (House and Aditya 1997).

Interest in the topic of leadership has accelerated in recent years. It is among the most covered subjects of both the popular and scholarly press. More than 2,000 books on the subject were published in 1999 alone (Brown 2003). Over 16,000 offerings are available for purchase under the topic of leadership at a large online bookseller
(www.amazon.com). In excess of 1.2 million postings on leadership are found through a popular search engine (www.scholar.google.com). Much of this prodigious volume of work should be classified as anecdotal (Maxwell 1998), experiential (Giuliani 2002; Slater 1999), retrospective (Phillips 1992), or pseudo-empirical (Covey 1990; 1989) rather than theoretically grounded. This does not imply a lack of scholarly studies -- empirical research abounds in leadership and social science journals. The recognized compendium of theoretical research in the field lists over 7,500 citations (Bass 1990).

Opinions differ concerning leadership's impact on organizational performance outcomes. On one hand, "leadership is often regarded as the single most critical factor in the success or failure of institutions" (Bass 1990, p. 8). In studies of executive succession, the effects of leadership have been found to explain as much as 45% of an organization's performance (Day and Lord 1988). On the other hand, attribution theory posits organizational outcomes are primarily determined by other factors, and leaders are simply credited with the results after the fact (Calder 1977). Thus, followers are conditioned to ascribe results caused by external events such as economic or social forces to the leader, as in romantic fiction (Meindl and Ehrlich 1987). The weight of empirical research has found leadership to be a contributing factor to organizational success and performance, and is associated with learning organizations (Senge 2001; Vera and Crossan 2004), innovative organizations (O'Regan, Ghobadian, and Sims 2006), organizations recovering from crisis (Heifetz 1994), and organizations viewing leadership as a strategic source of competitive advantage (Waldman et al. 2001).

A complication to the study of leadership is the lack of consensus around a definition for the domain of interest. The leadership literature has been called a

"veritable Tower of Babble" fueled by confusion between overlapping descriptions of managing and leading (Kent 2005, p. 1010). Consistent with this issue is the perspective suggesting the literature has been dominated by studies of management inappropriately described as leadership until recently (Phillips 1992). Additionally, the literature has been criticized for being too closely based on Western business culture, with the vast majority of empirical evidence originating in the United States (House and Aditya 1997).

Trends in the Study of Leadership

The study of leadership has evolved greatly since the early 1900s (Hunt 1999). Multiple theories of leadership have been suggested. The earliest theories lack predictive power, are generally leader-oriented, and do not consider followers to be an important part of the leadership process. Recent theories incorporate both leaders and followers in a relationship as a required condition for leadership behavior to take place. Several authors have developed taxonomies of leadership research that, when taken together, help organize the leadership landscape (Bass 1990; Heifetz 1994; House and Aditya 1997; Yukl 1998). A synthesis of their work is used to organize past research and identify overarching trends.

Leader-centric Theories of Leadership

Probably the first theory of leadership, and one that still resonates within American and Western European culture is *Great Man* theory (Heifetz 1994). This school of thought emerged during the 19th century and is based on the assumption that history is shaped by the actions of great men (Bass 1990). Carlyle's seminal work (1841/1907) crystallized this view in describing heroes throughout history. The essence

of great man theory is that leaders are endowed with unique qualities that allow them to capture the imagination of others (Bass 1990). Great man theory assumes *leaders are born* with their greatness. This thinking was reinforced by the line of inquiry into the hereditary background of royal rulers (Galton 1869; Woods 1913). Great man theory is not empirically testable *per se*. It provides a framework for assigning responsibility for historical events to the person or people in positions of authority at the time. The roots of trait theory can be found in the great man view as researchers have attempted to deconstruct great leaders of the past to identify personality or other characteristics as the source of their greatness (for example see Jenkins 1947; Smith and Krueger 1933). Bass (1990) suggests great man theory persists today in the examples of transformational leaders such as Winston Churchill, Martin Luther King, and General Norman Swartzkoff.

An opposing view was taken by *situationalists*. This view holds that the situational factors of the times determine who will emerge as a leader, rather than the greatness of the leader influencing the events of the day (Hemphill 1949; Spencer 1884). The leader emerges from the pack to take the reigns at a critical moment in time because of the unique skill set s/he possesses. The underlying assumption of this view is that *leadership ability resides in most or all members of a given group*, and the type of leadership that develops will surface as a result of the challenges faced by the group (Bogardus 1918). At a macro level, situational theory asserts that the events of the period call for the emergence of a leader with a specific set of talents that "fit" the moment. From a situationalist perspective, Washington, Jefferson, Madison, Franklin and other framers of the United States system of governance are seen as the best match for the times, rather than great men that rose above the crowd (Heifetz 1994).

The first systematic research into leadership focused on the universal personal characteristics, or *traits*, that differentiate leaders from non-leaders (House and Aditya 1997). The majority of this work was created in the 1930s and 1940s, and a wide variety of traits are explored under this research paradigm. Bass' (1990) meta-analysis of the period reveals several traits to be consistently associated with leadership, including intelligence, scholarship, dependability, social participation, and socioeconomic status. Other traits have been suggested that may consistently distinguish leaders from followers including physical energy (Simonton 1994), prosocial influence motivation (House and Baetz 1991; McClelland 1975), self-confidence (House 1977), achievement motivation (House, Spangler, and Woycke 1991), power motivation balanced with the moral exercise of power (McClelland 1985; 1975), and flexibility (Kenny and Hallmark 1992). The search for traits that can be used to distinguish leaders from non-leaders continues to be of great interest as antecedents to various leadership styles (for example, see Bono and Judge 2004 for an evaluation of personality traits examined in recent leadership studies).

The *behavioral* school of leadership was led by work emanating from Harvard (Bales 1954), Ohio State (Stogdill and Coons 1957), and the University of Michigan (Kahn and Katz 1953; Likert 1961). This research has been based primarily on the behaviors attributed to "leaders" found at middle and lower levels of organizations (House and Aditya 1997). These studies have been frequently criticized for lacking generalizability because of the supervisory nature of the subjects studied -- i.e., the person in charge is actively involved in *managing* the tasks of subordinates rather than leading a group of followers. The findings of this stream of research have also been questioned because many of the most widely used behavioral questionnaires lack validity

(Schriesheim, House, and Kerr 1976). A significant outcome of these studies is the classification of leader behaviors falling into one of two categories: task-oriented, and person-oriented. Task-oriented behaviors have subsequently been re-classified as managerial behaviors that arguably fall outside the domain of leadership (Kent 2005).

Stogdill (1948) called for a synthesized view considering the interaction of traits and situational issues experienced by the leader. This *contingency* theory of leadership is founded on the belief that the appropriate leadership style is dependent on the variables presented by a particular situation (Heifetz 1994). This view has been supported by studies that posit traits need not be stable across long periods of time, and can be used to predict leader behavior under a sub-set of conditions rather than across all possible situations (Schneider 1983). Contingency theory was later extended beyond very shortterm "snapshot" views of behavior, to include the proposition that individual personality dispositions may be stable over long periods of time. These stable traits may be used to predict behavior in the short-term which results in long-term consequences (House, Shane, and Herold 1996). The contingency view remains popular, and as leadership has become ever more established as a *relationship* concept symbolized by the interaction between leaders and followers (Kouzes and Posner 1990; 2004), this view has expanded to include explicit follower characteristics and goals (Bass 1990).

Relationship-oriented Theories of Leadership

One of the first theories expanding the domain of leadership to include leaders and followers in a two-way relationship is *path-goal theory* (House 1971; House and Mitchell 1974). The theory was originally developed as a situational, or context-specific, theory meant to describe the dyadic relationship between supervisors and subordinates (House and Aditya 1997). Path-goal theory suggests that effective leaders work to ensure followers understand the task at hand, and reduce roadblocks that may otherwise get in the way of followers' ability to succeed at the task (House 1971; Schriesheim and Neider 1996). The theory incorporates the triad of leader behaviors, follower characteristics, and environmental contextual elements into a broadened model of leadership (House and Mitchell 1974). The effective leader must weigh the situation defined by follower and environmental characteristics and adjust his/her behavior accordingly.

Findings of path-goal theory were inconsistent (Schriesheim and Neider 1996; Schriesheim et al. 2006), leading to a re-conceptualized path-goal theory that expands the relationship concept by linking leaders to entire work groups (House 1996). Leaders may exhibit a similar pattern of behaviors toward an entire group of followers in some contexts, while exhibiting different behaviors toward individual followers at other times. The theory predicts leadership behavior affects followers based upon each follower's perception of the leader's behaviors. The work group the follower belongs to will exert less influence (House 1996), making the effectiveness of follower behavior unique to each follower. This individual-level effect of leader behaviors on follower performance and satisfaction has been confirmed empirically (Schriesheim et al. 2006).

Leader-follower relationship dynamics have most often been explained as a type of *social exchange* (Bass 1990). Under this theory, leaders and followers initiate a relationship through negotiation to decide what each party is willing to exchange (Hollander 1958; 1978). A typical social exchange in the workplace may include the leader offering guidance concerning the approach the follower should take to successfully complete a task. The follower responds by agreeing to complete the task in line with the

leader's wishes. The behaviors of both leader and follower are then reinforced by either rewarding satisfactory behavior or punishing unsatisfactory behavior. This dynamic leader-follower exchange view, also called the *transactional leadership* view, formally incorporates the relationship between leader and follower as a baseline requirement for leadership (Bass 1990; Heifetz 1994).

Transactional leadership theory is easily distinguished from earlier leader-centric theories by the acknowledgement of the leader-follower relationship. Transactional theory is based on reciprocity between the leader and followers, and assumes both parties influence the other's behavior (Heifetz 1994; Hollander 1978; Kouzes and Posner 1990). Under transactional leadership both leader and follower obtain something of value (Humphreys and Einstein 2003). Leader control of the exchange is maintained through contingent reward of a task completed acceptably or contingent punishment following failed tasks (Bass 1985a). Management-by-exception may be used by the leader to simplify performance monitoring requirements. The leader-follower relationship does not extend beyond the boundaries of the exchange (Burns 1978).

Leader-member exchange theory (LMX) attempts to explain the reciprocal influence of leaders and followers on the other party (Graen 1976). The results of such a relationship are expected to be generally positive, including higher follower performance, citizenship behavior, satisfaction and commitment, and lower turnover (House and Aditya 1997). The theory focuses on relationships rather than the traits or behaviors of either the leader or follower(s). Leaders convey role expectation onto followers, and as in transactional exchange leaders provide rewards to followers that meet expectations. However, followers do not passively accept the roles laid out for them, and may choose to embrace, reject or re-negotiate the role as originally prescribed by the leader (Wang et al. 2005). High quality LMX is distinguished from basic transactional exchange by several key characteristics developed via the relationship including: trust, respect, mutual obligation, openness, mutual loyalty, mutual influence, and follower latitude to act (Graen 1976; Graen and Uhl-Bien 1995). Follower respect and loyalty to the leader grow as a result of favorable treatment by the leader, with the result seen as excellent task performance and effort. Unfortunately, LMX has not shown a consistent association with performance (House and Aditya 1997).

For a time, leadership theory appears to have hit a theoretical wall. One noted author summed up by stating "the concept of leadership has outlived its usefulness. Hence, I propose we abandon leadership in favor of some other more fruitful way of cutting up the theoretical pie" (Minor 1975). Following this "gloom and doom" period of leadership, a paradigm shift occurred in the 1970s with the conceptualization of transformational leadership (Hunt 1999). Transformational leadership is one of several neocharismatic theories of leadership. The category also includes charismatic leadership theory (House 1977), visionary leadership theory (Bennis and Nanus 1985), and valuebased leadership theory (House, Shane, and Herold 1996). This new theory of leadership has become the dominant paradigm in leadership research (Bass 1999). The essence of transformational leadership is found in the leader's ability to transform the hearts and minds of followers to higher levels of motivation and performance than would be expected without the leader's influence (Perry 2000). The payoff emerging from the transformational paradigm is that transformational leaders are more effective than their transactional counterparts -- transformational leaders are considered the "real movers and

shakers of the world" (Bass 1990, p. 23). Transformational leadership is covered in greater detail in a later section of this chapter.

Defining Leadership

The diversity of research produced from the many theories of leadership put forward places a significant limitation on future investigations because no agreement exists concerning the definition of leadership. The definitions developed in the literature tend to be linked to each author's research stream rather than shared across competing views (Yukl 1998). A generally held conclusion is that there are practically as many definitions of leadership as there are authors who have attempted to define the concept (Stogdill 1974). Thus, leadership research suffers from a lack of precision in defining the phenomenon (Janda 1960). The issue is further complicated by a set of imprecise terms used in association with, or overlapping the concept of leadership (Kent 2005). For example, power, authority, management, administration, control and supervision have each been used to describe leadership (Yukl 2001).

The confusion found in the literature concerning the many definitions of leadership represents a significant gap in our understanding. A clear definition of leadership is needed. It must be comprehensive yet general enough to cross the boundaries of multiple streams of research. Also, the concept of leadership needs to be clearly delineated from the related concept of management. This section is intended to address these gaps. First, reasons for the many incompatible definitions of leadership are presented. Next, several closely related concepts are explained. Then, critical elements of the definition of leadership used in this dissertation are identified.

Many Different Definitions of Leadership

Definitions of leadership abound. This is true for three primary reasons. First, the study of leadership extends across many separate disciplines including psychology, sociology, political science, military science, and business. The phenomena of interest, and the level of analysis found in these disciples are not always consistent, and therefore researchers develop definitions that reflect the existing paradigms in each field. Studies of leadership in military and political science are largely based on the leader possessing legitimate authority because of his/her position of superiority over a group. Additionally, these disciplines assume the relationship is between the leader and an extended group of many followers the leader can never form a direct relationship with. Studies of organizational behavior found in psychology and business often define the leader based on criteria other than legitimacy. When leadership is not limited to those possessing legitimate authority, leadership is more likely to be described as falling to a member of the group other than the person at the top of the organization.

Second, the most significant research streams conceive of leadership as emanating from vastly differing sources. As such, the different streams tend to place importance on different elements. For example, trait-based theory considers leadership to be created from a set of characteristics within the leader him/herself. The behavioral school finds leadership in the actions consistently displayed by the leader. Each view focuses in on a conceptualization of leadership as something different. This distinction is also seen in the very different perspective of leader-centric theories and relationship-oriented theories of leadership. A perspective that assumes the role of the leader is to impose his/her world view on a group of followers (leader-centric) is very different from one that considers leadership a result of leader-follower co-influence (relationship-oriented).

Third, it has been clearly stated that a shortcoming of theory development in leadership is the failure of researchers to build on the efforts of past authors (Yukl 2001). Because leadership researchers have tended to continually "re-design the wheel" to fit their own needs, it should not be surprising that new definitions of leadership put forward are aligned more with the latest theory than with a consistent view of the domain.

Concepts tied to Leadership

Several terms closely related to leadership have been used interchangeably in the leadership literature. Each must be clearly defined to ensure the adopted definition of leadership is precise and can be easily understood and applied. These include the concepts of power, power bases, influence, influence strategies, authority and control. Each of these terms is defined in this section.

Power. Power has been defined as "potential influence" (French and Raven 1959, p. 152), and as "the amount of resistance on the part of B (the target) which can be potentially overcome by A (the agent)" (Emerson 1962, p. 32). Power is not to be considered an attribute of the agent, but rather is found in the social relationship between the leader and follower, and implicitly in the follower's dependence on the leader (Emerson 1962). In a leadership context the existence of power provides a way to distinguish leader from followers.

Bases of Power. Power is described as residing in six distinct power bases (French and Raven 1959; Raven 1965). Bases of power are "those characteristics of a

person that give him or her the ability to influence others" (Venkatesh, Kohli, and

Zaltman 1995, p. 74). The sources of power most frequently described are defined as:

- *Legitimate power*: the extent to which the follower is obliged to comply with the leader's request because of organizational norms and/or the leader's position of authority.
- *Reward power*: the ability of the leader to control the distribution of tangible and intangible benefits desired by the follower (or the ability to withhold punishment).
- *Coercive power*: the ability of the leader to mete out tangible or intangible punishments which followers wish to avoid (or the ability to withhold rewards).
- *Referent power*: the follower's attraction toward, or desire to emulate or "be like" the leader.
- *Expert power*: follower compliance is rooted in the belief the leader possesses special knowledge and/or expertise.
- *Information power*: the extent to which the leader controls access to relevant information important to the follower's success (adapted from French and Raven 1959; Raven 1965; Venkatesh, Kohli, and Zaltman 1995; Yukl 1981).

Although reward and coercive power are presented as separate bases of power, the two concepts have a high degree of overlap (French and Raven 1959). Is withholding a reward actually a punishment? Is withholding a punishment actually a reward? In fact, reward and coercive power may be better represented as a single dimension (Kohli 1989). Researchers have tended to describe and test these two power bases separately (Venkatesh, Kohli, and Zaltman 1995; Yukl 1981), so the distinction is maintained here. Expert and information power are also closely related concepts. Many descriptions in the literature exclude information power for that reason. Maintaining the distinction between these sources of power may be useful because expertise possessed by an individual is different from that individual's ability to control access to information. The leader may possess a certain expertise which s/he may share (expert power) or not (information power). Actual expertise is not necessary for expert power to exist. Expert power is granted the leader because the follower *believes* the leader possess some special knowledge. Alternatively, the leader may wield control over some type of information. By acting as an information gatekeeper the leader exerts information power. Thus, the distinction between these concepts is also maintained.

Influence. Explicit definitions of influence have been provided relatively infrequently in the literature, and have occasionally been confused with power (Kohli and Zaltman 1988). Yukl (1981) describes influence as *the effect of the actions of one party* (the leader) *on another party* (the follower). French and Ravin (1959) consider influence to be the resultant force on the target which has its source in the act of the agent. Influence must be measured in terms of the psychological change that takes place in the behavior, opinions, attitudes, goals and values of the target (French and Raven 1959; Raven 1965; Yukl 1989). Thus, the distinction between power and influence can be represented by power being the *potential* for a change to occur, and influence being manifested as the *actual act* causing the change. Using this description it is evident that *both* power and influence are necessary to provide a complete description of leadership.

Influence Strategies. Leader characteristics, including power, may determine the type of influence strategies that are most effective in a given situation (Frazier and Summers 1986; Venkatesh, Kohli, and Zaltman 1995). Yukl (1981) identifies a typology of 11 influence strategies available to leaders. Venketesh, Kohli and Zaltman (1995) empirically test six influence strategies. Table 2.1 summarizes the influence strategies considered in this study. The strategies are categorized as either an extension of the power bases (power-linked), or as not relying on one of the power sources (non power-

Form of Influence	Description	Power Base				
Power-linked strategies						
Legitimate request / Legalistic plea	Leader uses formal authority vested in position or contractual agreement, or informal authority based on group norms to obtain follower compliance.	Legitimate power				
Instrumental compliance	Leader alters follower behavior on the basis of follower desire to achieve a desired outcome.	Reward power				
Coercion	Leader makes implicit or explicit threats as a means of eliciting a specific follower behavior.	Coercive power				
Personal identification	Follower chooses to imitate the behavior or develop attitudes similar to those of a greatly admired leader.	Referent power				
Recommendation	Leader suggests following a specific course of action is likely to be beneficial.	Expert power				
Information distortion	Leader is in control over information needed by follower to perform his/her role effectively. Distortion may occur when information is presented selectively or falsely.	Information power, may be combined with Coercive power				
Non Power-linked strategies						
Rational persuasion	Leader does not possess control over benefits and attempts to convince follower with logical arguments that the suggested course of action is the best approach available for the follower to achieve his/her objectives.	NA				
Rational faith	Leader does not possess control over benefits, but obtains compliance because follower is willing to act out of faith in the expertise and credibility of the leader.	NA, however may be linked to Expert power				
Inspirational appeal	Leader induces follower to do something because it is a necessary expression of his/her values and ideals.	NA				
Situational engineering	Leader manipulates relevant aspects of the physical and social situation, thus constraining follower's range of choices.	NA				
Decision identification	Leader encourages follower to participate in the decision process to ensure ego involvement and enthusiastic support for the decision.	NA				

Table 2.1:	Influence	Strategies	Available	to Leaders
-------------------	-----------	-------------------	-----------	------------

Adapted from Yukl (1981); Venkatesh, Kohli and Zaltman (1995).

linked). Each strategy describes a leader action or behavior. Arguably the power-linked strategies represent a complete list of this category because each power base has been further manifested as an influence strategy. Other non power-linked strategies may exist that are not clearly described in the literature. The existence of non power-linked strategies suggests that leadership does not require an easily identified power base.

Authority. The concept of authority is often equated with leadership in everyday language (Heifetz 1994). Authority is defined as *the right of the leader to demand compliance based on organizational role or group norms* (Emerson 1962; Heifetz 1994; Jacobs 1970). Authority is generally associated with legitimate power.

Authority may be formal or informal. Formal authority is closely tied to the concept of organizational position power in which the superior -- e.g., boss, manager, supervisor, foreman -- is granted the ability to demand compliance from subordinates because of his/her higher ranking role in the organization (Yukl 1981). The manager-worker relationship is typically based, at least in part, on formal authority. Informal authority is developed when an individual is granted the ability to lead by other group members because of a shared norm or other characteristic deemed important by the group (Heifetz 1994). Informal authority is retained only so long as it continues to be offered by the group. Authority should not be confused with leadership, especially in the context of leadership developed in this dissertation. Formal authority is a facilitator of legitimate power. Informal authority may be more closely linked with referent or expert power.

Control. Control is often an implied, but desired outcome of leadership. This is especially true of the older, leader-centric leadership theories founded on the desire of the leader to exert control over followers. Unfortunately definitions of control appear to be

implied in the literature, rather than explicit. Dictionary definitions seem to fall into the trap of using power and influence interchangeably. For example, one definition is *to exercise authoritative or dominating influence over others* (www.dictionary.com). Another source substitutes power for influence in an otherwise identical definition (www.wordweb.com). This dissertation will adopt the first definition because influence has previously been defined as an action and power as potential. Leaders may use the power bases available to them to exert control over followers and manage conflict (Brown and Day 1981; Cadotte and Stern 1979; Etgar 1979; Gaski 1984; Gaski and Nevin 1985; Hunt and Nevin 1974). Control may be less important to current theories of leadership because emphasis has shifted to leader-follower pursuit of mutually-held goals (Tickle, Brownlee, and Nailon 2005). This tends to lessen the need for control by leaders as followers take more ownership of organization goals (Bass 1990) and express greater satisfaction with their leader (Bass 1999; Humphreys and Einstein 2003).

Each of the terms described above have been used in conjunction with leadership definitions and theories. The sampling of leadership definitions presented next shows how these distinct concepts have been used to describe the same phenomenon. The purpose of the following section is to identify the appropriate elements of a definition of leadership that will be adopted for this dissertation.

Creating a Broad-based Definition of Leadership

Traditionally, leadership has been defined as *a process of influencing individuals or groups in order to achieve group goals* (Hoyt and Blascovich 2003). These elements represent foundational properties of a definition of leadership. Unfortunately, available definitions diverge beyond the common elements of (a) influence processes, and (b) the

assumption that leadership is a group phenomenon (Yukl 2001). With that as a starting point, several definitions are considered as a basis for developing an adapted definition used in this dissertation. The definitions presented are selected because they clearly state consistently used elements of leadership found throughout the literature. Nine definitions of leadership are listed in Table 2.2.

Earlier definitions of leadership, as characterized by the Hemphill and Coons (1957) definition, are leader-centric, and based on an assumption that followers' behavior is shaped by a more knowledgeable leader (Kouzes and Posner 1990; Shamir 1999). The concepts of *power* and *authority* are evident in Janda's (1960) definition, and are central to much leadership research. Specifically, bases of power (French and Raven 1959) and power-dependence theory (Emerson 1962) have been extensively used to explain leader-follower behavior. Jacob's (1970) definition can be simplified as *influencing others without authority* and brings into question the requirement that leadership is vested in a position of superior authority. This definition enlarges the domain of leadership, and appears to be in rhythm with the drive to develop leaders through executive education programs found in many organizations in recent years (Fuller 2001).

The belief that leadership may result in organizational *performance beyond expectations* is provided by Katz and Kahn (1978). This thinking is aligned with the neocharismatic, or *new school* of leadership first developed in the late 1970s (Burns 1978; House 1977). A commonly described characteristic of leaders is their ability to develop and articulate a *vision* that serves as a rallying point for the organization (Richards and Engle 1986). Heifetz (1994) describes effective versus ineffective leaders and concludes the ability to project a vision is essential for leader effectiveness.

Definition	Source
The behavior of an individual when he is directing the activities of a group toward a <i>shared goal</i> .	Hemphill and Coons (1957), p. 7
A particular type of <i>power relationship</i> characterized by a group member's perception that another group member has <i>the right to prescribe behavior</i> patterns for the former regarding his activity as a group member.	Janda (1960), p. 358
An interaction between persons in which one presents information of a sort and in such a manner that the other becomes convinced that his outcomes (benefits/costs ratio) will be improved if he behaves in the manner suggested or desired.	Jacobs (1970), p. 232
<i>The influential increment over and above mechanical compliance</i> with the routine directives of the organization.	Katz and Kuhn (1978), p. 528
Articulating <i>visions</i> , embodying values, and creating the environment within which things can be accomplished.	Richards and Engle (1986), p. 206
The ability to step outside the culture to <i>start evolutionary change</i> processes that are more adaptive.	Schein (1992), p. 2
A process of <i>disproportionate social influence</i> in which the party that exerts greater influence on others (the leader) can be identified.	Shamir (1999), p. 51
A process of social influence through which an individual enlists and mobilizes the aid of others in the <i>attainment of a collective goal</i> .	Hogg, Martin, and Weeden (2003), p. 20
A reciprocal process that occurs between peoplea relationship between those who aspire to lead and those who choose to follow.	Kouzes and Posner (2004), p. 2

Table 2.2: Example Definitions of Leadership

Facilitating *change* is a concept highlighted by Schein (1992). Committment to a vision and initiating change are concepts central to transformational leadership theory. Shamir's (1999) definition adds the often unstated element that *the leader is identifiable* and different from followers because of his/her greater influence. Both old school (Hemphill and Coons 1957) and new school (Hogg, Martin, and Weeden 2003) definitions describe the need for leaders and followers to target *shared goals*. Finally, Kouzes and Posner (2004) present leadership as a *relational process* that requires the commitment of both leaders and followers.

The essential criteria of a workable definition of leadership are developed from a synthesis of the material outlined above. The criteria are summarized in Table 2.3. These elements are considered essential to the concept of leadership put forward in this dissertation for four reasons.

First, leadership is universally believed to be an influence process (#1) (Yukl 2001). This is true of the one-way influence (Leader \rightarrow Follower) described in older theories of leadership and the two-way influence processes (Leader $\leftarrow \rightarrow$ Follower) proposed by more recent relationship-oriented theories.

Second, leadership cannot exist unless the leader can be identified and differentiated from the group on some basis (#2). Generally, the leader is easily distinguished from followers because the leader possesses some base of power (#3). The leader may gain a leadership mandate because s/he occupies a position of authority, or alternatively because of some other reason that proves attractive to followers (#4).

Influence	Identifiable	Vision	Relational	
~				1. Leader exerts influence over others.
	~			2. Leader can be identified separately from followers.
	~			3. Leader influence is built upon some identifiable source of power.
	~			4. Leader may or may not occupy a position of authority.
		✓		5. Leader creates and articulates a vision.
		✓		6. Leader identifies the need to change and champions change initiatives.
			✓	7. Leaders and followers are involved in a relationship where each may exert influence over the other.
			~	8. Leader and followers find a common interest in achieving a shared goal.
			~	9. Followers may be willing to increase their effort to perform at a higher level because of their identification with the vision and shared goals.

Table 2.3: Elements of a Conceptual Definition of Leadership

Third, because leaders cannot always rely on positional authority or legitimacy, the ability to create and articulate a vision becomes more important (#5). Without the mandate to lead provided by position in the organization the leader must entice the group to enthusiastically support the effort being led. The vision motivates followers by spelling out a future that has desirable consequences. The vision may also result from the need for change identified by the leader. In this way the vision provides a mechanism for communicating the need for change consistently throughout the organization (#6).

Fourth, leaders and followers inhabit a shared space in the domain of leadership. Both participants exert influence over each other (Grundstien-Amado 1999), and one cannot exist without the participation of the other (Kouzes and Posner 1987). The simplest way to address this is to define the phenomenon as occurring within the confines of a relationship (#7). Followers establish a common sense of purpose with the leader when the vision is accepted or refined in accordance with their own values. This is reflected through goals shared by leader and followers (#8). Performance of the group is expected to increase when followers participate because they believe in the cause, rather than when they are just fulfilling their side of an agreed upon exchange (Bass 1999). Improved performance is caused by the extra effort put forward by followers because they are committed to the vision and share a set of goals with the leader (#9).

Hundreds of definitions of leadership exist in the literature. As expected, no definition is found that meets all of the essential criteria produced from the synthesis of leadership definitions. However, the following passage captures each of the criteria necessary to create a workable definition, and will therefore become the definition of leadership adopted in this paper:

"Leadership is a relational concept that symbolizes the dynamic interaction between the leader and the followers or the people the leader aspires to lead. The leader's aim is to increase the followers' compliance with and commitment to the organization's vision. Vision is a shared image of a desirable future, which the leader articulates and then communicates to the followers. The vision should be shaped and defined by the leader and the followers, yet the leader has to push it forward and communicate it clearly and decisively so that followers will internalize it and fulfill it" (Grundstien-Amado 1999, p. 250).

Summary of the Review of Leadership

The leadership literature spans the social science disciplines and attempts to explain the phenomenon of leadership from many different perspectives (Bass 1990). The many theories proposed over the past century and a half can be placed into two categories. Leader-centric theories that ascribe special talents to the leader and assume his/her ability to influence followers is unquestioned. These theories enjoyed wide-spread popularity through the mid-twentieth century. Relationship-oriented theories consider leaders and followers as co-contributors to leader, and ultimately, organizational success. Relational theories remain in vogue today, and transformational leadership is the current paradigm in the field (Bass 1999; Bono and Judge 2004; Hunt 1999).

A set of essential criteria was synthesized in this chapter from a sub-set of the many definitions of leadership found in the literature to guide the development of a working definition of leadership used in this dissertation. This definition is further clarified through precise description of several related concepts that have frequently been misapplied in the literature: power, power bases, influence, influence strategies, authority, and control.

THE TRANSFORMATIONAL LEADERSHIP PARADIGM

Like the general study of leadership, transformational leadership concepts can be traced back thousands of years (Humphreys and Einstein 2003) but have only recently been compiled into a cohesive theory. Prior to the identification of transformational leadership theory the leader's role was anticipated to be limited to a series of give-and-take exchanges with followers. This social exchange view of leadership was popular through the late 1970s (Hollander 1978). The leadership-as-exchange view has been overtaken by the transformational paradigm proposed by Burns (1978) and developed by Bass and others (Avolio, Waldman, and Einstein 1988; Bass 1985a; Bass and Avolio 1993; Bass et al. 1987; Hater and Bass 1988; Jung and Avolio 2000; Podsakoff et al. 1990). The essence of transformational leadership is found in the leader's ability to transform the hearts and minds of followers to higher levels of motivation and performance than would be expected without the leader's influence (Perry 2000).

Foundations of Transformational Leadership

Burn's (1978) work forms the foundation of transformational leadership theory, and juxtaposes transformational leadership on a continuum opposite transactional leadership. While transactional leaders enter into an exchange relationship with followers as a way of resolving the needs of both actors, Burns believes transformational leaders go further by seeking to arouse and satisfy higher level needs as defined by Maslow's (1954) hierarchy. This appeal to higher-level, non-immediate needs allows the leader to engage the full person of the follower. The transformational leader is able to raise the consciousness of the follower to see greater possibilities in the future. Simply put, the leader asks the follower to consider two changes: (a) rise above their own interests for the good of the group, and (b) consider their own longer-term needs to develop rather than only focusing on immediate needs. The expanded vision of the future provided by the leader motivates followers to lift their level of effort in order to achieve these mutually-held, elevated goal(s). Followers become self-directing and selfreinforcing, and as they take on greater responsibilities they themselves become leaders. Burns also held the distinction that a leader's actions were only transformational if society benefited as a result. Thus, Hitler, Stalin, and Jim Jones are not considered transformational leaders by Burns, but Gandhi and Martin Luther King are.

Bass (1985a) expanded on Burns definition with a series of empirical studies that launched a prodigious stream of research (an abbreviated list includes Avolio, Bass, and Jung 1995; 1999; Avolio, Waldman, and Einstein 1988; Bass 1997; Bass 1999; Bass and Avolio 1994a; 1994b; 1990; Bass and Avolio 1993; Bass et al. 2003; Bass et al. 1987). Bass' findings led him to a slightly different definition of transformational leadership than Burns. The differences are found along two dimensions. One distinction is the elimination of the societal outcome constraint and acknowledgement that leaders may be transformational regardless of whether the results are positive or negative (Bass 1985a). In this view the transformational leader is defined by his/her actions simply as one who motivates followers to do more than they originally expected to do.

The other area of difference is Bass' disagreement with the transformationaltransactional continuum view. Bass has repeatedly found that leaders exhibit both transactional and transformational behaviors to varying degrees. Leaders that are more transformational in their actions are simply more satisfying to followers and more effective in terms of the results produced by the groups they lead (Bass 1999). This result is termed the *augmentation effect*. Augmentation implies transformational leadership's added value, beyond that provided through traditional transactional leadership, can be measured and represents the differential value associated with a transformational leader (Waldman, Bass, and Yammarino 1990). Heightened follower satisfaction occurs because followers interpret transformational leadership behaviors as breaking down the traditional superior-subordinate relationship and replacing it with a more collegial environment (Bass 1999). The increasing respect for the role followers play is fundamental to the success of transformational leadership and highlights the importance of the leader-follower relationship to both leader and organizational success.

"Leadership is not only about leaders, it is also about followers. Leadership is a reciprocal process in that it occurs between people. It is not done by one person to another. Successful leadership depends far more upon the follower's perception of the leader's abilities than upon the leader's own perceptions" (Kouzes and Posner 1990, p. 29).

Transformational leaders act out of their own deeply held personal value systems, and place importance on integrity and justice (Humphreys and Einstein 2003). Burns (1978) referred to these convictions as "end values", meaning these values could not be negotiated. The belief in the correctness of his/her value set may be a key factor supporting the leader's ability to influence a group. Transformational leaders are effective in creating and articulating a compelling vision of the future of the organization and offering a model consistent with the attainment of that future (Podsakoff et al. 1990; Wang et al. 2005). The vision gives the group something to hold on to, and when aligned with organization and follower goals, provides the basis for followers to extend enthusiastic support and put forth extra effort toward the attainment of the vision (Humphreys and Einstein 2003).

Dimensions of Transformational Leadership

Bass (1985a) conceptualized leadership as defined by the three second order domains of transformational leadership, transactional leadership and laissez-faire, or the absence of leadership. "Bass posits that transformational and transactional leadership are conceptually separate and independent dimensions that appear simultaneously in the behavioral repertoire of leaders" (Tejeda, Scandura, and Pillai 2001, p. 33). Transformational and transactional leadership are further conceptualized as consisting of multiple dimensions. The dimensions extracted through studies undertaken by Bass and colleagues (Avolio, Bass, and Jung 1999; Bass 1985a; Hater and Bass 1988; Howell and Avolio 1993) include four transformational dimensions (idealized influence, inspiration, intellectual stimulation, individualized consideration) and two transactional dimensions (contingent reward, management-by-exception). A seventh dimension (laissez-faire) is actually the absence of leadership and is not considered further in this dissertation. The dimensions and their definitions are summarized in Table 2.4.

Much of the empirical work of Bass and others has been facilitated by the development of the Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire, or MLQ (Bass 1985a), an instrument considered the dominant measurement tool of transformational leadership research (Schriesheim et al. 2006). The MLQ has been consistently updated over the years, and published in multiple forms (Avolio, Bass, and Jung 1999; Bass 1999). The hypothesized factor structure associated with transformational and transactional leadership has been extensively explored using the MLQ.

Table 2.4: Dimensions of Transformational & Transactional Leadership

Dimension

Definition

Transformational Leadership Dimensions

Idealized Influence Leader serves as a role model by espousing important values, beliefs and a sense of mission (leader behaviors). Follower perceives the leader makes personal sacrifices, effectively deals with crises and exhibits self-confidence (characteristics attributed to the leader by followers).

- *Inspiration* Leader provides a clear sense of purpose through the articulation of the vision of a desirable future, defines a path for achieving that future, and sets high performance expectations.
- *Intellectual Stimulation* Leader helps followers become more creative and innovative by getting followers to question accepted methods of solving problems.
- *Individualized* Leader pays attention to the unique developmental needs of each follower, mentors followers in the learning process, and provides assignments that stress special follower skills or ensure follower development.

Transactional Leadership Dimensions

Contingent Reward Leader clarifies follower behavior and task performance required for a reward to be received.

Management byLeader monitors follower performance and takes
corrective action when the follower fails to achieve
established standards (active MBE), or leader waits for
problems to arise before taking corrective action (passive
MBE).

Laissez-faire - Leader is inactive in relation to follower performance

Definitions assimilated from Bass (1985; 1999; Avolio, Bass and Jung (1999); and Tejeda, Scandura and Pillai (2001).

Table 2.5 summarizes a sampling of these studies (Avolio, Bass, and Jung 1999; Bass 1985a; Den Hartog, Muijen, and Koopman 2001; Howell and Avolio 1993; Tejeda, Scandura, and Pillai 2001) and shows the evolution of the transformational-transactional sub-dimensions. While the factor structure has not remained uniform, the second order constructs of transformational, transactional, and passive avoidant leadership are found consistently.

Criticism of the MLQ is rooted in several concerns. The differing factor structures found over time may point out an underlying conceptual weakness in the accepted model of transformational leadership (Yukl 1999). Bass (1985a) argues that the discrepancy in factors is the result of studies utilizing different versions of the MLQ rather than any inherent theoretical deficiency. The transformational scales have consistently reported superior internal consistency results compared to the transactional scales (Tejeda, Scandura, and Pillai 2001), but this may be a result of the high intercorrelations present among the transformational sub-scales (Bycio, Hackett, and Allen 1995). The result has been the occasional collapse of the transformational subdimensions into a single factor (Howell and Avolio 1993).

Another problem is poor internal consistency reliability across the complete MLQ scales (Den Hartog, Muijen, and Koopman 2001). Improved reliability has been demonstrated after psychometric refinement has reduced the number of scale items significantly (Tejeda, Scandura, and Pillai 2001). Also, the Idealized Influence subdimension has been criticized for mixing both leader behaviors and follower attributions together, and because Bass' definition seems to be based on the leader possessing "mystical" qualities that cannot be precisely measured (Sashkin and Rosenbach 2001).



Table 2.5: Transformational Leadership Theoretical Factor Structure

Other conceptualizations of transformational leadership have been developed. Podsakoff and colleagues (MacKenzie, Podsakoff, and Rich 2001; Podsakoff, MacKenzie, and Bommer 1996; Podsakoff et al. 1990) have established a different model of transformational leadership based on findings developed from a separate instrument, the Transformational Leadership Inventory (TLI), which has demonstrated good factor structure, reliability and predictive validity in subsequent studies (Schriesheim et al. 2006). A key difference of TLI-based research from the MLQ-based research stream is found in the originally theorized dimensions of Idealized Influence and Inspiration. These dimensions have routinely combined into a single factor in the Bass' studies (Avolio, Bass, and Jung 1999; Hater and Bass 1988). In a large sample study using the TLI, this factor divided out into four sub-factors: identifying and articulating a vision, providing a model and setting the example, fostering acceptance of group goals, and setting high performance expectations (Podsakoff et al. 1990).

Another well-known model of transformational leadership has been proposed by Kouzes and Posner (1990; 1987). This line of inquiry is based on qualitative feedback from managers asked to describe their "best" leadership experiences. The Kouzes and Posner model identifies five factors, each associated with a distinct leader behavior: challenging the process, inspiring a shared vision, enabling others to act, modeling the way, and encouraging the heart.

Influenced by the work of Bennis and Narus (1985), Sashkin and Burke (1990) developed a model similar to that of Kouzes and Posner, but based upon their own instrument -- the Leader Behavior Questionnaire (LBQ). The five factors found in the Sashkin and Burke model are labeled clarity, communication, consistency, caring, and creating opportunities. In addition to the five behavioral factors, three personal characteristics that differentiate effective transformational leaders from transactional leaders are described by the authors: self-confidence, need for moral power, and vision (Sashkin and Rosenbach 2001). The authors do not consider these personal characteristics to be traits, because they can be learned and developed. Many similarities can be found across the models of transformational leadership. Vision, setting an example, and respect for and empowerment of followers are each found across the warious conceptualizations. Of the models described, the Bass model has the most extensive research history and is the one carried forward in this dissertation.

The Domain of Transformational Leadership

This section describes the distinguishing characteristics, mediators and consequences of transformational leadership in organizations based on the empirical findings of previous research. The model summarizing these findings is presented in Figure 2.1. Further elaboration on each of the model elements follows.

Distinguishing Characteristics. Personality has been extensively studied by researchers seeking to uncover a set of universal traits that can be attributed to an effective leader. The Big Five framework traits of Openness, Conscientiousness, Extraversion, Agreeableness, and Neuroticism are widely accepted in psychology as core foundational elements of personality (John and Srivastava 1999). Bono and Judge (2004) present a meta-analysis of 26 studies and conclude the association of the Big Five with transformational and transactional leadership is generally weak. However, *Extraversion* (+) and *Neuroticism* (-) have been linked to transformational leadership in several studies.



Figure 2.1: Transformational Leadership Theoretical Domain

The positive association of *self-confidence* to leadership has been widely reported, primarily as a trait of effective leaders (Bass 1990). Bass (1985a) describes self-confidence as a requisite ability of charismatic leaders. Similarly, Sashkin and Rosenbach (2001) describe self-efficacy -- the belief that one controls his/her own fate -- as a core personal characteristic transformational leaders must develop to become truly effective. The authors equate self-efficacy to self-confidence, and therefore self-confidence is the term used in this dissertation. Transformational leaders need to exude confidence in their vision in order to convince followers of the need for change (Kouzes and Posner 1987; Podsakoff, MacKenzie, and Bommer 1996; Podsakoff et al. 1990). In addition, a transformational leader, as differentiated from a transactional leader, may use his/her own self-confidence as a means to reinforce the importance of the vision by encouraging followers to take control of their own results. The existence of a vision may separate transformational from transactional leaders.

Control presents an interesting paradox. Although leaders exhibiting greater transformational behaviors are deemed to be more effective than transactional leaders (Bass 1999), transformational leaders may actually give up an element of control, thereby allowing followers more freedom to set their own rules. Transactional leaders utilize contingent reward and/or management-by-exception processes to ensure followers perform satisfactorily (Avolio, Waldman, and Einstein 1988; Bass 1985a; Burns 1978; Hollander 1978). The entire exchange relationship is defined by the leader's need for control over follower task outcomes. Transformational leaders guide followers toward acceptance of higher goals and may grant followers more control over task performance. This is consistent with the dimensions of intellectual stimulation (leader chooses to give

up control allowing followers to become more innovative), and individualized consideration (leader places followers in new roles ensuring follower development). Interestingly, the need for control has not been studied.

Turbulent and uncertain environments make followers more receptive to transformational leader behaviors because uncertainty creates a collective feeling that action is required to deal with external problems (Waldman and Yammarino 1999). "Within turbulent environments. transformational leadership best motivates organizational members to overcome their resistance to change and adopt new institutional routines" (Vera and Crossan 2004, p. 233). Turbulent environments, characterized by times of crisis, anxiety, and high risk, create a readiness for change in followers (Waldman et al. 2001). Transformational leaders are expected to be more effective in these situations (Vera and Crossan 2004). Conversely, in stable environments, for example when a firm has experienced consistent success in the past, or in mature organizations that follow established procedures and norms, transactional leadership may be a better choice because followers do not perceive the need for change to occur (Vera and Crossan 2004; Waldman et al. 2001).

Mediators. Trust is considered among the most important variables mediating the effectiveness of transformational leadership (Podsakoff et al. 1990; Yukl 1998). Transformational leaders motivate followers to perform beyond expectations by earning their trust and respect (Yukl 1989). Trustworthy behaviors such as honesty, integrity and truthfulness are the characteristics followers desire most in leaders (Kouzes and Posner 1987). The desire of followers to be identified with the leader facilitates the growth of trust and commitment in the relationship (Bass 1985b). Trust has been found to be a

mediator between transformational leadership and performance quality (Jung and Avolio 2000), follower satisfaction and group cohesiveness (Hoyt and Blascovich 2003). Trust also mediates citizenship behavior in the transformational leader-follower relationship (MacKenzie, Podsakoff, and Rich 2001; Podsakoff et al. 1990).

Role ambiguity, defined as the discrepancy between the amount of information a person has and the amount required to perform the role adequately, has been found to mediate the relationship between transactional leadership and performance (Kohli 1985; Teas, Wacker, and Hughes 1979). Performance expectations and contingent feedback provided by the leader serve to clarify the follower's role and thus reduce ambiguity. A relationship has been found between transformational behaviors and sales performance, when mediated by role clarity of the sales force (MacKenzie, Podsakoff, and Rich 2001).

LMX (Dansereau, Graen, and Haga 1975; Graen 1976), is explicit in making the leader-follower relationship the central phenomenon of leadership. Leaders and followers exert a high degree of mutual influence and feel significant obligation via relationship dynamics (House and Aditya 1997). LMX has evolved into a life cycle model including three stages: (1) *low LMX* is a testing phase when leaders and followers evaluate each other's motives and find their role, (2) *medium LMX* may occur once the first stage is complete and involves a better defined exchange relationship built upon established mutual trust, loyalty and respect, and (3) *high LMX* may involve reciprocal influence over an extended period where individual self-interest is transformed into mutual leader-follower commitment toward shared goals (Graen and Uhl-Bien 1995).

Transformational leadership has been posited as creating a culture that enhances leader-follower relationship development and establishing high LMX (Wang et al. 2005).

Low LMX is associated with transactional leadership. Follower development associated with transformational leadership facilitates social bonding between leader and follower. This enhanced relationship then mediates the effects of transformational leadership and follower performance (Dvir et al. 2002). Recent studies have established the mediating relationship of LMX between transformational leadership and task performance (Howell and Hall-Merenda 1999) and citizenship behavior (Wang et al. 2005).

Consequences. Past research has found several outcomes consistently related to transformational and/or transactional leadership behaviors. These can be divided between follower-specific results and overall organization performance results. Transformational leadership is widely described as leading to *follower satisfaction* (Bass and Avolio 1994a; Bass, Avolio, and Atwater 1996; Hoyt and Blascovich 2003; Sparks and Schenk 2001). The transformational dimensions of Idealized Influence and Inspiration may enhance satisfaction as followers seek to identify with a charismatic leader. Followers receiving Individualized Consideration from the leader in the form of ongoing mentoring, recognition for a job well done, or constructively phrased criticism may also express their appreciation through greater satisfaction. Transformational leadership serves as a motivational force to get followers to produce the "extra effort" necessary to achieve higher performance as seen through the significant relationship found between transformational leadership and follower motivation to complete a task (Hater and Bass 1988; Masi and Cooke 2000; Perry 2000).

A frequently cited outcome is greater *organizational citizenship behavior* (OCB) facilitated by the presence of transformational leadership (MacKenzie, Podsakoff, and Rich 2001; Podsakoff et al. 1990). OCBs are defined as "individual behavior that is
discretionary, not directly or explicitly recognized by the formal reward system, and in the aggregate promotes the effective functioning of the organization" (Organ 1988, p. 4). Podsakoff and colleagues (2000) review the literature and synthesize 30 different forms of citizenship behavior to create the summarized typology of seven OCBs in Table 2.6.

OCBs are behaviors exhibited by followers that are outside the scope of their normal responsibilities -- i.e., extra-role rather than in-role in nature. Leader behaviors, especially supportive behaviors, have been strongly associated with OCBs (MacKenzie, Podsakoff, and Rich 2001; Podsakoff, MacKenzie, and Bommer 1996; Podsakoff et al. 1990). This is an important linkage since a key posited outcome of transformational leadership is the ability of the leader to influence employees to perform at a level exceeding expectations.

Followers may express their desire to support the leader through their attachment, or commitment, to the organization. *Commitment to the organization* is elevated under transformational leadership (Bass 1999; Podsakoff, MacKenzie, and Bommer 1996). The related concept of *organizational identification* has also been found (Epitropaki and Martin 2005). Likewise, in a dyadic study of suppliers and buyers in a supply chain, *relationship commitment* is strengthened by transformational leadership to a greater extent than seen with transactional leadership (Hult et al. 2000). Increased commitment and identification are posited as direct outcomes of transformational leadership due to the increased emotional involvement of followers created by the consistent expression of leader values (Burns 1978; Jung and Avolio 2000)

Dimension	Definition		
Helping	Voluntarily helping others with, or preventing the occurrence of, work-related problems.		
Sportsmanship	A willingness to tolerate the inevitable inconveniences and impositions of work without complaining. Also, the ability to maintain a positive attitude, not take rejection of their ideas personally, and a willingness to sacrifice personal interests for the good of the work group.		
Organizational Loyalty	Promoting the organization to outsiders, protecting and defending it against external threats, and remaining committed under adverse conditions.		
Organizational Compliance	A person's internalization and acceptance of the organization's rules, regulations, and procedures, which results in a scrupulous adherence to them, even when no one observes or monitors compliance.		
Individual Initiative	Engaging in task related behaviors at a level that is so far beyond minimally required or generally expected levels that it takes on a voluntary flavor.		
Civic Virtue	A macro-level interest in, or commitment to, the organization as a whole. Such behavior reflects a person's recognition of being part of a larger whole and exhibiting a willingness to participate actively, even at great personal cost.		
Self Development	Voluntary behaviors undertaken by employees to improve their knowledge, skills, and abilities.		

Table 2.6:	Summary	v of Organizational	Citizenshin	Behaviors
	Summer y	or or Summanonar	Citizensing	Demariors

Source: Podsakoff, MacKenzie, Paine, and Bachrach (2000)

Organization performance is found to be enhanced by transformational leadership when viewed at the team level (Zeffane 1994) or organization-wide (Bass 1990). The *quality of output* has been associated with transformational leadership (Hoyt and Blascovich 2003). Jung and Avolio (2000) conclude performance quality may be enhanced by transformational leadership because leaders using intellectual stimulation encourage followers to think more creatively and longer-term. Bottom-line *financial performance* is enhanced under transformational leadership (Perry and Proctor 2000). The impact of transformational leadership on financial performance is not necessarily a direct one. Financial performance appears to be enhanced as a result of the more direct effect found on the "social psychology" of the workforce through improved motivation, satisfaction, commitment, and OCBs (Perry 2000). Also, *long-term relationship development* is more closely associated with transformational leadership than transactional leadership (Hult et al. 2000).

In general, the findings listed above are described as being more closely associated with transformational leadership than with transactional leadership. While transactional leadership has not been as extensively studied, a few findings are noteworthy. Contingent reinforcement, using such methods as praise, recognition, and pay recommendations for acceptable performance lead to enhanced *follower expectations*, and improved *task performance* (Keller and Szilagyi 1976). Commitment to quality has a negative relationship with transactional leadership (Masi and Cooke 2000), while *quantity of output* is related to transactional leadership behavior (Jung and Avolio 2000; Masi and Cooke 2000).

Summary of Transformational Leadership Theory

Transformational leaders appeal to follower's higher level needs by advocating values and long-term goals intended to generate enthusiastic support through a well-articulated vision (Bass 1985a). Four transformational leadership behaviors have been suggested and extensively tested: idealized influence, inspiration, intellectual stimulation, and individualized consideration. Transformational leadership has been associated with follower satisfaction with the leader, motivation, commitment, and OCBs. At the organization level, transformational leadership enhances team and overall organization performance, output quality, and bottom-line financial performance.

Leaders also exhibit transactional behaviors characterized by contingent reward and management-by-exception (Bass 1985b; Waldman, Bass, and Yammarino 1990), however managers are anticipated to become more effective as they utilize more transformational behaviors (Bass 1999). Transactional leadership demonstrably improves follower role clarity, and task-level performance. At the organization level, output quantity is increased at the expense of quality.

FOLLOWERSHIP

The impact of leadership may be overrated. The preceding discussion of leadership notwithstanding, arguably no more than 20% of organizational success should be attributed to leaders and at least 80% is a result of the contributions of followers (Kelley 1992). Followers represent the bulk of resources available to the organization, and are the group that actually gets things done. "Followership dominates organizations; there are always more followers than leaders" (Dixon and Westbrook 2003, p. 20).

This section outlines and explains the concept of followership along three lines. First, effective followers are differentiated from the traditional, negative perception of the passive follower. The positive view of followership is a critical foundation necessary for later theory development. Second, once the concept has been fully developed, a definition of followership is presented. A clear definition has not been provided in the literature to date. Third, the dimensions of followership are identified and a model of followership is created to describe the domain of the concept.

The Importance of Followership

The concept of followership has not generated the same interest found in the study of leadership. This imbalance exists despite the fact that leadership and followership are two sides of the same process (Chaleff 1995), and great performances are needed from both roles if an organization is to succeed (Kelley 1992). Although much has been written about the value provided by leaders, very little has been written about followers (Lundin and Lancaster 1990):

"If you scroll through the subject catalogue at the Library of Congress you will find the category 'leadership' and hundreds of books on the subject. You will not find a category 'followership' and you will only find a handful of articles and a book or two on the subject, tucked away under the leadership rubric. This is curious as there are many more followers in the world than there are leaders. Improving their performance would seem equally worthy of study as improving the performance of leaders" (Chaleff 1995, from Preface page xii).

The emphasis placed on leadership confirms the generally held belief that leadership is important to organizational success. Unfortunately the lack of significance granted followership suggests followers are held in lower regard. The less vital role given to followers in much of the literature is confusing when one considers that almost everyone assumes both leader and follower roles at times (Chaleff 1995; Kelley 1992).

"Without followers, there are plainly no leaders or leadership" (Hollander 1993, p. 29). Leaders strive to influence the behavior of followers (Dvir et al. 2002), but followers determine the acceptance and effectiveness of the leader (Kelley 1992). Leader actions may create either alienated or committed followers (Banutu-Gomez 2004). Follower influence over leader success may not be easily identified. High performing followers may simply stop performing beyond expectations -- they may make quota rather than exceed it, marginally miss quality specifications, or fail to train junior team members as quickly as necessary. As a result, the leader's status is tarnished and his/her ability to create exceptional results may be called into question.

Overcoming Negative Perceptions of Followership

Older theories of leadership assume followers require significant guidance to produce results and are incapable of making an independent contribution. "Being a follower has a negative connotation because it is usually used to refer to someone who must be constantly told what to do" (Banutu-Gomez 2004, p. 143). This negative view of followership conjures up images of docile, conforming, weak, "yes" men; losers that can't make the grade as leaders, and thus fail to excel (Chaleff 1995; Kelley 1992). Leadership in this context is assumed as a unidirectional model of what a leader does to a subordinate (Yukl and Fleet 1992), and the role of followers is based on their perceived susceptibility to the leader's behaviors and style (Howell and Shamir 2005).

The advent of transformational leadership, LMX and OCB theories has helped elevate the importance of followers to organizational success. Transformational leadership assumes successful leaders must consider followers' values and goals to create a shared view of the future. LMX places leaders and followers in a co-influencing relationship context. OCB suggests followers exhibit behaviors that benefit the group rather than just themselves. Together these theories provide a lens to view leadership and followership as dual roles that both contribute to organizational success.

What is Followership?

Followers are not the antithesis of leaders (Kelley 1992). Followers are important to organization success, and effective followers collaborate with leaders to achieve performance goals. Effective followers assume control over their own actions and strive to achieve both personal and organizational goals (Chaleff 1995; Kelley 1992). An individual often cannot assume a leadership role until proving themselves to be a good follower (Litzinger and Schaefer 1982). Former US representative Sam Rayburn said "You cannot be a leader and ask other people to follow you unless you know how to follow, too" (from Dixon and Westbrook 2003, p. 20). Yet, leadership may not be the ultimate goal for many. Effective followers may prefer to remain in a follower role rather than assume a leadership position (Kelley 1992; Potter, Rosenbach, and Pittman 2001).

Unfortunately, no author clearly defines followership. A generalized definition of followers and followership is needed to define the boundaries of the concept and allow for further analysis. Howell and Shamir (2005, pps. 98-99) define a follower as "a person who acknowledges the focal leader as a continuing source of guidance and inspiration,

67

regardless of whether there is any formal reporting relationship". Followers may seek leaders outside their own immediate area of the organization. The Howell and Shamir definition has the benefit of differentiating followers from subordinates.

Other criteria essential to the definition of followership have been suggested. Effective followers have been characterized as *working cooperatively* with leaders to attain shared goals (Kelley 1992), *partnering* with leaders to ensure organizational success (Potter, Rosenbach, and Pittman 2001), *challenging* leaders when their behavior is deemed inappropriate (Chaleff 1995), and *acting with integrity* based on their own set of beliefs (Lundin and Lancaster 1990). Kelley (1992) considers followership and leadership to be "complementary", "symbiotic", "interdependent" and "dialectic". Chaleff (1995, p.2) states, "leaders and followers form an action circle around a common purpose".

Building upon the Howell and Shamir definition of followers and the preceding discussion the proposed definition used in this dissertation is:

Followership is a relational concept involving a leader and follower in which the follower exhibits proactive individual behavior created out of follower integrity, intelligence and enthusiasm to help the organization achieve its goals. The follower chooses to work toward leader-defined goals so long as they align with organization objectives. When leader goals diverge the follower takes the initiative to challenge the leader and attempt to re-align leader-directed actions with organizational interests.

Dimensions of Followership

Contrasted with the thousands of studies found on a variety of leadership topics, almost no empirical followership research has been produced. One known scholarly study finds followership is a measurable concept, individuals exhibiting followership behaviors can be identified within organizations, and followership can be found at all levels in organizations (Dixon and Westbrook 2003). Still, much more research is needed to accurately describe followership and its effects on organization performance.

Two conceptual models of followership have been proposed in the literature. As shown in Figure 2.2, Kelley (1992) develops a classification scheme that locates followership style in a space defined by the two dimensions of independent, critical thinking and active engagement. The best followers are a combination of independent, critical thinkers (individuals who can think for themselves, give constructive criticism, and are innovative and creative) and are actively engaged (individuals that take initiative, assume ownership, participate actively, and go above and beyond the requirements of the job). Individuals possessing these characteristics are described as *exemplary followers*. The reverse are identified as *passive followers* that do not demonstrate independent, critical thinking abilities and are not actively engaged. This category of follower is closely associated with the old, negative connotation of follower. Alienated followers may have once been exemplary, but are no longer actively engaged. Conformist followers demonstrate a desire to engage with the leader, but fall short on the ability to think independently, possibly as a result of working for a domineering leader. Finally, pragmatist followers may possess the ability to be exemplary, but fail to fully commit.

In a similar vein, Potter, Rosenbach and Pittman (2001) identify follower types in a two-dimensional space defined by relationship orientation and performance orientation as shown in Figure 2.3. Individuals grading high on the relationship dimension identify with the leader's vision, demonstrate trustworthiness through their behaviors, and communicate honestly with the leader. Individuals grading high on the performance dimension hold personal performance standards that are higher than those required by the job, cooperate effectively in peer working relationships, take on leadership roles as needed, and embrace change by looking for new and better ways to accomplish tasks.

As with Kelley's framework, the best followers are found in the upper, right-most cell. The authors label these followers *partners*, and this follower style relates to the leader on equal footing, and may be populated by individuals that are leaders-in-waiting. *Subordinates* rate low on both dimensions, and as in the Kelley model this is the group that most closely resembles the negative view of followers. *Politicians* risk over-emphasizing relationship development without a balancing drive for high performance. *Contributors* are focused on performance, but demonstrate little interest in developing stronger working relationships.

Independent /	Alienated		Exemplary
Critical	Followers		Followers
Thinking Ability		Pragmatist Followers	
Dependent /	Passive		Conformist
Uncritical	Followers		Followers
	Passive	Level of Engagement	Active

Figure 2.2: Kelley's Model of Followership



Figure 2.3: Potter et al's Model of Followership

The available models, while useful, are actually simple classification tools, and may be more effective at assigning followers to a category than for predicting follower behavior. Two models of followership are developed in this dissertation. First, Figure 2.4 presents the dimensions of followership proposed to create a formative followership construct. Second, a conceptual model of followership is created utilizing the dimensional construct and previously introduced transformational leadership theory.

Effective followers must possess an *independent mindset*. Kelley (1992) calls this the courageous conscience. Effective followers maintain the importance of their personal value set. They may be influenced by leaders, but cannot be convinced to take on new values that are in conflict with their own beliefs. Independence allows the follower to act with integrity (Lundin and Lancaster 1990), and to take an ethical stand when necessary (Kelley 1992). Followers with this characteristic are not intimidated by organizational



hierarchy or an authoritative role assumed by the leader. Less effective followers may lose sight of their own closely held beliefs and choose to mirror the values passed down from the leader without a filter of independence. Because a personal filter is lacking, these followers may act without regard to past commitments, and may take actions that are not in the best interest of the organization. Such followers will continue to complete assigned tasks and accomplish stated goals, and therefore their behavior is classified as passive, or transactional.

A key characteristic that differentiates effective followers from passive, less effective followers is knowing what to do without being told. This ability is facilitated by *critical thinking* behavior (Kelley 1992). This ability may be manifested in several ways including routinely looking for better ways accomplish a task, providing constructive criticism as a way of developing peers and subordinates, and designing creative solutions to unforeseen problems (Banutu-Gomez 2004). Effective followers actively participate

in organizational transformation (Chaleff 1995), and champion new ideas when necessary (Banutu-Gomez 2004). Passive followers require closer supervision and rely on the leader to provide direction, especially for newly assigned tasks. Such followers strive to accomplish tasks more efficiently over time by developing an expertise in the accepted process. Less effective followers do not go out of their way to provide feedback to peers, and prefer the status quo when faced with a potential change.

Effective followers *assume responsibility* for their actions and performance results (Chaleff 1995). They make sound decisions that benefit the organization (Lundin and Lancaster 1990). Effective followers demonstrate a high competence with in-role tasks (Podsakoff et al. 1990). Once in-role performance is established, effective followers take on extra-role activities (Podsakoff et al. 2000; Podsakoff et al. 1990). This may involve off-loading work from the leader, or picking up a task that has been set aside because of lack of resources. Extra-role performance is an example of the effective follower going above and beyond what is required for the good of the organization (Banutu-Gomez 2004). Less effective followers may struggle to complete assigned tasks effectively and never find the capacity to take on additional outside responsibilities.

Effective followers *desire to collaborate* with leaders and others throughout the organization. They develop a network of relationships to ensure they can bring the necessary skills to bear on a problem when their own expertise is limited (Kelley 1992). They are team players willing to help others if it benefits the organization. Effective followers work cooperatively with the leader to accomplish mutually held goals. Passive followers do not develop relationships outside of their normal circles, and may struggle to

find the appropriate skills when new problems occur. Their dealings with the leader are more likely to be directed by the leader rather than collaborative.

Demonstrating *commitment to the organization* (Banutu-Gomez 2004; Lundin and Lancaster 1990) is the final dimension of followership. Commitment is established through creating a shared purpose with the leader (Chaleff 1995). This purpose could be achievement of the goals associated with the leader's vision (Kouzes and Posner 1987). Effective followers may demonstrate their commitment to the organization by challenging the leader's direction when it strays from mutually-held goals (Chaleff 1995). Passive followers do not display a significant commitment to the organization, and focus instead on completing assigned tasks. These followers will not disagree with the leader unless the decision has a direct impact on the follower's welfare.

A Theory of Followership

The dimensions of followership characterize follower types as falling on a continuum between enthusiastically engaged, highly effective followers at one end and passive, less effective followers at the other. This places the concept of followership squarely within the transformational leadership paradigm. A transformational follower is an individual grading highly on the five followership dimensions, and is ready to be a catalyst for change in the best interests of the organization. A transactional follower generates low scores on the dimensions suggesting the follower is unwilling to accept the changes associated with transformation and is not interested in performing beyond his/her own job description. Transformational followers team with a transformational leader to

drive change and achieve greater performance results. Figure 2.5 presents the proposed model of transformational followership.

When leaders encounter energized, transformational followers they will find their vision of a better future to be readily accepted and possibly even improved upon. In this situation, leaders should prefer to deal with followers on a transformational level because the potential to achieve greater results exists. When leaders deal with passive followers that require more direct supervision they naturally fall into a transactional leadership style. Thus, transformational followers should be able to be distinguished from transactional followers based upon classification of their behaviors across each of the five dimensions of followership.



Figure 2.5: Transformational Followership Theoretical Model

Distinguishing Characteristics. Before it is appropriate to evaluate an individual on the five followership dimensions, a common set of criteria is needed to differentiate leaders from followers. Three characteristics are posited based upon leadership concepts presented previously. It is posited that leaders and followers may be distinguished on the basis of one or more of these elements. These characteristics are introduced and described here to explain the concept of followership, but are outside the scope of this dissertation and will not be carried forward into the theoretical model presented later.

Power sources have been widely described as a key characteristic used to identify the leader (Emerson 1962; French and Raven 1959; Gaski 1984; Hollander 1993). Power may distinguish leaders from followers in three ways. First, followers may not have access to a significant source of power. They generally lack positional, or legitimate, power for example. Second, followers may choose to defer using power they do possess. In some cases followers may possess critical information about a process, but prefer to share the information for the benefit of the organization rather than hoard the information in a quest for greater status or a leadership role. Because the information is proactively shared with others, no information power exists. Third, the power source possessed by the follower may simply be relatively smaller than the leader's power source.

Leaders are given the responsibility to create and articulate a *vision* for the future. Followers may provide input that is used to develop an evolved vision, but the creation of the vision is central to the leader's role. The actual existence of a vision is associated with the transformational paradigm. When a vision is absent leaders and followers are not working toward a mutually agreed upon long-term goal and arguably both leadership and followership should tend to become more transactional. Finally, leaders may exhibit a stronger *need for control* than those that choose to follow. By definition, followers are willing to give up a portion of control to the leader and can therefore be clearly distinguished on this element. Followers may possess personal values that lead them to eschew personal esteem while certain leaders strive to achieve their place in the spotlight.

Consequences. The scarcity of previous empirical research identifying the outcomes of followership necessitates extrapolation from relevant findings in the leadership literature. Several areas investigated in a leadership context appear to have direct application to a model of followership. These are discussed next.

OCBs (Podsakoff, MacKenzie, and Bommer 1996; Podsakoff et al. 2000; Podsakoff et al. 1990) are discretionary behaviors (Organ 1988) undertaken because the follower desires to go above and beyond job requirements to ensure the organization achieves its goals. OCBs may occur because the follower agrees with the vision articulated by the leader (Podsakoff et al. 1990), or because the follower sees an opportunity to impact the organization's success and chooses to act. OCB's are anticipated to be more closely associated with transformational followers because these behaviors are extra-role in their nature and therefore require effort beyond the assigned job role (Podsakoff et al. 2000). Followers that fail to exhibit significant OCBs, and attempt to maximize in-role performance should be considered transactional followers.

Organizational identification is "the perception of belongingness or 'oneness' with an organization" (Epitropaki and Martin 2005, p. 570). Followers identify with the organization and actually assume organizational values and core characteristics as part of their own self-concept (Mael and Tetrick 1992). While both transformational and

transactional followers may identify closely with their organization, transformational followers may project stronger identification because they identify with the organization of the future that will result from an envisioned change process. Transactional followers' identification may be reduced in a transformational environment as the evolving organization takes on different characteristics from the pre-transformed organization.

Followers have been shown to influence organizational performance outcomes in leadership research as a result of leadership style (Hoyt and Blascovich 2003; Masi and Cooke 2000; Perry 2000). Because followers represent the bulk of the organization and are primarily responsible for actually completing the work (Dixon and Westbrook 2003), similar outcomes may be anticipated based on followership style. Therefore, *quality of output* is posited as a consequence of transformational followership, and *output quantity* should be more closely related with transactional followership.

Summary of Followership

Although recent leadership theory development has placed greater emphasis on the role of followers, almost no empirical evidence is available to explain the contributions followers make to their organizations. Effective, transformational followers that produce extra effort because of their commitment to the organization are different from the traditionally held view of passive, transactional followers. Five dimensions distinguish transformational followers from transactional followers: independent mindset, critical thinking, assuming responsibility, collaboration, and commitment to the organization. A conceptual framework of followership based on the transformational leadership paradigm has been presented with transformational followers posited to exhibit more OCBs, identify more strongly with the organization, and strive for greater quality of output. Transactional followers are expected to demonstrate fewer OCBs, identify less strongly with the organization, and focus on output quantity.

STRATEGY, STRUCTURE AND PERFORMANCE

One of the richest research paradigms in the strategic management literature is based on SSP theory (Galunic and Eisenhardt 1994). SSP suggests a firm's performance can be predicted from the degree of alignment between its strategy and the structural elements developed to support the strategy (Galbraith and Kazanjian 1986; Rumelt 1974). The appropriateness, or fit, of the strategy-structure alignment is mediated by environmental factors facing the organization. This contingent SSP framework (Miles and Snow 1978; Miller 1988) is reproduced in Figure 2.6 and described in this section.



Figure 2.6: Model of the SSP Paradigm

Source: adapted from Defee and Stank (2005)

Businesses use strategy to create and sustain a competitive advantage (Day, Weitz, and Wensley 1990). Strategy is defined as "*the determination of the basic longterm goals and objectives of an enterprise, and the adoption of courses of action and the allocation of resources necessary for carrying out these goals*" (Chandler 1962, p. 13). Porter's (1980) conceptualization of low cost, differentiation, and niche market strategies is perhaps the most widely used framework of strategic options available to the firm. Other options have been suggested including technology standardization and innovation (Galunic and Eisenhardt 1994) and business network alliances (Varadarajan and Jayachandran 1999). In addition, Bartlett and Ghoshal (1991) note that firms routinely combine multiple strategies.

Structure is "the design of organization through which the enterprise is administered" (Chandler 1962). Structure provides the means for accomplishing the organization's stated strategic goals. Several elements of structure have been suggested in the literature including those listed in Figure 2.6. Formal organizational form is the hierarchy present in the organization and is frequently described in terms of the degree of centralization, formalization and specialization found in core business routines (Dalton et al. 1980). Lines of authority are identified by the relationship between managers and subordinates, and across offices and departments (Chandler 1962). Role assignments describe the responsibility of each position found in the organization (Galbraith and Nathanson 1978). Management control systems include coordination techniques (Rumelt 1974), hiring and firing policies (Dalton et al. 1980), and methods of administering rewards and punishments (Miles and Snow 1978).

SSP theory grew out of a study intended to explain the growth patterns experienced by the largest U.S. companies prior to the mid-20th century (Chandler 1962). Four firms were investigated in detail: du Pont, General Motors, Standard Oil of New Jersey, and Sears, Roebuck and Company. This research determined an organization's structure can be predicted as a result of the strategy pursued by the firm. Chandler found that as the firms implemented a product diversification strategy, a divisional organization structure evolved to manage the greater complexity. The strategy-structure linkage has been consistently replicated by researchers examining European (Channon 1973; Dyas and Thanheiser 1976; Pavan 1972) and multinational corporations (Egelhoff 1982; 1988; Franko 1976; Stopford and Wells 1972).

Rumelt (1974) built on the theory and added the critical link to performance in an extensive review of over 200 large U.S. corporations. An important finding is that certain strategy-structure combinations consistently produce better performance results. For example, firms diversifying into a related field showed greater performance than firms attempting to grow into unrelated fields. This expanded strategy-structure-performance theory has been replicated by research into multinational corporations (Armour and Teece 1978; Hoskisson 1987; Teece 1981; Williamson 1975) and using stock market returns as a performance measure (Lubatkin and Rogers 1989).

Later research augmented SSP to incorporate the influence of environmental factors outside the control of the focal organization. A series of studies sampling U.S., Canadian, and Australian firms considers the strategy-structure relationship in the context of environmental conditions (Miller 1988; 1987a; 1987b). The results suggest certain strategy and structure combinations are often found in similar environments. This is in

line with the structure-conduct-performance framework from industrial organization economics which posits environmental factors are the primary cause of firm performance (Porter 1985; 1980). Miles and Snow (1978) assess four industries and conclude a firm's strategy, structure and processes must adapt to the environment confronting the organization. *External environmental factors* affecting organization performance include changing customer requirements, the intensity of competition, industry and market characteristics, the state of the economy, and the presence of governmental regulations (Christensen and Montgomery 1981; Porter 1985; Ulrich and Ellison 1999). Factors inside the firm, such as culture and existing capabilities, also influence SSP outcomes.

The most appropriate strategy and structure is dependent on the situational context presented by the environmental factors facing the organization (Galbraith and Kazanjian 1986; Galbraith and Nathanson 1978; Miles and Snow 1984; 1978). Performance results from the degree of *fit* between strategy and structure taken within the context of current internal and external environmental factors. A minimal level of fit among these factors is necessary for survival of the firm (Miles and Snow 1984). Performance may be affected in the short run for even the most capable firms when changing environmental conditions force the firm to develop new, more evolved strategies (Hunt and Morgan 1995). Existing structure may limit a firm's plans to change strategy. Structure takes time to modify and therefore may constrain the strategic options available to the firm in the short run (Hall and Saias 1980).

SSP in Supply Chains

Supply chains have become increasingly important to the success of organizations as competition has evolved beyond individual firms toward networks of firms (Cooper,

Lambert, and Pagh 1997). The inter-organizational unit of analysis of supply chains has prompted several authors to suggest SSP as an appropriate theoretical lens through which to view supply chain phenomena (Bowersox, Closs, and Stank 1999; Chow, Henrikssen, and Heaver 1995; Defee and Stank 2005; Rodrigues, Stank, and Lynch 2004; Stank, Davis, and Fugate 2005; Stank and Traichal 1998; Stock, Greis, and Kasarda 1999).

The underlying premises of SSP must be extended across multiple organization borders to be meaningful in a supply chain context (Chow, Henrikssen, and Heaver 1995). Supply chain SSP is more complex than traditional SSP. Inter-organizational structure and performance are not well understood concepts. Contingent factors may not affect each supply chain member consistently. For example, competition may vary greatly between echelons in the supply chain. Globalization pressures have created a sea change with new, low cost competitors for upstream supplier and manufacturing organizations that did not exist a decade ago (Adler 2004; Shister 2006). The growth of the internet as a selling outlet has impacted all echelons across the supply chain; the increased competitive affect has been disproportional on wholesalers and retailers.

Supply Chain Structure

A central theme of supply chain research has been the importance of integration within the firm and between supply chain members (Bowersox, Closs, and Stank 1999; Kahn and Mentzer 1996; Robertson, Gibson, and Flanagan 2002; Stank, Keller, and Closs 2001). Without tight integration, process coordination is impossible and the result is failure of supply chain operations (Chow, Henrikssen, and Heaver 1995; Mollenkopf, Gibson, and Ozanne 2000; Williams et al. 1997). Supply chain structure, defined as "*the*

network of members and the links between members of the supply chain" (Lambert, Cooper, and Pagh 1998, p. 4), is the mechanism through which integration occurs. Several descriptions of supply chain structure have been offered in the literature.

Chow, Henrikssen, and Heaver (1995) identify five dimensions of structure taken from the management science literature. Supply chain *formalization* is the degree to which norms governing transactions between organizations are made explicit. Supply chain *intensity* is the level of resource investment that an organization has in its relationship with another organization. Supply chain *frequency* is the amount of contact between the organizations. Supply chain *standardization* is the degree of similarity in the resources or procedures used. Supply chain *reciprocity* is the degree of symmetry in the relationship. The authors suggest these structural dimensions should be examined in the context of five contingency variables: strategy, environmental uncertainty, environmental heterogeneity, the importance of logistics, and information technology. The article is primarily definitional and is among the first to connect SSP and supply chains, but no theoretical model is offered.

Stank and Traichal (1998) apply SSP to a firm's logistics operations in a survey of maquiladora managers. The proposed model empirically tests the relationship between a firm's logistics strategy, logistics organizational design dimensions, and logistics performance. Three structural variables are considered as essential elements of internal logistics integration: *centralization* of decision-making authority, *formalization* of rules and procedures, and *specialization* of tasks across organizational units. Firm size and complexity are used to establish a contingent SSP framework. The authors conclude organizational structure does affect performance when moderated by the degree of

integration. This study provides a practical application of SSP in a single-firm logistics context, but falls short of providing empirical results across a multi-echelon supply chain.

Stock, Greis, and Kasarda (1999) apply SSP in the expanded context of enterprise logistics integration. The authors view the competitive environment faced by the firm as the primary contingent factor influencing the firm's ultimate strategy and structure. Enterprise logistics integration takes other supply chain organizations into consideration, with structure represented through the network of firms. Dimensions of structure proposed are the degree of *vertical integration* found in the focal logistics firm, *flexibility* to react to changing circumstances, and *cooperation* found between firms. The vertical integration and flexibility dimensions are internal to the firm. Cooperation incorporates inter-organizational relationship dynamics such as control, information exchange, interdependence, time horizon, goal consistency, and formality. The article is conceptual rather than empirical. The authors take a step closer to developing an actual supply chain SSP model, however the unit of analysis proposed remains the focal firm rather than multiple firms across a supply chain.

Rodrigues, Stank, and Lynch (2004) use *information systems* and *measurement systems* to express structure in their recent study. The model proposed by the authors suggests these structural elements drive internal (within the firm) and external (across multiple firms) integration. The authors find a more significant result occurs by combining integration into a single mediating factor that leads to improved performance. The study provides an important empirical test of SSP in the supply chain environment. The unit of analysis remains at the focal firm level, as with prior studies.

85

Stank, Davis, and Fugate (2005) develop a strategic logistics framework combining SSP and the RBV. The authors propose firms with a supply chain orientation, i.e., firms that view the supply chain as a source of strategic competitive advantage (Mentzer 2001), will seek tighter integration in order to effectively implement SCM. *Logistics capabilities* are suggested as a surrogate for structure in a supply chain logistics context. Five logistics capabilities are identified, including customer focus, time management, integration, information exchange, and evaluation. Considering capabilities as structure is consistent with the conclusions of Stank and Traichal (1998) concerning positioning and integration capabilities (Bowersox 1995). This study makes an interesting connection between SSP, the RBV, and the supply chain environment, but does not provide empirical support for the propositions.

Defee and Stank (2005) review the SSP literature and propose five structural elements and five external contingency factors necessary to develop a complete supply chain SSP theoretical model as shown in Figure 2.7. Structural dimensions proposed include information integration, communications, standardization, decision-making authority and rewards. External environmental factors proposed include customer requirements, competitors, industry structure, the economy, and government controls. Supply chain strategy is represented in the model as requiring shared goals, a shared supply chain orientation, and a shared view of successful performance based upon a common view of efficiency and effectiveness. Supply chain strategy is replaced in this dissertation by supply chain leadership style. Performance goals should be aligned with strategic goals and then measured. Structure and external environmental factors are described next. Performance is covered in the following section.



Figure 2.7: Supply Chain SSP Framework

Source: adapted from Defee and Stank (2005)

The structural dimensions are expected to influence performance across the entire supply chain. *Technology integration* is described by the degree of coordination across supply chain members and the flexibility of systems to change without damaging the linkages between members. A related view found in the logistics literature is *information availability* (Fawcett, Stanley, and Smith 1997). The availability and sharing of information is a significant factor contributing to the success of supply chains (Mentzer 2004), and therefore this is the view adopted in this dissertation. *Communication* is classified as formal and informal, both of which are necessary to ensure desired performance outcomes. *Standardization* applies to how information is organized and

shared across members. *Decision making authority* differentiates centralized planning activities that are the responsibility of the supply chain leader from decentralized implementation activities that fall to member organizations. *Rewards* deal with the two objectives of motivating boundary-spanning employees and organizations to achieve holistic supply chain performance goals.

Environmental factors provide the context for supply chain strategy-structure development. Changing *customer requirements* influence supply chain operations directly because they often impact the definition of successful performance. *Competitors* may develop new capabilities that erode the supply chain's competitive advantage. *Industry structure* may constrain the strategy-structure combinations available to the supply chain. Downturns in the *economy* force the supply chain to become more efficient to survive. *Government legislation and import/export controls* add increasing complexity to supply chain operations as multiple country borders are crossed. The study provides a conceptual model of SSP in a supply chain context that remains to be empirically tested.

Structural dimensions appropriate to the supply chain environment have been suggested by several authors. The studies are either purely conceptual or limit empirical testing to a single focal firm. Thus, significant knowledge remains untapped concerning supply chain SSP. A clear presentation of supply chain structural elements is made by Defee and Stank (2005), and a modified version of this typology including information availability will be carried forward into the development of the theory of SCL.

Supply Chain Performance

Performance is an evaluation of how well previously established goals have been met (Mentzer and Konrad 1991). Supply chain goals emerge out of supply chain strategy deployed through the initiative of a supply chain leader (Defee and Stank 2005). The complexity of supply chain phenomena has made the development of supply chain performance metrics extremely challenging. "There is no evidence that meaningful performance measures that span the supply chain actually exist" (Lambert and Pohlen 2001, p. 1). The difficulty researchers have experienced in measuring supply chain performance points out the importance of getting it right. This section identifies several of the issues associated with measuring supply chain performance, reviews previous performance measurement techniques suggested in the literature, and describes the approach used to determine supply chain performance in this dissertation.

Problems with Performance Measurement

The evaluation of performance is often difficult because it must be seen across multiple dimensions (Chow, Henrikssen, and Heaver 1995) and organizations frequently have conflicting goals (Chow, Heaver, and Henrikkson 1994). Even closely aligned organizations in a supply chain may avoid sharing specific performance information, forcing managers to use internal, firm-specific performance measures as a surrogate for supply chain performance (Lambert and Pohlen 2001). Failure to develop boundary-spanning measures contributes to ineffective SCM outcomes (Bowersox 1995).

Supply chain performance may be viewed as a trade-off between operating at a low cost and delivering high customer service (Mentzer 2004). Customer service performance measurement typically relies on "soft measures", such as customer perceptions of satisfaction (Chow, Heaver, and Henrikkson 1994). Because these measures are vague, "quantitative measures of performance are often preferred to such qualitative evaluations" (Beamon 1999, p. 275). Soft, perceptual measures must be captured through a survey process, and may limit the researcher's ability to infer relationships with any degree of confidence (Chow, Heaver, and Henrikkson 1994).

An important issue in measuring supply chain performance is the lack of holistic measures spanning all members (Holmberg 2000). End-to-end performance improvement is a primary rationale for implementing SCM processes (Bowersox, Closs, and Cooper 2002; Lambert, Cooper, and Pagh 1998; Mentzer 2004), and the combined performance of all supply chain members is the most appropriate measure (Chow, Henrikssen, and Heaver 1995). The most successful supply chains result when firms view the supply chain in its entirety; less effective supply chains are characterized by organizations lacking a holistic perspective (Anderson, Britt, and Favre 1997). Nevertheless, holistic measures of supply chain performance are missing from most supply chain research (Lambert and Pohlen 2001).

Suggested Approaches to Performance Measurement

Performance measurement in supply chains should incorporate the characteristics of inclusiveness, universality, measurability and consistency (Beamon 1999). Inclusive measures cover all pertinent aspects of performance. Development of an inclusive set of measures ensures performance is evaluated across multiple dimensions rather than relying on a single measure such as cost. Beamon argues inclusion is the most frequently violated characteristic of supply chain measures as many options are uni-dimensional. Universal measures allow for comparison of performance across various operating conditions. The measurability criterion implies the elements of performance must be captured accurately. Consistency requires performance measures be aligned with supply chain goals.

Mentzer and Konrad (1991) divide performance into measures of efficiency and effectiveness. Measures of efficiency and effectiveness are needed to properly capture performance in supply chains (Mentzer 2004; 2001). Efficient performance is "*the measure of how well the resources expended are utilized*" (Mentzer and Konrad 1991, p. 34), and is most often equated with the ability of the supply chain to provide the required level of service at the lowest cost (Mentzer 2004). Cost is often the performance measure of choice since cost data are readily available from financial systems (Beamon 1999).

Effectiveness is a measure of *the gap between customer expectations of performance and customer perceptions of the quality of the actual service delivered* (Sharma, Grewal, and Levy 1995). Effectiveness is considered a problematic theoretical construct (Rhea and Shrock 1987), because it cannot be directly observed (Bagozzi 1980). Objective judgments of effectiveness are not available to researchers since these measures are perceptual (Atkinson, Waterhouse, and Wells 1997). Despite the inobservability issue, effectiveness measures are becoming more prominent in supply chain research (Brewer and Speh 2000; Stank and Traichal 1998).

Brewer and Speh (2000) suggest multi-dimensional supply chain performance criteria can be captured using a balanced scorecard approach based on Kaplan and Norton's (1992) framework. The balanced scorecard uses performance measures across four dimensions: customer perspective, internal business process perspective, innovation and learning perspective, and financial perspective. The basic premise of the balanced scorecard is that the "framework balances the inclination to overemphasize [short-term] financial performance by incorporating metrics related to the underlying drivers of longterm profitability, namely, the business process measures, innovation and learning measures, and customer satisfaction measures" (Brewer and Speh 2000, p. 83). The authors offer 16 specific measures -- four in each of the four performance dimensions. A difficulty with the balanced scorecard as proposed is that several of the measures require comparison against the performance of competing supply chains. Obtaining competitive data in several of the suggested areas may be difficult.

Lambert and Pohlen (2001) offer a different approach built upon an economic value added (EVA) analysis. In essence, the authors propose an extensive analysis of each dyad in the supply chain to determine areas for improvement that may lead to an improved EVA for the dyad. The analysis is then combined across all dyads in the complete supply chain. A potential problem with this method is the opportunity to sub-optimize supply chain performance because the approach stresses continuous improvement at the dyadic level, rather than a holistic supply chain level.

The preceding discussion suggests three critical elements are necessary to ensure performance is measured appropriately. First, performance must be tied to supply chain strategy and goals. The existence of shared, measurable goals reduces the opportunity for managers to optimize their own organization's performance at the expense of the broader supply chain (Lambert and Pohlen 2001; Walker 1999). Second, and closely tied to point one, is the importance of developing holistic supply chain goals and metrics. Measurement limited to a level less than the entire supply chain will result in suboptimized performance as solutions are created to address problems identified through non-holistic measures. Finally, successful performance evaluation is multi-dimensional and requires coverage of at least efficiency and effectiveness. The strategic profit model approach is suggested as a method that addresses each of these requirements.

The Strategic Profit Model

Firm's ultimately evaluate their performance through their ability to produce financial results and increase shareholder value (Beamon 1999; Defee and Stank 2005). Efficiency, most closely associated with providing a given level of product or service quality at the lowest possible cost, can be pulled directly from financial statements. Effectiveness is most closely associated with the level of customer service delivered and may also be determined through financial analysis. The strategic profit model, shown in Figure 2.8, presents a method of analysis combining information from the income statement and balance sheet to develop key performance measures. Efficiency is measured through Return on Assets (ROA). The arrows corresponding to each financial element identify the direction of change in the financial numbers needed to improve efficiency. Effectiveness is measured through increased sales volume. Efficiency and effectiveness metrics developed from the strategic profit model are explained below.

Measures of Efficiency

ROA is the efficiency metric produced by the strategic profit model. ROA is enhanced by increasing Net Income faster than Total Assets. This is accomplished by one or more of several options, including increasing sales, reducing COGS, reducing SG&A, or reducing assets of any type. Operating costs including COGS and SG&A may actually rise, but so long as sales increase at a faster rate, GP and Net Income will increase, and even a minor increase in Net Income will produce an improvement in ROA so long as Total Assets do not increase.



Figure 2.8: The Strategic Profit Model

When sales are not increasing, the only way to improve ROA is by creating greater operating efficiency or reducing the asset base. For example, operating efficiency is improved by purchasing raw materials at a reduced cost, or reducing the cost of selling and distributing (such as reducing the size of the sales force or shipping product using a less expensive method). Reducing total assets has a similar effect. This may be accomplished by lowering inventory levels, collecting outstanding receivables more rapidly, or selling long-term assets used in the production process.

Measures of Effectiveness

Sales, specifically increases in sales, is the effectiveness metric found on the strategic profit model. Effectiveness is driven by delivering improved customer service, and growing sales are a direct result of increased customer satisfaction. Sales growth may occur because existing customers choose to shift purchases from competitors, or because new customers are acquired. Sales growth improves ROA as already described, thus increasing effectiveness may also have a direct impact on efficiency.

Because effectiveness is ultimately determined by customer perceptions of product and/or service quality (Sharma, Grewal, and Levy 1995), an effectiveness metric is needed to gauge customers' level of satisfaction. The *perfect order* criterion fills that requirement, and may be easily calculated in most instances. For an order to be "perfect" it must fulfill all customer expectations including being delivered on time, to the correct customer, with the right product (or service), in the right quantity, without defects, and without sustaining any damage in transit. A perfect order metric is simply the number of perfect orders divided by the total number of orders in a given time frame. Customers

must be solicited in order to obtain the number of perfect orders, and this may be accomplished by delivery personnel at the time the order is delivered or at a later time.

The approach to measuring efficiency and effectiveness described above most readily accommodates performance measurement for a single organization rather than for an entire supply chain. These metrics can also be summed across all organizations in a supply chain to determine holistic supply chain performance.

Summary of Performance Measurement

Supply chain performance is difficult to capture because it is found along multiple, often competing, dimensions such as efficiency and effectiveness. Holistic performance measures are difficult to find in practice because supply chain member organizations may be hesitant to share closely guarded operating and financial information. An approach to determining performance has been suggested based on the strategic profit model and perfect order criteria.

CONCEPTUALIZING THE THEORY OF SUPPLY CHAIN LEADERSHIP

The leadership literature describes the role individuals play as leaders and followers in groups, organizations, and societies. However, leadership is also found in the macro context of inter-organizational leader-follower relationships in the supply chain environment. Leadership is necessary to coordinate the efforts of multiple firms in a supply chain in order for the supply chain to function effectively (Bowersox and Closs 1996; Lambert, Stock, and Ellram 1998). While leadership is critical to supply chain success, SCL is not well understood. No theory exists to explain how a firm becomes the
supply chain leader, and maintains that role over time, and thus no basis exists to predict supply chain outcomes that are influenced by SCL.

Primary goals of this research initiative include developing definitions of supply chain leadership and supply chain followership, and formalizing a theory of supply chain leadership incorporating both SCL and SCF concepts. The definitions of SCL and SCF are developed in the next section by placing the concepts within a transformational leadership framework. The theoretical model of SCL is then presented and the supporting hypotheses are explained.

Establishing a Definition of Supply Chain Leadership

Inconsistent Uses of SCL

Ellram and Cooper (1990) equate supply chain leaders to channel captains (Stern and El-Ansary 1988), or channel leaders (Etgar 1977; 1978; Lusch and Ross 1985) from the marketing channels literature. One difficulty with this comparison is the level of analysis found in the channels literature. Emphasis in marketing channels is directed toward a single focal firm, typically a manufacturer. Channels theory is developed with the intention of maximizing the outcome for the focal firm, with less regard for negative impacts that may befall other channel members.

A second difference is seen in the importance of control and conflict management. In a channels context, a primary goal of the focal firm to assert its control over other channel members through the exercise of power (Gaski and Nevin 1985; Hunt and Nevin 1974). Channel leaders also utilize power to facilitate conflict management strategies (Gaski 1984). Conflict occurs when member organizations resist the channel

leader's attempts to maintain control over channel activities (Cadotte and Stern 1979; Etgar 1979; Molnar and Rogers 1979). The focus on control and conflict management place channel leaders in a world of arms-length, transactional relationships that differs from the more collaborative supply chain environment (Skjoett-Larson, Thernoe, and Andresen 2003). Thus, equating channel leaders to supply chain leaders is not appropriate.

SCL has been used in several other contexts. One use of the term is the label given to a firm that provides a source of best practices (Anon 2005). A more common use is in describing the best performing firm in an industry (Burnson 2003; Harrison and New 2002). In this regard, a recent joint study conducted by Accenture, Stanford and INSEAD finds supply chain leaders show growth in market capitalization 26% higher than average, while non-leaders experience reduced market capitalization (Byrne 2004). Occasionally SCL is applied to a firm that excels on a single dimension of performance such as cost leadership (Sankaran and Luxton 2003) or ECR leadership (Stank, Crum, and Arango 1999). SCL is also used to describe managers as thought leaders in the supply chain discipline (Fawcett and Magnan 2004; Williams 2004). A supply chain leader in each of these contexts is a distinction earned after something of value has been accomplished. The uses of SCL outlined above are not aligned with the view of leadership presented earlier, as a relationship-oriented process of influence used to create a vision, establish shared goals and encourage the accomplishment of those goals. A clarified definition of SCL is needed to guide development of the theory of SCL.

Placing SCL in the Proper Context

SCL has frequently been a label applied to the largest, most powerful firm in the supply chain. A supply chain leader may use its power to dominate supply chain members to achieve overall supply chain goals like increased collaboration or tighter integration (Maloni and Benton 2000). Wal-Mart, Dell, and Toyota are examples of supply chain leaders whose power is based on size and economic might. Power-based SCL can develop from other sources. A firm may become a leader because it possesses control over an information source critical to the success of other supply chain members. Retailers control access to mountains of customer purchase data that can be used by upstream firms to refine product designs and tailor production and distribution processes. The fact that retailers possess this information places many of them in a leadership position, and is consistent with the downstream shift of power downstream in supply chains (LaLonde and Masters 1994).

SCL is not predestined to the largest or most profitable organization in all cases. A leader may emerge when it develops a distinctive capability that benefits other supply chain members, or SCL may accrue to a smaller, specially skilled organization when a special expertise is lacking from an otherwise more powerful firm. For example, third party logistics (3PL) providers may find themselves in a position of leadership because of the more efficient product flow processes they have developed.

Creating the Definition of SCL

Four core elements of leadership were previously summarized in Table 2.3, and are now applied to supply chain organizations to guide creation of the definition of SCL.

First, the essence of leadership in a supply chain is found in the ability to *influence the actions of another organization* (Hoyt and Blascovich 2003; Yukl 2001). Second, SCL *identifies the supply chain leader and distinguishes it from supply chain follower organizations* (Shamir 1999). The supply chain leader should possess some power source that aids in identifying the leader (Janda 1960), but power is not necessarily legitimate power based on positional authority (Jacobs 1970).

Third, the supply chain leader is the organization that *identifies a need for change and creates a vision* of a better future as a rallying point for all supply chain members (Podsakoff et al. 1990). This criterion resonates from a recent qualitative analysis. The most frequently mentioned characteristic of supply chain leaders identified through a content analysis of a panel of supply chain experts is vision (Defee 2006). Several participant comments are telling in this regard:

"I probably see [supply chain] leadership as more of a *vision*...seeing where the market is headed, where the trends are going. How do we pioneer ideas or take some ideas outside the box and try and implement them? It's more a situation of seeing there are other ideas out there and trying to implement them."

"...I think it has to be from a *visionary*...after the team from an internal perspective gets the vision, understands the mission, and has the zeal, then they go out and partner with customers or suppliers, because in order to make it happen you can't do it by yourself. Very little supply chain excellence is done by a single organization...it's got to be a supplier with a company, a company with a customer that makes the significant breakthrough."

"...the leader [organization] also has to be a marketer. There's got to be some sort of a mantra, or almost a religious belief system, that the *vision* that the leader puts out...every organization understands it, not just intellectually, but viscerally as well. They feel it in their gut that this is the right thing to do."

Fourth, SCL should be seen as a *relational* concept (Graen and Uhl-Bien 1995; Kouzes and Posner 2004). Supply chain leaders and supply chain followers are coinfluencing (Grundstien-Amado 1999). Because the supply chain follower has an opportunity to influence the supply chain leader, there is a greater chance the leader and follower will create truly shared goals. Since supply chain followers have been given a chance to affect the leader's values, goals, and vision, followers may freely put forth extra effort to accomplish supply chain objectives.

The preceding discussion provides the background necessary to create the definition of SCL proposed in this dissertation as follows:

SCL is a relational concept between a supply chain leader and one or more supply chain follower organizations. SCL is characterized by the ability of one organization in a supply chain to exert influence over other member organizations in order to increase supply chain follower compliance with and commitment to the leader's vision for the entire supply chain. SCL influence extends over the establishment of shared values, standard operating procedures, and norms of behavior.

Similarly, and in line with the definition of followership presented earlier, SCF is

defined in this dissertation as follows:

SCF is a relational concept involving a supply chain leader and a supply chain follower in which the follower exhibits proactive interorganizational behaviors intended to help the extended supply chain achieve its goals. The supply chain follower organization chooses to work toward supply chain leader-defined goals so long as they align with holistic supply chain objectives. When supply chain leader goals diverge the supply chain follower takes the initiative to challenge the leader and attempt to re-align leader-directed actions with the interests of all supply chain members.

A Model of Supply Chain Leadership

The theoretical model of supply chain leadership is presented in Figure 2.9. The model is conceptualized under a SSP framework and uses transformational leadership theory to describe the SCL and SCF styles projected by leader and follower organizations. The combination of SCL and SCF styles is considered a manifestation of supply chain strategy (Defee and Stank 2005; Stank, Davis, and Fugate 2005), similar to the relational strategy suggested in a recent study (Rodrigues, Stank, and Lynch 2004). This section describes the model and presents the rationale for associated hypotheses.



Figure 2.9: Theoretical Model of Supply Chain Leadership

Distinguishing Characteristics of Supply Chain Leadership

Three characteristics are proposed to distinguish leaders from followers: power, vision, and need for control. Each of these has been previously described in the Leadership and Followership sections of this chapter. These are complex issues that need to be better understood. However, as antecedents they are outside the scope of this investigation and are not included in the theoretical model presented above. The concepts are noted here to reinforce the point that a distinction should be made between leaders and followers. Additional research is merited to clarify criteria that segment leaders from followers.

Transformational versus Transactional SCL

The *style* of SCL exhibited by supply chain leaders may differ depending on the goals of the leader, the challenges presented in the environment, and the type of relationship desired with members. SCL styles are considered a visible manifestation of supply chain strategy in this dissertation, and the leadership style exhibited will have a direct effect on the structures and performance that result in the supply chain (Defee and Stank 2005; Rodrigues, Stank, and Lynch 2004; Stank, Davis, and Fugate 2005; Stock, Greis, and Kasarda 1999).

Transformational leadership theory suggests supply chain leaders should be characterized by the transformational versus transactional behaviors they exhibit. Supply chain leaders should (a) be most effective when using more transformational behaviors (Bass 1999; Jung and Avolio 2000; Podsakoff et al. 1990), (b) encourage followers to establish mutually held goals (Burns 1978), and (c) create relationships that motivate supply chain followers to produce extra effort (Bass 1985a). Transformational supply chain leadership is characterized by three types of behavior: inspiration, intellectual stimulation, and individualized consideration.

Inspirational Behavior. Supply chain leaders clarify the mission of the supply chain and encourage members to "buy-in" to the mission (Bennis 1983). The mission may be based on supply chain leader values, or mutually developed values identified between supply chain members. The supply chain leader is responsible for articulating the vision of the future supply chain environment (Podsakoff et al. 1990). *Communication of the mission and values* are examples of idealized influence behavior (Hater and Bass 1988). Articulation of the vision, the plan for achieving the vision, and expectations of follower performance are examples of inspirational behavior (Avolio, Bass, and Jung 1999; Bass 1985a). The concepts of mission, values and vision are intertwined, and these leader behaviors often combine under a single factor (Avolio, Bass, and Jung 1999; Bass 1985a; Hater and Bass 1988). These behaviors are grouped under the heading of *inspiration* in this dissertation. Supply chain leaders that prefer to motivate supply chain followers through inspirational behaviors are classified as transformational supply chain leaders.

Intellectual Stimulation Behavior. Supply chain leaders must ensure operational problems are addressed. The supply chain leader may attempt to correct a problem on its own or choose to challenge supply chain followers to develop better solutions to supply chain issues (Kouzes and Posner 2004). Effective supply chain leaders look to leverage the distinctive skills and capabilities of members to achieve greater success and encourage creativity among supply chain followers by outlining a problem and engaging

in dialogue with members (Bass 1985a). This is an example of *intellectual stimulation* behavior. Supply chain leaders that prefer to *motivate creativity and innovation* throughout the supply chain by using intellectual stimulation behaviors are classified as transformational supply chain leaders.

Idealized Consideration Behavior. Individual supply chain followers possess different skills, and have different organizational goals. Effective supply chain leaders understand that each member organization has unique needs, and approaches each interorganizational relationship separately (Sashkin and Burke 1990). Some supply chain followers require mentoring to develop needed capabilities; other supply chain followers desire the opportunity to take on new challenges facing the supply chain. These are examples of *individualized consideration* behaviors (Avolio, Bass, and Jung 1999; Bass 1985a; Hater and Bass 1988). In either case, the supply chain leader must understand and *appreciate the distinct needs of each member* organization and adjust each relationship accordingly. Supply chain leaders that approach inter-organizational development activities based on the unique needs of each follower are classified as transformational supply chain leaders.

Not all leader-follower relationships require a transformational approach. A consistent finding in the transformational leadership literature is that all leaders utilize transactional behaviors (Avolio, Bass, and Jung 1999; Bycio, Hackett, and Allen 1995; Den Hartog, Muijen, and Koopman 2001; Jung and Avolio 2000). Certain relationships are best supported by simple, direct transactional exchanges rather than more elaborate and time consuming transformational behaviors. Contingent reward and management-by-exception (Bass 1985a) are transactional behaviors supply chain leaders may exhibit.

Contingent Reward Behavior. Supply chain leaders deal with other members transactionally through *contracts* that designate the nature of the exchange between the parties (Dwyer and Oh 1988). Contracts are a typical governance device found in supply chains (Rinehart et al. 2004), and a contract exists between supply chain members, whether verbal or written, in essentially all inter-organizational relationships (Williamson 1979). Contracts specify terms that spell out the rewards and punishments applicable to each member party, providing a means for the supply chain leader to manage supply chain relations using *contingent reward and punishment* behaviors. Supply chain leaders that prefer to manage inter-organizational relations primarily through the establishment of contracts are classified as transactional supply chain leaders.

Management-by-exception Behavior. Another transactional behavior found in supply chains is *formal exception reporting* provided by members. This type of reporting is facilitated by inter-connected information systems that provide visibility to all supply chain members (Kent and Mentzer 2003; Mentzer 2001). Exception reporting may be used by a supply chain leader to quickly identify operational problems that can lead to reduced performance. Exception reporting is considered a form of *management-by-exception* available to the supply chain leader. Supply chain leaders preferring to manage inter-organizational relations primarily through exception reporting are classified as transactional supply chain leaders. Thus, hypothesis 1 is:

- **H1**: Transformational supply chain leaders are distinguished from transactional supply chain leaders by the behaviors exhibited:
- **H1a**: *Transformational supply chain leaders* more frequently exhibit transformational behaviors, including greater use of inspiration, intellectual stimulation, and individualized consideration.

H1b: *Transactional supply chain leaders* exhibit transformational behaviors less frequently, and primarily utilize the transactional behaviors of contingent reward and management-by exception.

Transformational versus Transactional SCF

The importance of supply chain followers to supply chain success should not be underestimated. Multiple supply chain follower organizations support a single supply chain leader organization in most situations and their greater number suggests followers perform the majority of tasks. An exception resides in highly vertically integrated supply chains where activities across multiple echelons are performed by the supply chain leader. This forms a boundary condition to the theory of SCL not explored in this dissertation. A major premise of the theory of SCL is that supply chain followers can be categorized as transformational or transactional by the behaviors they exhibit, as with the supply chain leader classification scheme. Five dimensions describing a transformational follower were presented in Figure 2.5, including maintaining an independent mindset, critical thinking ability, willingness to assume responsibility, desire to collaborate, and a deep commitment to the organization. All followers should exhibit these characteristics to a greater or lesser degree. These five dimensions are used to differentiate transformational from transactional supply chain followers.

Transformational supply chain followers maintain an *independent mindset*. Managers in this type of organization hold on strongly to the values of the organization and believe the organization's approach to conducting business is "right". Transformational supply chain followers will attempt to explain their own value set to the supply chain leader and work with the leader to create a mutually agreeable set of values before committing to the vision articulated by the supply chain leader. Establishing shared mission, vision and values with the supply chain leader is not a priority for transactional supply chain followers. Transactional supply chain followers may demonstrate less commitment to their own organization's value set, and accept the supply chain leader's mission and values without question.

Transformational supply chain followers demonstrate a *critical thinking* ability concerning supply chain activities. Transformational follower organizations look for better ways to carry out supply chain processes, and freely offer ideas and constructive criticism to the supply chain leader and other members in the desire to improve overall supply chain performance. Championing new ideas is a central characteristic of transformational supply chain followers. Transformational supply chain followers are valuable contributors because their efforts target improvements in supply chain-wide performance. Transactional supply chain followers resist change initiatives, and strive to optimize existing processes rather than attempt significant change.

Transformational supply chain followers *assume responsibility* for their own performance and proactively identify issues within their span of control. Once their own organization's performance reaches an acceptable level, this type of follower looks to take on additional tasks. Transactional supply chain followers do not proactively seek out additional responsibilities unless they are tied to immediate rewards. This type of organization may react positively to specific directions provided by the supply chain leader and will rarely question the leader's decision.

Transformational follower organizations are more *collaborative* than transactional organizations. This SCF style routinely reaches out to other member organizations,

developing strong relationships that may be leveraged in current and future collaborative efforts. In comparison, transactional supply chain followers will be less collaborative, and when choosing to collaborate will focus on collaborations where immediate rewards (or punishments for failure) are administered by the supply chain leader.

Transformational supply chain followers consistently demonstrate a *commitment to the supply chain as a whole*. This commitment is rooted in the creation of a shared purpose with the supply chain leader established through the vision. Transformational followers will challenge the supply chain leader if that organization makes decisions not in the best interest of holistic supply chain performance. Transactional supply chain followers are most concerned with improving their own organization's performance and have only a limited interest in improving supply chain processes that may benefit other members. This leads to hypothesis 2:

- **H2**: Transformational supply chain followers are distinguished from transactional supply chain followers by the behaviors exhibited:
- **H2a**: *Transformational supply chain followers* more frequently exhibit transformational behaviors, including a greater degree of independence, critical thinking, assumption of responsibility, collaboration, and commitment to supply chain success.
- **H2b**: *Transactional supply chain followers* exhibit transformational behaviors less frequently, as demonstrated through passive acceptance of leader direction, resistance to change, avoidance of extra responsibilities, collaboration limited to organizational gain, and commitment to own organization performance results.

Supply Chain Networks

SCL is a relational concept of reciprocal influence between supply chain leaders and supply chain followers. To support the definition, leaders and followers are grouped into *supply chain networks* identified by the combinations of leadership and followership style reflected in Figure 2.10. This conceptualization of the supply chain facilitates the development of supply chain structural and performance hypotheses.

Transformational supply chain networks are defined as supply chains composed of a transformational supply chain leader and multiple transformational supply chain followers. Transformational supply chain networks are populated by organizations working toward a shared vision of an improved future supply chain (Bass 1985a; Podsakoff et al. 1990). Transformational supply chain networks are viewed holistically by members working collectively to improve overall supply chain performance (Kouzes and Posner 1987; 2004). Operational flexibility becomes an important element necessary for dealing with future uncertainties. Thus, the members will tend to focus more heavily on effectiveness as the primary performance criterion (Hoyt and Blascovich 2003; Jung and Avolio 2000).

	Supply Chain <u>Leadership</u>	
	Transformational	Transactional
Transformational Supply Chain <u>Followership</u> Transactional	Transformational Supply Chain Network	Mis-Matched Supply Chain Network
	3 Mis-Matched Supply Chain Network	4 Transactional Supply Chain Network

Figure 2.10: Supply Chain Network Classification

Transactional supply chain networks are defined as supply chains comprised of a transactional supply chain leader and multiple transactional supply chain followers. The primary goal is to streamline processes to ensure low operating costs (Jung and Avolio 2000; Masi and Cooke 2000). Each organization maintains its own set of priorities, and strives to negotiate contractual relationships that optimize individual organizational performance (Keller and Szilagyi 1976). Shared goals are developed only to the extent contracts align around common operating requirements. The supply chain leader has the opportunity to establish rules and policies that favor its own performance outcomes over those of supply chain followers and/or total supply chain results. Efficiency is the primary success criterion in purely transactional supply chain networks. Accommodating change is more difficult than in a transformational network because system and process flexibility may not have been built in originally.

Supply chain networks may not include alignment of transformational supply chain leaders and followers or transactional supply chain leaders and followers. These supply chains are considered *mismatched supply chains*. A transformational supply chain leader may desire greater effectiveness over time through a continuous change program, but when teamed with a group of transactional supply chain followers the resulting supply chain may experience inefficient performance as members are encouraged to make changes to otherwise streamlined processes. Lacking commitment to an agreed upon future vision, the follower organizations will not enthusiastically pursue the change role, and inefficiencies may result throughout an elongated transformation process. A transactional supply chain leader may target efficiency, but when teamed with a group of transformational supply chain followers the resulting supply chain may produce ineffective performance as members spend valuable time and effort lobbying the leader for changes they perceive as necessary. Mis-matched networks are not the focus of this investigation and are not covered in depth in the following sections.

Supply Chain Networks and Structural Outcomes

Four elements of supply chain structure describe the organizing framework of the supply chain in this dissertation, including information availability, communications, decision-making authority and rewards (Defee and Stank 2005). Each structural element is posited as closely associated with either transformational or transactionally-oriented organizations. The hypothesized supply chain network structural outcomes are summarized in Figure 2.11.

	Supply Chain <u>Leadership</u>	
	Transformational	Transactional
Transformational	 <u>Effective Supply Chain</u> Wide info. availability Informal communication Decentralized decisions Holistic rewards 	Ineffective Not tested in this dissertation
Supply Chain <u>Followership</u> Transactional	<i>Inefficient</i> <i>Not tested in this dissertation</i>	 <u>Efficient Supply Chain</u> Limited info. availability Formal communication Centralized decisions Firm-specific rewards

Figure 2.11: Predicted Supply Chain Structural Matrix

Mentzer (2004, p. 167) notes that "a key aspect of SCM is the ability to make strategic decisions quickly, based on accurate information". Information systems form the backbone of most supply chains (Cooke 1999), and are a critical integrating mechanism (Kent and Mentzer 2003). Collaboration among members is facilitated by the existence of highly capable information systems (Sanders and Premus 2002; 2005). Information systems determine the degree of *information availability* present in the supply chain. Information availability is "the capability to exchange information with internal and external supply chain members in a timely, responsive, and useable format" (Defee and Stank 2005, p. 35).

Supply chain information systems are characterized along two dimensions. *Wide information availability* is found when most or all supply chain members have access to supply chain volume and variability information such as customer ordering patterns and supply or production constraints. Wide information availability helps the supply chain respond early to supply and demand problems (Mentzer 2004), and allows the supply chain to become more agile (Goldsby, Griffis, and Roath 2006). Supply chains are more efficient and effective when members share information immediately through interconnected information systems (Bowersox, Closs, and Stank 1999; Mentzer 2001). Supply chains providing wider information availability for members should be more closely associated with transformational supply chain networks.

Limited information availability occurs in supply chains when members view their procurement, order, and inventory information as proprietary. Information may only be made available as other members agree to make a concession that benefits the organization possessing the information. As a converse to the points above, supply chains with limited information availability may be less responsive and less agile. Supply chains that limit information availability among members should be more closely associated with transactional supply chain networks

Communication is the glue that holds a supply chain network together (Mohr and Nevin 1990). Oral and written communications are highly important SCM skills (Gammelgaard and Larson 2001). Communication among managers from multiple supply chain organizations is important to successful SCM (Large and Gimenez 2006). Trust and relationship closeness is created by consistent communication among supply chain partners (Chu and Fang 2006; Hutt et al. 2000). Member satisfaction increases with improved quality of communication (Mohr and Spekman 1994), and relationship performance improves with communication frequency (Morris, Brunyee, and Page 1998).

Communication is characterized along two dimensions. *Formal communication* results from formal authority relationships and formal mechanisms for the coordination of work (Johnson et al. 1994). Formal communication generally flows from authority. The type and frequency of formal communication is established by the supply chain leader, and is facilitated by supply chain information systems used to share data across members (Mentzer 2004). Formal communication allows a powerful supply chain leader to maintain control over supply chain follower activities, and can therefore be seen as a type of management-by-exception behavior. Thus, formal communication should be more closely associated with transactional supply chain networks.

Informal communication occurs outside the formal communication flow and facilitates group cohesiveness (Johnson et al. 1994). Less formal communication among boundary spanning managers aids in the creation of shared goals (Ring and Van De Ven

1994), and facilitates tighter integration across member organizations (Pagell 2004). Because it is not limited to a fixed schedule, informal communication may be the fastest conduit of critical information. Informal communication is flexible, associating it more closely with transformational supply chain networks.

The locus of *decision-making authority* describes where decisions are made in the supply chain, and is characterized along two dimensions. *Centralized decision making* represents the more traditional approach. Centralizing decisions requires the supply chain leader to retain responsibility for more decisions effecting supply chain operations. Decisions are centralized to increase control over supply chain activities (Droge and Germain 1989; Stank and Traichal 1998), and improve the consistency of supply chain operations (Defee and Stank 2005). Because centralized decision-making is intended to increase control over supply chain activities is intended to increase control over supply chain associated with transactional supply chain networks.

Decentralized decision-making pushes authority away from the supply chain leader and places greater responsibility on supply chain followers. Better decisions are possible when handled locally because managers possess intimate knowledge of the issues (Nault 1998). Quick resolution of operational problems is an essential element of effective supply chains (Mollenkopf, Gibson, and Ozanne 2000). Giving increased decision-making authority to supply chain followers facilitates rapid decision making and allows more creative, flexible solutions to emerge as experience outside the supply chain leader are utilized. Increased responsiveness implies decentralized decision-making should be more closely associated with transformational supply chain networks. *Rewards* are the compensation each member receives for carrying out their responsibilities. Rewards have traditionally been designed to maximize the benefit of the organization developing the compensation plan. Although the literature has consistently concluded rewards need to target holistic supply chain performance (Bowersox, Closs, and Cooper 2002; Holmberg 2000; Lambert and Pohlen 2001; Mentzer 2004), few supply chains have instituted such a system and continue to rely on firm-specific performance to determine rewards (Brewer and Speh 2000). *Firm-specific rewards* refer to compensation accruing to a supply chain member based on that firm's ability to optimize its own performance. Firm-specific rewards are frequently used since many firms are hesitant to share financial and operational information with supply chain partners (Lambert and Pohlen 2001). Firm-specific reward structures incent supply chain organizations to maximize their own performance, perhaps at the expense of other members (Bowersox, Closs, and Stank 1999). The focus on maximizing organizational rewards links firm-specific rewards more closely to transactional supply chain networks.

Holistic supply chain rewards provide compensation to all members based on overall supply chain performance results rather than individual organization results. Members should be compensated based upon their own specific contribution to the achievement of holistically stated goals. Holistic reward structures may require managers to sub-optimize their own organization's performance for the good of the supply chain (Bowersox, Closs, and Stank 1999; Cooper, Lambert, and Pagh 1997). Replacing individual (firm-specific) goals with larger group (supply chain) goals is a transformational outcome, and the establishment of holistic goals and rewards is posited as a transformational network outcome. The preceding discussion leads to hypothesis 3:

- **H3**: The greater the degree of transformational supply chain strategy exhibited by a supply chain network:
- H3a: the wider the information availability among members.
- H3b: the greater the degree of informal communications.
- H3c: the greater the degree of decentralized decision-making.
- H3d: the greater the degree of holistic rewards.

Supply Chain Networks and Performance

Supply chains exhibiting structures that fit supply chain strategies, should produce better performance than poorly aligned supply chains (Chow, Henrikssen, and Heaver 1995; Defee and Stank 2005). This outcome should be true for both transformational and transactional supply chain networks. Mis-matched supply chain networks should underperform more aligned networks. The hypothesized supply chain network performance outcomes are summarized in Figure 2.12.

Supply Chain		
Leadership		
Transformational	Transactional	
 <u>Effective Supply Chain</u> SC-wide performance Efficiency: Higher Effectiveness: Higher 	Effective: Lowest Efficient: Low Not tested in this dissertation	
Effective: Low Efficient: Lowest Not tested in this dissertation	 <u>Efficient Supply Chain</u> SC-wide performance Efficiency: Lower Effectiveness: Lower 	
	Effective Supply Chain • SC-wide performance • Efficiency: Higher • Effectiveness: Higher Effective: Low Efficient: Lowest Not tested in this dissertation	

Figure 2.12: Predicted Supply Chain Performance Matrix

Efficient Holistic Performance

A problem found in past examinations of supply chain performance is the measurement of holistic performance has rarely been attempted and firm-specific measures have often been substituted (Lambert and Pohlen 2001). A primary purpose of this dissertation is to investigate holistic supply chain performance, and therefore total supply chain performance is the performance outcome of interest. As stated previously, supply chain performance is captured along the two dimensions of efficiency and effectiveness (Mentzer and Konrad 1991).

Transformational supply chain networks should produce more efficient performance than transactional supply chain networks because supply chain processes are evaluated holistically rather than as a series of dyadic exchanges. A holistic view provides a greater opportunity to drive out inefficiencies that cannot be seen when viewed from a dyadic perspective (Brewer and Speh 2000). The lack of supply chainwide performance metrics encourages each organization in transactional supply chain networks to optimize its own performance (Lambert and Pohlen 2001). This suggests supply chain-wide efficient performance will be sub-optimized in transactional networks. Transformational networks are posited to develop transformational structures including wider information availability, informal communications, decentralized decision-making, and holistic rewards. These transformational structural elements should have a positive effect on efficient supply chain performance. This leads to hypothesis 4:

- **H4a**: The wider the information availability exhibited in the supply chain the greater the efficient holistic performance.
- **H4b**: The greater the degree of informal communications exhibited in the supply chain the greater the efficient holistic performance.

- **H4c**: The greater the degree of decentralized decision-making exhibited in the supply chain the greater the efficient holistic performance.
- **H4d**: The greater the degree of holistic rewards exhibited in the supply chain the greater the efficient holistic performance.

Effective Holistic Performance

Transformational supply chain networks focus on effective operations supporting high end-customer service levels (Hoyt and Blascovich 2003). This is facilitated by holistic goals and reward structures (Bass 1985a; Defee and Stank 2005). The emphasis on supply chain-wide goals and rewards motivates transformational supply chain leaders and followers to work collaboratively to create innovative process improvements (Hater and Bass 1988). A collective improvement approach should result in more effective processes because the best thinking of multiple organizations has been poured into the design, as opposed to the abilities of only the supply chain leader in a transactional supply chain. This suggests transformational networks will be more effective than transactional networks. The transformational supply chain network structures recapped above should have a positive effect on effective supply chain performance. This leads to hypothesis 5:

- **H5a**: The wider the information availability exhibited in the supply chain the greater the effective holistic performance.
- **H5b**: The greater the degree of informal communications exhibited in the supply chain the greater the effective holistic performance.
- **H5c**: The greater the degree of decentralized decision-making exhibited in the supply chain the greater the effective holistic performance.
- **H5d**: The greater the degree of holistic rewards exhibited in the supply chain the greater the effective holistic performance.

Summary of the Theory of SCL

A premise of the theory of SCL outlined in this section is that the concept of leadership is appropriately assigned to organizations within a supply chain. The theory developed in this dissertation is the first known use of leadership theory, specifically transformational leadership theory, in this broader context. This section presented definitions of SCL and SCF derived from definitions taken from the leadership literature. The conceptual model of SCL presented in Figure 2.9 has been explained through four supporting hypotheses.

CHAPTER 3 – RESEARCH METHOD AND THEORY TESTING

This chapter explains the research methodology chosen to test the theory of SCL and associated hypotheses described in chapter 2. First, the hypotheses are reviewed and the theoretical model is presented in the form of a structural equation model. Next the research design is described, including the sampling plan and data collection approach within a simulation context. This is followed by a description of the measurement development process, including construct operationalization and scale development. The pre-testing plan is presented with an emphasis on the scale purification process. Finally, the data collection approach is outlined and the method of analysis using structural equation modeling is described.

STRUCTURAL EQUATION MODEL

This section presents the structural equation model derived from the conceptual model of SCL introduced in chapter 2. The hypotheses supporting the model are:

- **H1**: Transformational supply chain leaders are distinguished from transactional supply chain leaders by the behaviors exhibited:
- H1a: *Transformational supply chain leaders* more frequently exhibit transformational behaviors, including greater use of inspiration, intellectual stimulation, and individualized consideration.
- **H1b**: *Transactional supply chain leaders* exhibit transformational behaviors less frequently, and primarily utilize the transactional behaviors of contingent reward and management-by exception.
- **H2**: Transformational supply chain followers are distinguished from transactional supply chain followers by the behaviors exhibited:
- H2a: *Transformational supply chain followers* more frequently exhibit transformational behaviors, including a greater degree of independence, critical thinking, assumption of responsibility, collaboration, and commitment to supply chain success.
- H2b: *Transactional supply chain followers* exhibit transformational behaviors less frequently, as demonstrated through passive acceptance of leader direction, resistance to change, avoidance of

extra responsibilities, collaboration limited to organizational gain, and commitment to own organization performance results.

- **H3**: The greater the degree of *transformational supply chain strategy* exhibited by a supply chain network:
- H3a: the wider the information availability among members.
- H3b: the greater the degree of informal communications.
- H3c: the greater the degree of decentralized decision-making.
- H3d: the greater the degree of holistic rewards.
- **H4a**: The wider the information availability exhibited in the supply chain the greater the efficient holistic performance.
- **H4b**: The greater the degree of informal communications exhibited in the supply chain the greater the efficient holistic performance.
- **H4c**: The greater the degree of decentralized decision-making exhibited in the supply chain the greater the efficient holistic performance.
- **H4d**: The greater the degree of holistic rewards exhibited in the supply chain the greater the efficient holistic performance.
- **H5a**: The wider the information availability exhibited in the supply chain the greater the effective holistic performance.
- **H5b**: The greater the degree of informal communications exhibited in the supply chain the greater the effective holistic performance.
- **H5c**: The greater the degree of decentralized decision-making exhibited in the supply chain the greater the effective holistic performance.
- **H5d**: The greater the degree of holistic rewards exhibited in the supply chain the greater the effective holistic performance.

The model identifies 10 latent exogenous (independent) variables and seven latent endogenous (dependent) variables. The exogenous variables are the five dimensions of SCL (inspirational behavior, intellectual stimulation, individualized consideration, contingent reward, and management-by-exception) and the five dimensions of SCF (independent mindset, critical thinking, assume responsibility, collaboration, and supply chain commitment). SCL is a second order formative construct formed by the five dimensions of SCL. Similarly, SCF is a second order formative construct comprised of the five dimensions of SCF. The relationships among the 17 constructs are demonstrated by the directional paths representing the nomological network shown in Figure 3.1.

RESEARCH DESIGN

Supply chains are complex systems and the interaction of the multiple entities makes the phenomenon difficult to effectively model. The supply chain is a *noisy* environment prone to the impact of extraneous forces. The research design selected must deal with this complexity and extract variance associated with the variables of interest while limiting the effect of external influences. An experimental design is employed in this dissertation in order to capture the essence of the complex supply chain phenomenon presented in Figure 3.1.

Experimental designs attempt to maximize systematic variance attributable to the independent variable(s), control extraneous systematic variance, and minimize error variance (Kerlinger and Lee 2000). Experimental design provides the control necessary to investigate complex relationships and is appropriate for exploring the theory of SCL. This section first explains the simulation context presented to participants and then describes the sampling plan and data collection methods proposed for testing the theory of supply chain leadership. Both sampling and data collection are accomplished within the boundaries of the simulated supply chain environment.

Simulated Environment

"Simulation refers to a broad collection of methods and applications to mimic the behavior of real systems" (Kelton, Sadowski, and Sadowski 1998, p. 3). Simulation is a tool available to researchers that may provide the most realistic analysis of problems



(Mentzer 1989). A frequently used type of simulation is *analytical* (Bowersox and Closs 1989), or *logical* (Kelton, Sadowski, and Sadowski 1998). This class of simulations uses numerical analysis to develop a near-optimal solution to a problem of interest when mathematical optimization techniques are too difficult to achieve. Computer simulations are found under this category. Another type of simulation is the use of *iconic models* (Kelton, Sadowski, and Sadowski 1998) to produce a physical replica of a system. A flight simulator is an example of this category of simulation. The beer game is another example of this type of simulation that has seen extensive use within the logistics discipline. Iconic modeling is the type of simulation used in this dissertation.

The Supply Chain Value game (Stank 2003) provides the simulated supply chain environment. The game has become an integral part of supply chain executive education courses taught at several major universities in the United States since its development in the mid-1990s. In the game, each participant is assigned a role in one of multiple organizations in a supply chain. Each organization is responsible for a supply chain function such as raw materials supplier, inbound logistics, manufacturing, warehousing, outbound logistics, and end-customer. The structure of the game and participant roles are highlighted in Figure 3.2. A typical game involves three suppliers, up to seven transportation companies, one manufacturer, one distributor, and three end-customers. The manufacturer and distributor organizations are comprised of multiple roles. The game can be adjusted to accommodate as few as 12 to more than 30 participants. The game requires two separate runs, and is generally completed in approximately four hours. More information about the conduct of the game is covered later in this chapter.



Figure 3.2: Supply Chain Value Game Structure

Sample

The intent of this dissertation is to gain a greater understanding of interorganizational supply chain phenomena, specifically the role of SCL and SCF on supply chain structural and performance outcomes. Therefore, targeted participants are experienced managers and executives currently occupying positions that contain significant supply chain content. The unit of analysis is an organization within a supply chain network. Each participant assumes the role of an organization in a supply chain, as explained above. Responses are assessed by measuring each participant's evaluation of the model variables in the context of the behaviors observed across all the other organizations in the supply chain environment. Specifically, participants are asked to identify the supply chain leader in the simulated supply chain which may or may not be their own organization, and then answer questions about the supply chain leader, and their own role as a supply chain follower (if the participant does not consider him/herself to be the leader). The structure of the simulation does not influence participants to select any specific company as the leader. The determination of the leader is based solely on each participant's experience within the simulation.

Knowledge of supply chain activities and success criteria is an important characteristic of participants. Including participants in the simulation that do not have experience with supply chain relationships could cause serious validity questions for any results, since unknowledgeable participants may react in arbitrary ways. Therefore, the participants are drawn from executive education courses conducted at the University of Tennessee and from a customized executive education module delivered to a sponsor firm of the University of Tennessee Supply Chain Management and Strategy Forum. Participants in both settings are almost exclusively experienced managers and executives that have a supply chain-oriented role in their own organization. Typical positions held by participants include purchasing manager, merchandising manager, logistics manager, manufacturing planning and scheduling manager, transportation planning manager, traffic manager, and other roles found in the supply chain environment. Professionals in these and similar positions are preferred because they are expected to possess a higher degree of knowledge concerning supply chain phenomena than their peers in administrative support functions (e.g., human resources, finance and accounting).

The planned sampling frame should include participants from a broad range of industries, and organizations from multiple supply chain echelons. The nature of the executive education courses used should provide a significant cross-section of participants. Work history information is captured from each participant to provide

127

insight into the depth of their supply chain experience. This is important in terms of external validity (Cook and Campbell 1979) and generalizability of findings.

Approach to Data Collection

Supply chains are acknowledged as consisting of three or more organizations (Mentzer 2001). Despite this view, research into supply chain phenomena has been primarily single-firm or dyadic in nature. Very little research has been published that attempts to capture the complexities of three or more companies working together. The use of an experimental design incorporating participative simulation selected in this dissertation is an appropriate method for incorporating the complexity of multiple organizations interacting in a common supply chain environment.

Experimentation is a common research method found throughout both the physical and behavioral sciences. Experimental designs are appropriate for testing theory because they provide control over the variables of interest, and the precision afforded by an uncontaminated, less "noisy" environment contributes to relatively high internal validity of the results (Kerlinger and Lee 2000). The manipulation used in this dissertation is the presence or absence of precise customer order information. This is described in more detail in the following paragraphs.

The simulation consists of two separate runs. Each run includes seven decision periods, each three minutes in length. During each run the participants attempt to optimize performance based on the conditions presented within that scenario. In the initial run participants are provided little guidance on how best to deal with other supply chain members, other than an overview of the responsibilities of each entity. No information is provided to members concerning overall supply chain goals or order characteristics. Customers place large or small orders based upon random selection criteria (i.e., cards with order values are sorted prior to beginning the simulation and drawn throughout the game by customer participants). Customer orders are placed once per decision period, and all supply chain entities must react within that time frame. The arbitrary ordering patterns drive production, shipment expediting, and inventory level decisions across each of the upstream members. Order quantities are passed upstream from customers to the distribution center, and forecasted quantities drive manufacturing, materials management and procurement activities.

In the first run, participants at each echelon only understand order patterns as they are presented to them by the participant at the next downstream echelon or by forecastdriven plans. Past research has established that when order information is passed up a supply chain in this "staged" manner the information is subject to distortion (Watson and Zheng 2005). This phenomenon is referred to as *the bullwhip effect* and results in the growth of inventory at each stage in the supply chain as each organization adds its own estimate of safety stock to actual customer ordering levels. Performance is gauged at the end of the run by quantifying inventory level trends, the percentage of expedited shipments, and the percentage of perfect orders (i.e., right product, right quantity, on time, with no defects or damage) for the total supply chain.

The second run follows the first using the same rules and random end-customer ordering patterns, but additional information is provided to all members concerning the precise number and size of customer orders placed. This is accomplished by projecting actual order quantities on a screen visible to all participants as each customer order is captured. This immediate sharing of customer order information is the key factor differentiating run 1 from run 2.

Participants are given a questionnaire to complete at the end of each run. The questionnaire is designed to tap each of the variables found in the structural model presented in Figure 3.1. The 10 first-order variables that form the second-order SCL and SCF constructs are anticipated to consist of three-to-six item scales. The four supply chain structural elements examined -- information availability, communication, decision-making, and rewards -- are each also expected to utilize three-to-six item scales. Performance values will be captured directly from the simulation outcomes. Efficiency is measured by the percentage of expedited orders at the end of each run.

MEASUREMENT DEVELOPMENT

Before measures can be developed, the constructs of interest must first be operationalized. The elements of each construct have been developed in chapter 2 based upon the extant literature. Each of the constructs uses multi-item measures in order to increase reliability, decrease measurement error, provide greater distinction across participant responses, and minimize the specificity associated with each item when multiple items are averaged (Churchill 1979). A range of three-to-five items is recommended per construct to effectively measure it and analyze it using structural equation modeling (Anderson and Gerbing 1988). For pre-testing purposes the initial item pool is substantially larger. This section explains the development of each of the 14 perceptual scales and the objectively obtained performance measures.

Scale Availability

Adaptations of measures introduced in the Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire (MLQ) Form 5X (Avolio and Bass 2004) serve as the primary source of items for the five dimensions of SCL. This version of the MLQ provides five items per dimension. A few items were also identified from an earlier version of the MLQ, Form 5R (Bass and Avolio 1990). Additional items that have been identified in previous research as highly valid and reliable have also been included (Tejeda, Scandura, and Pillai 2001). Several of the SCF items were developed from a questionnaire developed by Kelley (1992). Although several articles have been published that address aspects of supply chain structure, no scales were found that tap the constructs of supply chain information availability, communications, decision-making, and rewards exactly as they are defined in this investigation. Several items, however, were adapted from pre-existing scales. These include previous attempts to capture logistics quality and flexibility (Fawcett, Stanley, and Smith 1997), formal and informal communication (Li and Dant 1997; Menon, Jaworski, and Kohli 1997; Mohr, Fisher, and Nevin 1996), organizational centralization (Williams 1994), and centralization of authority and rewards (Mollenkopf, Gibson, and Ozanne 2000). The remaining items used to assess these constructs were developed by the author as described below.

Construct Operationalization and Development

Existing (adapted) measures were augmented by the creation of up to six new items for each construct based on the operationalized construct definitions to develop a pool of items for subsequent review and evaluation during the pre-test. Item development followed the methods suggested by Churchill (1979), Dunn, Seaker, and Waller (1994), Mentzer and Kahn (1995), and Mentzer and Flint (1997). The goal of item development was to ensure each item tapped the domain of the construct (Mentzer and Flint 1997) and was not vague or ambiguous (Dillman 2000). As the questions were created to measure participants' views of supply chain leader and follower behaviors, a Likert scale was used to quantify responses (DeVellis 1991). A 5-point scale was selected for all measures to conform to the format utilized by the MLQ.

The pool of items was reviewed by six subject matter experts who evaluated the items in terms of item specificity, representativeness, readability, and face validity. Based on the experts' feedback, several items were dropped and others were reworded to more closely capture the precise meaning of each construct. Once this step was complete, a draft of the pre-test survey was developed and reviewed by four mid- and senior-level supply chain managers and two additional subject matter experts. The manager's comments concerning item specificity, representativeness, readability, and face validity resulted in the elimination of four items and minor rewording of three items. The final set of items used in the pre-test instrument is presented in Appendix A. The source of each item is shown in the appendix, along with a notation of whether the item is reworded from its original source (i.e., adapted rather than adopted), and if the item is reverse coded. The final version of the instrument used in the pre-test was assembled using the input provided by the eight subject matter experts and four supply chain managers. The pre-test survey instrument is also included in Appendix A. Definitions of each first and second-order construct are presented next.
Supply Chain Leadership

SCL occurs within a co-influencing relationship between a supply chain leader and one or more supply chain follower organizations. SCL accrues to *the organization able to exert the greater influence over other supply chain members in order to increase follower compliance with and commitment to the leader's vision for the entire supply chain.* SCL is a formative construct determined by the three dimensions of transformational leadership and two dimensions of transactional leadership described in Chapter 2, each operationalized below. The intent of the construct is to classify supply *chain* leader organizations along a transformational-transactional continuum. The majority of measures used in the pre-test were adapted from the MLQ Forms 5X and 5R (Avolio and Bass 2004; Bass and Avolio 1990).

Inspirational Behavior

Inspirational behavior (IBL) occurs when *the supply chain leader serves as a role model by espousing important values, beliefs and a sense of mission to supply chain followers*. It is operationalized as supply chain manager perceptions of the supply chain leader's role modeling behaviors. In the pre-test questionnaire IBL is represented by 10 items. The questions tap multiple components of supply chain leader behavior, including providing a clear sense of purpose through the articulation of the vision of a desirable future, defining a path for achieving that future, and setting high performance expectations.

Intellectual Stimulation

Intellectual stimulation (ISL) occurs when the supply chain leader helps followers become more creative and innovative by getting them to question accepted methods of 133 *solving problems*. It is operationalized as supply chain manager perceptions of the supply chain leader's ability to get supply chain followers to question the methods they use and improve upon them with creative and innovation ideas. In the pre-test questionnaire ISL is represented by eight items. The questions reflect supply chain leader behaviors that encourage and assist followers to break from past ways of doing things and seek innovative approaches to improve supply chain performance. The encouragement aspect of ISL is found in questions asking about the supply chain leader's support of followers expressing new ideas and opinions, and challenging the status quo. The assisting aspect of ISL is found in questions about the supply chain leader's suggestions to, and interactions with, followers that result in creative solutions.

Individualized Consideration

Individualized consideration (ICL) occurs when the supply chain leader pays attention to the unique developmental needs of each supply chain follower, mentors followers in the learning process, and provides opportunities to contribute that stress special follower skills or ensure follower development. It is operationalized as supply chain manager perceptions of supply chain leader behaviors that demonstrate the ability to treat followers distinctly, help followers develop necessary skills to contribute to supply chain success, and acknowledge and utilize follower's special abilities. In the pretest questionnaire ICL is represented by nine items. Questions tap supply chain leader behaviors exhibiting the ability to treat each supply chain member as a separate entity with distinct abilities and developmental needs.

Contingent Reward

Contingent reward (CRL) occurs when *the supply chain leader clarifies follower behavior and task performance required for a reward to be received*. It is operationalized as supply chain manager perceptions of supply chain leader communication intended to clarify rewards and/or punishments associated with follower behavior and performance. In the pre-test questionnaire CRL is represented by nine items. The questions reflect the supply chain leader behaviors that clarify follower responsibilities, goals, and performance consequences.

Management-by-Exception

Management-by-exception (MEL) occurs when *the supply chain leader monitors follower performance and takes corrective action when the follower fails to achieve established standards*. It is operationalized as supply chain manager perceptions of supply chain leader performance monitoring and corrective action behavior. In the pretest questionnaire MEL is represented by nine items. Questions reflect the supply chain leader's attention to follower mistakes and failures.

Supply Chain Followership

SCF occurs within a co-influencing relationship between a supply chain leader and one or more supply chain follower organizations. SCF is found in organizations capable of less influence than the supply chain leader, in *which the supply chain follower exhibits proactive inter-organizational behaviors intended to help the extended supply chain achieve its goals.* SCF is a formative construct determined by the five dimensions of transformational followership described in Chapter 2, each operationalized below. The intent of the construct is to classify supply chain follower organizations along a transformational-transactional continuum. The majority of measures used in the pre-test were adapted from the Followership Style Questionnaire (Kelley 1992).

Independent Mindset

Independent mindset (IMF) behavior occurs when *the supply chain follower maintains the integrity of its own important value set and does not accept supply chain leader directions in conflict with its own values.* It is operationalized as supply chain manager perceptions of supply chain follower ability to consistently demonstrate behaviors aligned with its own set of important values. In the pre-test questionnaire IMF is represented by eight items. The questions tap supply chain follower behaviors that demonstrate independent thinking such as questioning the supply chain leader's wisdom rather than accepting the leader's direction without reasonable justification, and acting from the basis of its own values and beliefs.

Critical Thinking

Critical thinking (CTF) occurs when *the supply chain follower takes action without need for direction, designs creative solutions to unforeseen problems, and actively participates in change activities.* It is operationalized as supply chain manager perceptions of supply chain follower ability to take action on its own initiative, develop creative solutions, and champion change throughout the supply chain. In the pre-test questionnaire CTF is represented by nine items. The questions tap multiple components of supply chain follower behavior including the ability to identify critical supply chain

activities without supply chain leader direction, developing new ideas that contribute to supply chain performance, and active participation in supply chain change initiatives.

Assume Responsibility

Assuming responsibility (ARF) occurs when *the supply chain follower makes sound business decisions that benefit the entire supply chain, demonstrates high in-role performance, and enthusiastically takes on extra-role tasks*. It is operationalized as supply chain manager perceptions of supply chain follower ability to demonstrate in-role task competence, and willingness to take on extra-role tasks. In the pre-test questionnaire ARF is represented by 10 items. Questions targeting the in-role aspect of supply chain follower behaviors reflect the importance of building a track record of success, making sound business decisions, meeting supply chain deadlines, and honestly assessing its own strengths and weaknesses. Questions targeting the extra-role aspect of supply chain follower behaviors reflect the creation of new capabilities, willingness to accept difficult assignments, and seeking out assignments beyond the scope of its current role.

Collaborating with Supply Chain Members

Collaboration (COF) with supply chain members occurs when *the supply chain follower develops a network of relationships including the supply chain leader and other members, seeks outside expertise when it's own knowledge is limited, and strives to accomplish mutually defined supply chain goals.* It is operationalized as supply chain manager perceptions of supply chain follower ability to develop relationships with other supply chain organizations, utilize outside expertise as needed, and target supply chain goals developed with the supply chain leader. In the pre-test questionnaire COF is represented by eight items. Questions tap the supply chain follower's ability to create and develop relationships with the supply chain leader and other members, call on other members to supply expertise as needed, and achieve supply chain goals.

Supply Chain Commitment

Supply chain commitment (CMF) occurs when *the supply chain follower establishes a shared purpose with the supply chain leader and challenges the leader when its decisions stray from mutually-held supply chain goals.* It is operationalized as supply chain manager perceptions of supply chain follower ability to establish a shared purpose with the supply chain leader and willingness to challenge the leader when decisions stray from goals. In the pre-test CMF is represented by eight items. The shared purpose aspect of CMF is found in questions asking about the supply chain follower's ability to create and achieve mutually-defined goals with the supply chain leader. The challenging the leader aspect of CMF is found in questions asking about the supply chain leader. The challenging the leader aspect of CMF is found in questions asking about the supply chain follower's willingness to oppose the supply chain leader.

Information Availability

The information availability (INF) construct is defined as *the degree to which information is available to effectively support supply chain activities*. It is operationalized as supply chain manager perceptions of information availability in the supply chain. In the pre-test INF is represented by eight items. Questions tap supply chain member access to information necessary to respond to customer requests, handle unexpected events, plan supply chain tasks, and control operating costs. Three of the pretest measures were adapted from Fawcett, Stanley, and Smith's (1997) logistics quality and logistics flexibility scales.

Communication

Communication (COM) is the degree to which formal versus informal communications mechanisms are used to send and receive information between supply chain members. It is operationalized as supply chain manager perceptions of the supply chain leader's use of formal versus informal communication methods. In the pre-test COM is represented by eight items. The questions reflect the degree of informal versus formal communications found between members in the supply chain. Three of the pretest measures are adapted from previously published communication formality-related scales (Li and Dant 1997; Menon, Jaworski, and Kohli 1997; Mohr, Fisher, and Nevin 1996).

Decision-Making

Decision-making (DEC) is *the degree to which control for planning and decisionmaking is kept by the supply chain leader versus being distributed to many supply chain members*. It is operationalized as supply chain manager perceptions of the supply chain leader's control over decision-making versus the sharing of decision-making with supply chain followers. In the pre-test DEC is represented by seven items. Questions tap the degree of centralized versus decentralized decision-making present in the supply chain. Four of the pre-test measures are adapted from previously published centralization scales (Mollenkopf, Gibson, and Ozanne 2000; Williams 1994).

Rewards

Rewards (REW) are *the degree to which compensation is distributed to supply chain members based upon firm-centric versus holistic supply chain goals and performance*. It is operationalized as supply chain manager perceptions of performance goals as primarily firm-centric or holistic. In the pre-test REW is represented by eight items. The questions tap the degree of firm-specific versus holistic reward structures present in the supply chain. Four of the pre-test measures are adapted from Mollenkopf, Gibson, and Ozanne's (2000) reward systems scale.

Performance

Supply chain holistic performance is determined by the efficiency and effectiveness that supply chain activities are accomplished. It is operationalized through the dimensions of supply chain efficiency and supply chain effectiveness as measured at the supply chain-wide level. In the simulation, efficiency is measured objectively by calculating the percentage of total shipments requiring expediting, and effectiveness is measured objectively by calculating the percentage of perfect orders.

The Survey Instrument

The survey instrument is designed to be easily understood by participants. Prior to administering the survey, the primary researcher explains the purpose of the instrument to the participants as a group. The concept of supply chain leadership is clarified as *the company in the simulation run just completed that most influenced the actions of other companies.* This is done to ensure participants each begin with a similar frame of reference concerning the core construct of interest. At this point it is also explained that identification of the supply chain leader is completely based on the participant's experience in the simulation run just completed, and that responses should be based entirely on the behaviors they saw take place in the context of the simulation. Any questions presented by participants about the survey are answered by the primary researcher and the survey is distributed.

An initial set of instructions at the top of the first page reinforces the purpose of the survey and describes the roles found in the simulation and the response context as being contained within the simulation itself (see pre-test survey in Appendix A). Questions are presented in a non-threatening and logical order to limit confusion (Bradburn and Sudman 1978). The pre-test survey contains four sections. Section 1 asks the participant to identify the supply chain leader using a graphical representation of the simulated supply chain as shown in Figure 3.2. Sections 2-4 each begin with transitional headers to assist the participant in maintaining a clear sense of each question set (Dillman 2000), and describe the questions as pertaining to supply chain leader behaviors (Section 2), supply chain follower behaviors (section 3), or general characteristics of the supply chain (Section 4). A fifth section is added to the final survey to collect demographic data for classification purposes (not included in the pre-test instrument).

The pre-test survey contains 119 items divided across the 14 first-order constructs as described in the previous section, with each construct represented by between 7-10 items. SCL contains 45 items, SCF contains 43 items, and the remaining 31 items target the four supply chain structural constructs.

PRE-TESTING

A pre-test is necessary for four purposes. As described previously, the leadership and followership items are placed within a new context in this dissertation. The SCL and SCF constructs target organizational-level rather than the managerial-level behaviors. Thus, the first purpose of the pre-test is to validate the adapted and newly developed measures of the survey instrument. The second purpose is to identify any potential problems with the design and administration of the survey. The survey is being explained and delivered personally by the primary researcher to each participant at the conclusion of each simulation run. This approach is intended to provide a clarity of purpose for participants not available from impersonally administered mail and internet surveys. The third purpose is to understand the impact of the survey on the executive education event being delivered. The addition of the survey cannot interrupt the flow of the training or force the trainer to short-cut important material in order to create time in the schedule for survey administration. The fourth purpose is to identify any potentially biasing aspects of the executive education course that might lead participants to respond to the survey in a predetermined way.

The pre-test will be administered to a group of undergraduate and graduate students from the College of Business Administration at The University of Tennessee. The four purposes of the pre-test make this a logical and useful sample. Students provide a convenient group to sample. It has been established in previous studies that college-age students generally mirror the general population (Browne and Brown 1993), differ from professional managers only slightly, and findings of studies using students may be extrapolated to managers in certain situations (Höst, Regnell, and Wohlin 2000). As the interest in using students in this case is to support the testing of the items and the administration of the survey within the simulation context, rather than generalization of findings, college students appear to be an appropriate sample for the pre-test.

Business school students are targeted because they will have become familiar with basic supply chain concepts through course activities. Importantly, the survey is designed to capture participant's experiences occurring *within the context of the simulation*. Real-world supply chain experiences are not required to meet this standard. The students considered for the pre-test must pass a basic knowledge screen by demonstrating an understanding of supply chain concepts to ensure their behaviors in the simulation are appropriate. The logistics of conducting the simulation requires the presentation of the entire four hour executive education course. An optimal experience necessitates the simulation be limited to between 20-30 participants. A large pre-test sample is not anticipated, and one simulation event of 25-30 participants is planned.

Once the pre-test has been completed, the survey responses will be entered into SPSS version 14 for analysis. The surveys will be examined for basic respondent errors such as providing more than one response to an item, or obvious non-random response patterns. Missing data analysis will be conducted to highlight potential problems with the questionnaire. Missing data will be reviewed for each respondent and each item. When a large amount of missing data exists, that respondent or item will be eliminated from the sample. In the event that missing data is centered on many items that comprise a specific construct, the simulation context may need to be reviewed.

A large amount of missing data for an individual item may suggest a specific behavior is not brought out in the simulation. The extreme case of multiple items

143

associated with a single construct containing significant missing data may suggest a broader group of behaviors is not facilitated by the simulation. In either case, the item(s) or construct will be examined and may have to be eliminated from the model. Alternatively, the simulation may have to be altered to allow the behaviors of interest to more easily surface. Otherwise, the data will be analyzed to ensure the missingness is random.

Pre-test participants will be asked to circle the question number of any item they cannot answer based on their experience in the simulation. This step may help to more clearly identify items that are not answered because certain behaviors were not perceived versus items that may have been skipped unintentionally. Additionally, at the conclusion of the second simulation run, participants will be questioned by the primary researcher to identify specific elements of the survey and the simulation environment that they considered to be contrived or confusing. This direct feedback should augment the missing data analysis and the researcher's own conclusions concerning the simulation context and allow the final form of the questionnaire and presentation of the simulation to better target the intended constructs.

Scale Purification

The purpose of the scale purification process is to satisfy the remaining subdimensions of construct validity including unidimensionality, reliability, convergent validity, and discriminant validity (Garver and Mentzer 1999). Content validity has been previously discussed in the Construct Operationalization section. Each of the constructs will be tested for *unidimensionality* to confirm the existence of only one latent construct underlying a set of measures (Hattie 1985). Confirmatory factor analysis will be used for testing unidimensionality because it has been shown to provide a more rigorous interpretation than other available methods including exploratory factor analysis, item total correlations, and coefficient alpha (Gerbing and Anderson 1988). *Internal consistency reliability* will be assessed using Cronbach's coefficient alpha (Cronbach and Meehl 1955). Alpha values above a .7 cutoff are sought for all variables as that level suggests good correlation between the item and true scores, while lower alpha values indicate the item set does a poor job of capturing the construct of interest (Churchill 1979; Nunnally and Bernstein 1994). Because the data will be collected and compared across two runs of the simulation it is imperative that a common set of items are judged to be reliable within each run. To support this requirement independent reliability analyses will be performed for each run, and the most reliable set of items found in the data sets of both runs will be selected. In the event a sub-set of items representing a construct does not perform reliably across both runs new items will have to be developed and additional pre-test data collection will be required.

Convergent and discriminant validity will be evaluated using the process outlined by Garver and Mentzer (1999). The overall fit of the measurement model, and the magnitude, direction, and statistical significance of the estimated parameters between the latent variables and their survey items is used to assess convergent validity. A value of .7 or greater of substantial magnitude of the parameter estimate is desired to indicate convergent validity exists. Discriminant validity will be examined by comparing paired construct correlations. A chi-square test will be used to test for differences between the measurement model constructs and the theoretical model constructs. It is anticipated the approach delineated above will result in the elimination of several items.

FINAL DATA COLLECTION AND ANALYSIS

The survey and presentation of the simulation context should be greatly improved by the pre-test feedback and data analysis. The final survey should contain a reduced set of items, making it more concise and user friendly (Dillman 2000). The subject matter experts suggested adding a construct unrelated to those found in the theory of SCL to test for multitrait-multimethod bias (MTMM). Therefore, the final version of the survey instrument will include the four-item opportunism scale developed by Moore and Cunningham (1999). Opportunism is not directly related to the constructs of interest in this dissertation and should serve as an adequate test for bias.

A series of executive education seminars scheduled for summer and fall 2006 are proposed to provide the required sampling frame and number of responses needed to support the final analysis. It is estimated that 200-300 participants, each completing two surveys (one per simulation run), will be required to generate an adequate number of responses to ensure statistical power and provide the degrees of freedom necessary to evaluate the structural model. The ultimate value of N will be determined after the number of items in the survey is again refined through reliability analysis of the final sample data. A rule of thumb suggests 4-5 responses are needed for each construct-item combination (Hair et al. 1998). For example, with 14 constructs and an estimated 4 items per construct, 224-280 participants will be required in the final sample $(14 \times 4 \times 5 = 280)$.

Structural equation modeling (SEM) will be used to perform the data analysis on the final sample. AMOS 5 is the statistical tool chosen to support all SEM analysis in this dissertation. SEM combines the measurement model and the structural model into a simultaneous test, is useful in testing logistics theory, and carries several advantages over traditional statistical methods (Garver and Mentzer 1999). The two-step approach advocated by Anderson and Gerbing (1988) will be followed in this dissertation. Confirmatory factor analysis is used in the first step to validate the measurement model and to test for construct validity through examining unidimentionality, reliability, convergent validity and discriminant validity as described in the Scale Purification section. In line with past recommendations (Medsker, Williams, and Holahan 1994), predictive validity will also be examined in step one.

The structural relationships found between the latent variables will be tested in step 2 using the path analysis capabilities built into SEM. The theoretical model is tested in this step including an assessment of nomological validity. This is accomplished by comparing the fit of the theoretical model to alternative models developed within the AMOS software. Differences in transformational versus transactional SCL and SCF are tested by statistically comparing the path models and significant path weights resulting from the two runs. The theory of SCL anticipates run 1 will result in more transactional outcomes and run 2 will find more transformational outcomes across all model constructs. The presence and strength of these differences will serve to confirm the hypotheses developed in chapter 2.

Summary

This chapter has explained the process to be used in this investigation including the overall research design, measure development, scale purification, data collection, and data analysis approach. An experimental design using a participant-driven simulation context is the research method chosen. Data analysis will be conducted using SEM.

147

CHAPTER 4 – ARTICLE 1: UNDERSTANDING SUPPLY CHAIN LEADERSHIP

A central area of research over the past decade has been the description of Supply Chain Management (SCM) and explanation of the benefits available to firms wanting to compete on the basis of superior SCM capabilities (Bowersox, Closs, and Stank 1999; Christopher 2005; Lambert, Cooper, and Pagh 1998; Mentzer 2004). Less emphasis has been given to an important prerequisite of any SCM initiative: Supply Chain Leadership. The implementation and acceptance of SCM techniques requires leadership that spans the boundaries of multiple firms. Supply chains risk devolving into a state of chaos unless an organization steps forward to assume responsibility for strategic supply chain decisions by taking on the leadership role (Lambert, Stock, and Ellram 1998).

The notion of an organization becoming the supply chain leader has its roots in earlier descriptions of channel leaders (Etgar 1977). Supply chain leaders differ from channel leaders along three dimensions. The first concerns the view of power. Both channel leaders and supply chain leaders *may* possess greater power than other members (Gaski and Nevin 1985; Lusch and Ross 1985; Maloni and Benton 2000). Power is a defining characteristic of channel leaders (Gaski 1984), and organizations are not described as leaders in a channels perspective without possessing a base of power. An organization may become the supply chain leader because of its disproportionate power, but superior performance is more often tied to tighter integration (Bowersox, Closs, and Stank 1999; Stank, Keller, and Closs 2001) and collaboration among organizations (Mentzer 2004; Stank, Keller, and Daugherty 2001).

Second, the unit of analysis should be considered. Emphasis in marketing channels is directed toward a single focal firm, often an upstream manufacturer. In this

regard, channels theory tends to favor maximizing the outcome for the focal firm with less concern for how the channel leader's behavior may negatively impact other channel members. Supply chains are increasingly viewed as holistic enterprises that span the boundaries of multiple organizations (Holmberg 2000). Greater consideration of the potential negative impacts of leader behavior on other members is becoming part of the discussion in supply chains (Mentzer 2001).

The third dimension is found in the greater importance placed on control for channel leaders. Channels theory describes the ability of the channel leader to exercise its power to assert control over other channel members (Gaski and Nevin 1985). Control is essential to the channel leader's ability to dictate terms to members (Etgar 1977) and may lead to conflict with member organizations (Cadotte and Stern 1979; Etgar 1979). The focus on control limits the perception of channel leaders to arms-length, transactional relationships. The greater emphasis on collaborative relationships (Mentzer 2004) and strategic alignment across members (Defee and Stank 2005; Stank, Davis, and Fugate 2005) grants supply chain leaders the freedom to develop longer-term, mutually beneficial relations with members. The differences found between conceptualizations of channel leaders and supply chain leaders suggest that the concepts differ significantly.

The concept of supply chain leadership is found frequently in the literature. Unfortunately, the term suffers from inconsistent use and lack of a precise definition. *Supply chain leader* is found as a title given to a firm that outperforms industry competitors (Harrison and New 2002), a source of industry best practices (Byrne 2004), and individuals as thought leaders in the discipline (Fawcett and Magnan 2004). A typical description of supply chain leadership equates the leader's role with the most powerful, dominant firm in a supply chain (Maloni and Benton 2000). Current theories suggest the domain of leadership is much broader (Graen and Uhl-Bien 1995; Hogg, Martin, and Weeden 2003) and purely power-based conceptualizations are outdated.

The purpose of this research is to explore and better understand leadership in supply chains. A clear, theoretically grounded definition of supply chain leadership (SCL) is needed. Additionally, the impact of SCL style on performance has not been studied. Three research questions address these gaps. First, how to define leadership within the inter-organizational context of supply chains? The domain of SCL is described in this research and a definition of the concept is offered. The intertwined concept of supply chain followership (SCF) is introduced to expand the domain of leadership and consider the wider network of firms that make up a complete supply chain. Second, can supply chain leader organizations be identified on the basis of the behaviors they project? Transformational leadership theory (Bass 1985a) is used to classify SCL behaviors as being transformational or transactional. Third, do differing supply chain leadership styles drive different structural and performance outcomes in supply chains? Strategy-structure-performance theory (SSP) (Chandler 1962; Rumelt 1974) has been suggested as an excellent theoretical lens through which supply chain phenomena may be viewed (Bowersox, Closs, and Stank 1999; Chow, Henrikssen, and Heaver 1995). SSP provides the foundation for the theory of supply chain leadership.

A brief review of relevant literature and concepts is presented initially, followed by development of the model and supporting hypotheses. Data collection and analysis using structural equation modeling is described, and implications of the findings and directions for future research are outlined. Important contributions of this inquiry include the development, refinement, and verification of valid and reliable scales of supply chain leadership and supply chain followership.

LITERATURE REVIEW

This section provides a review of the literature from the leadership field with a focus on the transformational leadership paradigm, writings on the concept of followership, and strategy-structure-performance theory.

Views of Leadership and Followership

Leadership has been routinely found to be an important contributor to organizational success (Bass 1990; Yukl 2001). As much as 45% of firm performance results have been attributed to leadership (Day and Lord 1988). Leadership has been linked to organizational learning (Vera and Crossan 2004) and innovation (O'Regan, Ghobadian, and Sims 2006), and is viewed by many as a strategic source of competitive advantage (Waldman et al. 2001). Dozens of theories of leadership have been proposed (Yukl 2001). The earliest tend to be leader-centric, emphasizing the special qualities, traits, or behaviors distinguishing leaders from non-leaders (Hunt 1999). More recently, theories of leadership have taken an increasingly holistic, relationship-oriented view that reflect the perspective of both the leader and the follower (House and Aditya 1997), and grant followers the ability to influence the leader (Kouzes and Posner 2004).

Consistent with the more recent views, leadership is considered simply as the *process of influencing* individuals or groups to achieve group goals (Hoyt and Blascovich 2003). In addition to influence, leaders must be *identifiable* and readily distinguished from followers on the basis of the behaviors they project (Shamir 1999). Leaders form and articulate a *vision* of the future (Richards and Engle 1986), often highlighting the

need for significant change to occur (Schein 1992). Leaders cannot exist without a group of followers (Hollander 1993). Leaders and followers form a co-influencing *relationship* (Kouzes and Posner 2004) that is strongest when targeting a set of *shared goals* (Hogg, Martin, and Weeden 2003). Summarizing these concepts, the definition used in this research is: *Leadership is a relational concept involving the leader and one or more followers that interact in a dynamic, co-influencing process. Leaders strive to understand the needs and goals of followers, form and effectively communicate a vision of the future, and project behaviors consistent with achieving the long-term objectives of the organization. Each of these actions reinforces and motivates followers.*

Leadership is important, but the majority of work performed in organizations is a direct result of the contributions of followers (Kelley 1992). Put another way, followership dominates organizations (Dixon and Westbrook 2003). The term follower generally carries a negative connotation as a weak, conforming individual that must be told what to do (Banutu-Gomez 2004). Relationship-oriented theories of leadership strip away this view and position followers as critical contributors to the success of the organization (Kouzes and Posner 2004). Followership in this context identifies proactive, value-added behaviors performed by non-leaders that differentiates exemplary high contributors from passive low contributors (Potter, Rosenbach, and Pittman 2001).

Followers should not be confused with subordinates. Effective followers have been characterized as acting with integrity based on their own set of beliefs (Lundin and Lancaster 1990), partnering with leaders to attain shared goals (Potter, Rosenbach, and Pittman 2001), and willingly challenging inappropriate leader behavior or any behavior that strays from mutually-held goals established between leaders and followers (Chaleff 2003). The value-adding follower is actively engaged and interested in expanding their relationship with leaders, and able to demonstrate critical thinking skills that may lead to the creation of novel solutions (Kelley 1992; Potter, Rosenbach, and Pittman 2001). Thus, the definition of followership used in this research is: *Followership is a relational concept between leader and follower in which the follower exhibits proactive behaviors to help the leader and the organization achieve goals so long as they are aligned with the vision, the follower's own goals, and long-term organization objectives.*

Transformational Leadership

Transformational leadership has become the dominant paradigm in the field of leadership over the past twenty years (Bass 1999; Hunt 1999). The essence of transformational leadership is found in the leader's ability to transform the hearts and minds of followers to higher levels of motivation and performance than would be expected without the leader's influence (Bass 1985a; Jung and Avolio 2000). Transformational leaders are positioned opposite transactional leaders on a continuum, with the leader's behaviors determining whether the leader's style is more transformational or more transactional (Burns 1978). Transformational leaders articulate a vision of the future as a way to motivate followers to rise above their own individual self interests, focus on activities that benefit the group, and consider followers' long-term needs for development (Podsakoff et al. 1990; Wang et al. 2005). When follower goals are aligned with the vision, mutually-held goals are created and followers tend to be motivated to expend extra effort in pursuit of the vision (Humphreys and Einstein 2003).

Research has found three behaviors of transformational leaders that are not frequently found in transactional leaders (Avolio, Bass, and Jung 1999; Hater and Bass

1988; Howell and Avolio 1993). *Inspiration* is the leader's ability to define a clear sense of purpose through the articulation of a vision of a desirable future, defining a path for achieving the vision, and setting high performance expectations. *Intellectual stimulation* is defined as the leader helping followers become more creative and innovative by getting followers to question accepted methods of solving problems. *Individualized consideration* occurs when the leader pays attention to the unique developmental needs of each follower, assists in the learning process, and utilizes special follower skills. Leaders exhibiting transformational behaviors have consistently been found to be more effective than transactional leaders along multiple performance dimensions including overall organization performance (Zeffane 1994), quality of output (Hoyt and Blascovich 2003), bottom-line financial performance (Perry and Proctor 2000), and follower satisfaction and motivation (Bass and Avolio 1994a; Masi and Cooke 2000).

Leadership in Supply Chains

The leadership literature describes the role individuals play as leaders and followers in groups, organizations, and societies. Leadership is also found in the macro context of inter-organizational relationships in supply chains. Leadership is necessary to coordinate the efforts of multiple supply chain firms (Bowersox and Closs 1996; Lambert, Stock, and Ellram 1998). While leadership is critical to supply chain success, supply chain leadership is not well understood. No theory exists to explain how a firm becomes the supply chain leader and maintains that role over time. Thus, no basis exists to predict supply chain outcomes influenced by SCL.

Power is unquestionably an attribute of SCL. However, a fundamental point of the theory of supply chain leadership is that power should not be considered the sole antecedent of leadership in supply chains – a default view held by many. Organizational behaviors, skills, and capabilities may also provide for the emergence of a supply chain leader. Organizational *behaviors* can be seen in the policies, procedures, and standards established by firms and projected through the interactions of boundary spanning managers. A supply chain leader may emerge when it develops a distinctive capability that benefits other supply chain members, or SCL may accrue to a smaller, specially skilled firm when a particular expertise is lacking from an otherwise more powerful firm. For example, third party logistics providers may find themselves in a position of leadership because of the more efficient product flow processes they have developed.

The concept of SCL is described in line with the four elements of leadership presented previously. First, the essence of leadership in a supply chain is found in the ability of one organization to *influence the actions of another organization*. Second, the behaviors projected by the supply chain leader may be seen through its stated policies, and the actions of boundary spanning personnel. These behaviors allow the supply chain leader to be *identified and distinguished from follower organizations*. Third, the supply chain leader is the organization that *identifies the need for change and creates a vision* for the future. Fourth, SCL is a *relational* concept with both the supply chain leader and supply chain followers having the ability to influence the other (Graen and Uhl-Bien 1995; Grundstien-Amado 1999; Kouzes and Posner 2004). Thus, the definition of SCL is: *SCL is a relational concept involving the supply chain leader and one or more supply chain follower organizations that interact in a dynamic, co-influencing process*. The supply chain leader is characterized as the organization that demonstrates higher levels of the four elements of leadership in relation to other member organizations (i.e., the

organization capable of greater influence, readily identifiable by its behaviors, creator of the vision, and that establishes a relationship with other supply chain organizations).

Supply Chain Structure

SSP theory suggests an organization's performance can be predicted from the relative alignment of its strategy and the structural elements developed to support the strategy (Galbraith and Kazanjian 1986; Rumelt 1974). Several authors have argued that strategy-structure fit is appropriate for examining networks of firms such as those found in a supply chain (Chow, Henrikssen, and Heaver 1995; Cooper, Lambert, and Pagh 1997; Stock, Greis, and Kasarda 1999). Integration between organizations is necessary to ensure supply chain processes are effective (Mentzer 2004), and supply chain structure is the mechanism through which integration occurs (Defee and Stank 2005).

Numerous elements of supply chain structure have been suggested, but few have been empirically examined. Supply chain structure has been described along dimensions such as formalization of norms and rules, centralization of authority, degree of vertical integration, and logistics capabilities (Chow, Henrikssen, and Heaver 1995; Stank, Davis, and Fugate 2005; Stock, Greis, and Kasarda 1999). Defee and Stank (2005) reviewed the supply chain SSP literature and summarized structure into five elements: technology integration, communications, standardization, decision-making, and rewards.

Three elements of supply chain structure are examined in this research. *Information availability* (analogous to Defee and Stank's technology integration element) has been identified as a significant contributor to supply chain success (Fawcett, Stanley, and Smith 1997; Mentzer 2004), and is classified as closely held by each organization or widely shared across organizations in the supply chain. *Communications* between

organizations supports relationship development and collaboration (Mohr, Fisher, and Nevin 1996), and is characterized as either formal or informal. *Rewards* are used to motivate both boundary spanning personnel and organizations to focus on achieving supply chain performance goals. Rewards are determined to be either firm-centric or holistically established across supply chain members. Two structural elements identified by Defee and Stank are not specifically included in the analysis. Standardization is viewed through the operational processes implemented across supply chain firms (Bowersox, Closs, and Stank 1999). Processes were determined to be exogenous to this research as the simulation (described subsequently) does not allow for that level of granularity. Decision-making is typically measured in terms of centralization versus decentralization (Mollenkopf, Gibson, and Ozanne 2000), and is manifested in this research through the depiction of SCL and SCF as transformational or transactional.

BUILDING THE MODEL

The theory of supply chain leadership is shown as a structural model in Figure 4.1. Supply chain leaders and supply chain followers are posited to exhibit behaviors that tend to be transformational or transactional. The resulting leadership and followership styles are anticipated to lead to different structural and performance outcomes.

SCL Style Determination

Supply chain leaders should be most effective when using more transformational behaviors (Bass 1999; Jung and Avolio 2000). Effective supply chain leaders should also encourage followers to establish mutually-held goals (Burns 1978), thus creating relationships that motivate supply chain followers to produce extra effort (Bass 1985a).



Figure 4.1: Structural Model of Supply Chain Leadership

The domain of transformational supply chain leadership is characterized by three types of behavior: inspiration, intellectual stimulation, and individualized consideration.

Transformational supply chain leaders provide inspiration by clarifying the purpose and mission of the entire supply chain and encouraging members to "buy-in" to the leader's direction (Bennis 1983). This sense of purpose may be based solely on supply chain leader values deemed acceptable by followers, or a shared set of values identified between multiple members. Articulating a vision of an improved future supply chain environment is another important inspirational behavior. Transformational supply chain leaders provide intellectual stimulation by soliciting new ideas and challenging members to develop creative solutions to supply chain issues (Kouzes and Posner 2004). Supply chain leaders understand supply chain followers possess distinctive skills and have differing organizational goals. Approaching each relationship independently forms the foundation for individualized consideration behaviors (Sashkin and Burke 1990).

Transformational supply chain leaders know that some follower organizations require coaching to develop required capabilities, while other supply chain followers are already quite capable and want to take on new challenges (Avolio, Bass, and Jung 1999). Transactional supply chain leaders will not use inspirational, intellectual stimulation and individualized consideration behaviors consistently. Thus, hypothesis 1 is:

- **H1a**: *Transformational supply chain leaders* exhibit higher levels of transformational behaviors, including greater use of inspiration, intellectual stimulation, and individualized consideration.
- **H1b**: *Transactional supply chain leaders* exhibit lower levels of transformational behaviors.

SCF Style Determination

Although followership has been found to be measurable (Dixon and Westbrook 2003), little theory has been offered to characterize followership behaviors. Using the definition of followership presented earlier, SCF style is classified as falling along a transformational-transactional continuum, similar to SCL. Four followership behaviors describe the domain of SCF: critical thinking, assuming responsibility, collaboration, and commitment to supply chain success.

Transformational supply chain followers think critically about supply chain activities. This may occur as followers champion change initiatives and look for better ways to accomplish inter-organizational processes. Transformational supply chain follower organizations assume responsibility for their own contribution without direction from the supply chain leader. This includes making consistently sound decisions, executing tasks accurately and on-time, and seeking out opportunities to take on additional responsibilities that benefit the wider supply chain. Transformational supply chain followers develop strong relationships with the supply chain leader and other members. The value placed on collaboration may influence followers to support the direction and goals established by the leader. The transformational supply chain follower demonstrates a commitment to overall supply chain success. Holistic supply chain goals should be aligned with the shared purpose established through the supply chain leader's vision. Transactional supply chain followers are not expected to exhibit these behaviors to as high a degree, and in fact may avoid them altogether. Thus, hypothesis 2 is:

- **H2a**: *Transformational supply chain followers* exhibit higher levels of transformational behaviors, including a greater degree of critical thinking, assumption of responsibility, collaboration, and commitment to supply chain success.
- **H2b**: *Transactional supply chain followers* exhibit lower levels of transformational behaviors, as demonstrated through passive acceptance of leader direction, resistance to change, avoidance of extra responsibilities, collaboration limited to organizational gain, and commitment to own organization performance results.

Supply Chain Networks

A supply chain is defined as "a set of three or more companies directly linked by one or more of the upstream and downstream flows of products, services, finances, and information from a source to a customer" (Mentzer 2001, p.5). Consistent with this definition, supply chains considered in this research include multiple organizations, rather than a single vertically integrated firm. Thus, a supply chain network consists of a supply chain leader and one or more supply chain follower organizations. As summarized in Figure 2.10, four types of supply chain networks can be identified based upon the transformational or transactional styles exhibited by leader and follower organizations.

Transformational supply chain networks, found in quadrant 1 of Figure 2.10, are composed of a transformational supply chain leader and multiple transformational supply chain follower organizations. Transformational networks are populated by organizations that view the supply chain holistically, have established a set of shared goals based on a well-articulated vision of the future, and are willing to make operational changes that may not directly benefit their own firm (Bass 1999; Kouzes and Posner 2004; Podsakoff et al. 1990). Transformational networks may be best suited to deal with rapidly changing environments making operational flexibility across members an important element necessary for addressing an uncertain future. Transactional supply chain networks, found in quadrant 4 of Figure 2.10, are comprised of a transactional supply chain leader and multiple transactional supply chain followers. Transactional networks are held together by a series of arms-length arrangements between members that focus each organization on achieving its own individual goals (Keller and Szilagyi 1976), leading to suboptimal overall supply chain results (Lambert and Pohlen 2001). Accommodating change may be more difficult in the transactional network, and therefore procedures may be more stable, allowing members to focus on cost reduction activities.

Recent leadership literature argues for leadership to be viewed as a co-influencing relationship between a leader and followers (Grundstien-Amado 1999; Hogg, Martin, and Weeden 2003). Translating this view into a supply chain context, the values, goals and rewards shared by a supply chain leader and supply chain followers reinforce the relationships found in transformational networks. In transactional networks follower role expectations are clarified by the clear sense of direction coming from the supply chain leader (Keller and Szilagyi 1976). Clear roles and the knowledge that decision-making authority rests with the leader define the transactional leader-follower relationship. When supply chain leaders and followers share leader-follower styles a high level of relationship development should exist. Thus, hypothesis 3 is:

H3a: A high degree of inter-relationship exists in supply chain networks where supply chain leaders and supply chain followers share a common style.

Mis-matched networks are found in quadrants 2 and 3 of Figure 2.10. These networks pair supply chain leaders and followers with differing styles. Consider the example of a transformational leader with a group of transactional followers (quadrant 3). The leader may identify a need for change and articulate it though a vision of the future, but a purely transactional follower may not willingly endorse the vision, potentially stalling or elongating the transformation process. The lack of alignment between members may lead to lower performance than either transformational or transactional networks. Mis-matched networks are outside the scope of this investigation.

Supply Chain Structural Outcomes

Just as strategy drives the resulting structural form of organizations (Chandler 1962), the supply chain network formed through the combination of SCL and SCF styles of member organizations determines the supply chain structural form(s) found across the network (Defee and Stank 2005; Stock, Greis, and Kasarda 1999). Networks consisting of organizations with transformational styles are expected to develop structures that differ from those with primarily transactional styles. Three elements of supply chain structure are considered in this research: information availability, communications, and rewards.

Information is a critical integrating mechanism in supply chains (Kent and Mentzer 2003). Information availability (INF) is the capability to exchange information with internal and external supply chain members in a timely, responsive and useable format (Defee and Stank 2005). Wide information availability is found when most or all

supply chain members have access to supply chain volume and variability information such as customer ordering patterns and supply or production constraints. Wide information availability facilitates early response to supply and demand problems (Mentzer 2004), and allows the supply chain to become more agile (Goldsby, Griffis, and Roath 2006). These factors suggest supply chains providing wider information availability for members should be more closely associated with transformational networks. Limited information availability occurs in supply chains when members view their procurement, order, and inventory information as proprietary. Information may only be made available as other members agree to make a concession that benefits the organization possessing the information. Supply chains that limit information availability among members should be more closely associated with transactional networks

Communication is the glue that holds a supply chain network together (Mohr and Nevin 1990). Trust and relationship closeness is created by consistent communication among supply chain partners (Chu and Fang 2006; Hutt et al. 2000). Member satisfaction increases with improved quality of communication (Mohr and Spekman 1994), and relationship performance improves with communication frequency (Morris, Brunyee, and Page 1998). Communication (COM) is characterized as formal or informal. Informal communication occurs outside the formal communication flow and facilitates group cohesiveness (Johnson et al. 1994). Less formal communication among boundary spanning managers aids in the creation of shared goals (Ring and Van De Ven 1994), and facilitates tighter integration (Pagell 2004). By not being linked to a fixed schedule, informal communication may be the fastest conduit of critical information. Informal communication is flexible, associating it more closely with transformational networks.

Formal communication results from formal authority relationships and formal mechanisms for the coordination of work (Johnson et al. 1994), and may flow from authority. The type and frequency of formal communication is established by the supply chain leader, and is facilitated by supply chain information systems used to share data across members (Mentzer 2004). Formal communication allows a powerful supply chain leader to maintain control over supply chain follower activities. Thus, formal communication should be more closely associated with transactional networks.

Rewards (REW) are the compensation each supply chain member receives for carrying out its supply chain responsibilities. Rewards have traditionally been designed to maximize the benefit accruing to the organization developing the compensation plan. Although the literature has consistently concluded that rewards need to target holistic supply chain performance (Bowersox, Closs, and Cooper 2002; Holmberg 2000; Lambert and Pohlen 2001; Mentzer 2004), few supply chains have instituted such a system and therefore must continue to rely on firm-specific performance to determine rewards (Brewer and Speh 2000). Holistic supply chain rewards provide compensation to all members based on overall supply chain performance results rather than individual organization results. Holistic reward structures may require managers to sub-optimize their own organization's performance for the good of the supply chain (Bowersox, Closs, and Stank 1999; Cooper, Lambert, and Pagh 1997). Replacing firm-specific goals with supply chain-wide goals requires supply chain members to look beyond the needs of their own organization, making the establishment of holistic goals and rewards an expected outcome of transformational networks. Firm-specific rewards are frequently used since many firms are hesitant to share financial and operational information with supply chain

partners (Lambert and Pohlen 2001). Firm-specific reward structures incent supply chain organizations to maximize their own performance, perhaps at the expense of other members (Bowersox, Closs, and Stank 1999). The focus on maximizing organizational rewards links firm-specific rewards more closely to transactional networks. Anticipated structural outcomes are summarized in hypothesis 4:

H4: The more transformational the supply chain network style:

H4a: the greater the information availability among members.

H4b: the greater the degree of informal communications.

H4c: the greater the degree of holistic rewards.

Supply Chain Performance

The concept of strategic "fit" is at the heart of SSP theory. Organizations able to create structures that are more closely aligned to strategy are expected to outperform rivals unable to achieve the same degree of strategy-structure fit (Miles and Snow 1984; Rumelt 1974). Likewise, supply chain performance should be heightened when strategy and structure are aligned across multiple organizations (Chow, Henrikssen, and Heaver 1995; Defee and Stank 2005). The transactional or transformational style of SCL and SCF are used to represent supply chain strategy in this research.

An important issue in measuring supply chain performance is the lack of holistic measures spanning all members (Holmberg 2000), although end-to-end performance improvement is a primary rationale for implementing SCM processes (Bowersox, Closs, and Cooper 2002; Lambert, Cooper, and Pagh 1998; Mentzer 2004). Performance evaluation in supply chains is difficult because it includes multiple dimensions, and firms often have conflicting goals (Chow, Heaver, and Henrikkson 1994). The failure to develop boundary-spanning measures of performance may be the cause of ineffective

SCM results (Bowersox 1995). This research utilizes holistic measures of performance along the dimensions of efficiency and effectiveness (Mentzer and Konrad 1991).

Efficiency is defined as the measure of how well the resources expended are utilized (Mentzer and Konrad 1991), and may be equated with the ability of the supply chain to provide the required level of service at the lowest cost (Mentzer 2004). Transactional networks are defined by the supply chain leader's rules and processes. Clear rules may allow transactionally structured supply chains to focus on achieving greater quantity of output (Masi and Cooke 2000), and thus they should be highly efficient. A lack of supply chain-wide metrics within transactional supply chains may, however, encourage supply chain leader and follower organizations to act transactionally and optimize their own performance (Lambert and Pohlen 2001). Transformational networks should produce even more efficient performance than transactional networks because supply chain processes are evaluated holistically rather than as a series of dyadic exchanges, allowing greater visibility to overall inefficiencies (Brewer and Speh 2000). The holistic nature of transformational network structures should drive more efficient performance as outlined in hypothesis 5:

- **H5a**: The greater the information availability exhibited in the supply chain the greater the efficient holistic performance.
- **H5b**: The greater the degree of informal communications exhibited in the supply chain the greater the efficient holistic performance.
- **H5c**: The greater the degree of holistic rewards exhibited in the supply chain the greater the efficient holistic performance.

Effectiveness is defined as the gap between customer expectations of performance and customer perceptions of the actual service quality delivered (Sharma, Grewal, and Levy 1995). Transactional leaders have been associated with a reduced commitment to quality (Masi and Cooke 2000), suggesting transactional networks may be less capable of achieving highly effective performance. Contracts between transactional firms ensure a consistent level of customer service, but transactional networks may to be slower to accomplish change initiatives because contract review must occur prior to any significant process change. Further, the supply chain leader's understanding of a need for change may be delayed by the lack of shared information and formal communications processes in a transactional network. The implication is that transactional networks should provide good, but not outstanding, levels of effective performance.

Transformational networks focus on effective operations supporting high endcustomer service levels (Hoyt and Blascovich 2003) facilitated by holistic goals and reward structures (Bass 1985a; Defee and Stank 2005). The emphasis on holistic goals and rewards motivates transformational supply chain leaders and followers to work collaboratively to create innovative process improvements (Hater and Bass 1988). A collective improvement approach should result in more effective processes because the best thinking of multiple organizations is part of the design, as opposed to the abilities of only the supply chain leader in a transactional supply chain. This suggests networks with transformational structures are more effective than those with transactional structures. This leads to hypothesis 6:

- **H6a**: The greater the information availability exhibited in the supply chain the greater the effective holistic performance.
- **H6b**: The greater the degree of informal communications exhibited in the supply chain the greater the effective holistic performance.
- **H6c**: The greater the degree of holistic rewards exhibited in the supply chain the greater the effective holistic performance.

RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

Supply chains are complex, dynamic environments and results of any supply chain research risks confounding by extraneous factors. To address this concern an experimental design using interactive simulation was used to afford the greatest precision of results for the SCL, SCF, structure and performance phenomena being studied (Kerlinger and Lee 2000). Iconic models are one form of simulation and are used to produce a physical representation of a system, such as a flight simulator (Kelton, Sadowski, and Sadowski 1998). Interactive participant simulations, in which participants take on roles, are a similar type of simulation. The Supply Chain Value game (Stank 2003) was used in this research to provide a controlled supply chain environment. The game has been used extensively in executive education. Simulation outcomes are determined by participants' interactions within the context of the game environment.

The simulation replicates the interactive activities of a manufacturing-to-retail supply chain. Participants in the game assume the roles of managers and employees engaged in source, make, and deliver activities for three products to satisfy retail customer demand. Specific enterprises represented include suppliers, a manufacturing firm, retail customers, and the transportation providers necessary to move product between the supply chain organizations. The game is run in two parts, with the first simulating conditions in a traditional "anticipatory" value-chain that utilizes long-term forecasts of demand and promotions to attempt to satisfy demand. The second run incorporates reengineering suggestions made by participants to streamline the value-chain and allow it to respond to, rather than anticipate demand. The participant survey, sample demographics and supporting analysis are included in Appendix B.
Data Collection

The sample consisted of 253 experienced managers and executives with significant supply chain knowledge. These participants were generated from 12 separate simulation applications. Participants in the sample all worked in supply chain roles for their organizations at the time of data collection. A background of experience in supply chains was believed to be valuable because it ensured participants had a frame of reference useful for making supply chain decisions in the game. However, participant responses were based solely on their experience in the simulation rather than any previous work experiences. Experienced supply chain executives and managers accounted for 72% of the sample with the remaining 28% occupying analyst roles. 58% of participants held supply chain positions for at least six years. Participants represented all supply chain echelons with retailer (45%), distributor (24%) and transportation company (10%) being the most frequently reported. Study participants worked for companies of varying sizes, and 60% of the sample is represented by firms with revenue of \$5.0-\$9.9 billion. Sample demographics are shown in Appendix B.

Each participant completed two surveys, one at the conclusion of each simulation run. A total of 502 surveys were collected (253 for run 1, and 249 for run 2). Nonresponse bias was not considered an issue since over 99% of participants completed both surveys. Participants were asked to skip questions concerning behaviors they did not observe in the simulation. This instruction reduced the problem of forcing responses where no basis for answering existed, but probably resulted in an increase in missing data with 6.8% of the total possible data points left unanswered. The majority of missing data was contained in 29 surveys with more than 25% of the items left unanswered. These cases were dropped, leaving a dataset for analysis containing 473 cases (239 in run 1, and 234 in run 2). Missing data accounted for 1.4% of possible responses in the reduced dataset. The Expectation-Maximization algorithm in SPSS 15.0.1 was used to estimate and replace missing values. Comparison of means from the reduced dataset with the dataset containing imputed values showed no significant differences.

Scale Development

Measurement scales were developed following the process outlined by Churchill (1979), Dunn, Seaker, and Waller (1994), and Anderson and Gerbing (1988). Each scale included a combination of items from existing scales and newly developed items created to ensure full coverage of the construct domains. Several SCL scale items were adapted from the Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire (MLQ) (Avolio and Bass 2004). Many of the SCF scale items were based on the Effective Followership questionnaire (Kelley 1992). The INF measurement scale included items adapted from Fawcett, Stanley, and Smith (1997). The COM scale contained items adapted from multiple published scales (Li and Dant 1997; Menon, Jaworski, and Kohli 1997; Mohr, Fisher, and Nevin 1996). The REW scale was adapted from Mollenkopf, Gibson, and Ozanne (2000). All scales utilized a 5-point Likert scale to remain consistent with the original MLQ scale.

Many of the adapted measures had never been used in a cross-organizational, supply chain context. Thus, multiple new items were developed to increase the pool of available items for each construct. An initial pool of 125 items was reduced in two steps. Initially, 12 subject matter experts reviewed the items in terms of item specificity, representativeness, readability and face validity. This was an iterative process resulting in the re-wording of six items and elimination of 13 items. The resulting 112-item survey

was then pilot tested with 25 simulation participants, who were not part of the final sample. Pilot test results were examined for inter-item reliability using coefficient alpha. Responses were examined separately for run 1 versus run 2. Items retained in the final survey instrument had to perform well across both simulation scenarios. Elimination of the poorest performing items produced the 79-item survey used for final data collection. All scales exceeded the recommended .70 cutoff value for alpha (Churchill 1979).

RESULTS

Evaluation of Measures

AMOS 7 is the structural equation modeling (SEM) software used for data analysis. The two-step approach recommended by Anderson and Gerbing (1988) was followed by initially evaluating the measurement model then estimating the *a priori* structural model. Confirmatory factory analysis (CFA) was used to determine construct validity including testing for unidimensionality, reliability, convergent validity and discriminant validity (Garver and Mentzer 1999). Because of the large number of items used in the survey, a CFA was first performed on each scale independently to facilitate scale purification. Later CFA models combined scales until the complete measurement model containing all constructs was examined. The structural model was considered only after the measurement model demonstrated good fit.

Scales were evaluated for item loadings of the expected direction, statistical significance ($\alpha \leq .05$), with standardized parameter estimates of at least .70 to ensure unidimensionality and convergent validity (Hulland, Chow, and Lam 1996). Standardized residuals greater than 2.00 and modification indices larger than 10 were used to identify candidate items for deletion (Medsker, Williams, and Holahan 1994;

Steenkamp and Trijp 1991). Using these criteria, 29 items were retained including a 7item SCL scale, 10-item SCF scale and 4-item scales for INF, COM, and REW. Scale reliability was confirmed with coefficient alpha greater than .87, SEM construct reliability greater than .88 and average variance extracted (AVE) greater than 61% for each construct in both participant groups. One item (Q37, My company independently thinks up new ideas that contribute to supply chain goals) marginally failed these criteria with a path weight of .69 in the transactional group but was retained as essential for describing the domain of the construct. Overall fit of the measurement model was good ($\chi^2 = 1235.59$ at 758 degrees of freedom, root mean square error of approximation [RMSEA] = .04, comparative fit index [CFI] = .96, Tucker-Lewis index [TLI] = .95).

Discriminant validity was assessed three ways. First, Mackenzie, Podsakoff, and Jarvis (2005) recommend intercorrelations among the constructs be less than .70. All pairs of constructs met this cut-off, except for the intercorrelation between COM and REW of .79 for the transactional environment and .72 for the transformational group. Second, a series of nested models were specified constraining the covariance between each pair of constructs to one (Anderson and Gerbing 1988). All χ^2 difference tests were significant ($p \leq .05$) indicating the distinct theoretical constructs provided better fit. Third, Fornell and Larcker (1981) advocate comparing the AVE for each construct to the shared variance between all possible pairs of constructs. AVE exceeded shared variance in each case. These tests provide overall support for discriminant validity among the constructs. Tables 4.1 and 4.2 provide a summary of the construct validity analysis.

Common method bias may confound results when measures are obtained from the same source (Campbell and Fiske 1959). A construct not theoretically related to any

Construct	Item	Std Item	Sq Mult Corr	Construct Reliab	Coeff Alpha	AVE	Highest Shared Variance
SCI	05	0.71	0.50	0.94	0.94	69%	<u>48%</u>
BCL	Q5 09	0.79	0.50	0.74	0.74	0770	4070
	O_{10}	0.75	0.62				
	011	0.88	0.00				
	013	0.00	0.83				
	017	0.90	0.80				
	O26	0.90	0.60				
SCF	037	0.69	0.48	0.95	0 94	64%	40%
201	Q41	0.72	0.52	0.70	0.0	0170	10,0
	043	0.82	0.66				
	045	0.79	0.62				
	047	0.87	0.75				
	Q50	0.84	0.71				
	Q51	0.77	0.59				
	Q54	0.80	0.64				
	Q56	0.84	0.70				
	Q59	0.85	0.72				
INF	Q62	0.79	0.63	0.89	0.89	66%	46%
	Q63	0.87	0.75				
	Q64	0.86	0.73				
	Q65	0.74	0.54				
COM	Q68	0.81	0.66	0.89	0.89	68%	62%
	Q69	0.88	0.77				
	Q70	0.87	0.76				
	Q71	0.73	0.53				
REW	Q77	0.81	0.65	0.90	0.89	69%	62%
	Q79	0.77	0.59				
	Q80	0.88	0.78				
	Q82	0.85	0.72				
OPP	Q83	0.79	0.62	0.91	0.91	71%	5%
	Q84	0.87	0.75				
	Q85	0.87	0.76				
	Q86	0.86	0.74				

Table 4.1: Construct Validity (Transactional Group)

Construct	Item	Std Item Loading	Sq Mult Corr	Construct Reliab	Coeff Alpha	AVE	Highest Shared Variance
SCL	05	0.70	0.49	0.92	0.92	61%	47%
202	09	0.80	0.64	0.72		01/0	.,,,,
	010	0.78	0.61				
	011	0.80	0.64				
	013	0.79	0.63				
	Q17	0.78	0.61				
	Q26	0.81	0.66				
SCF	Q37	0.70	0.49	0.95	0.95	65%	47%
	Q41	0.71	0.50				
	Q43	0.83	0.69				
	Q45	0.82	0.67				
	Q47	0.85	0.71				
	Q50	0.85	0.72				
	Q51	0.79	0.63				
	Q54	0.82	0.68				
	Q56	0.84	0.70				
	Q59	0.83	0.69				
INF	Q62	0.84	0.71	0.93	0.92	76%	47%
	Q63	0.87	0.76				
	Q64	0.91	0.83				
	Q65	0.86	0.75				
COM	Q68	0.79	0.62	0.88	0.87	65%	52%
	Q69	0.82	0.66				
	Q70	0.87	0.76				
	Q71	0.73	0.54				
REW	Q77	0.80	0.64	0.88	0.88	65%	52%
	Q79	0.78	0.62				
	Q80	0.81	0.66				
	Q82	0.83	0.69				
OPP	Q83	0.86	0.74	0.94	0.94	81%	7%
	Q84	0.91	0.82				
	Q85	0.94	0.89				
	Q86	0.89	0.80				

Table 4.2: Construct Validity (Transformational Group)

other constructs in the research was included to test for common method bias (Lindell and Whitney 2001). The marker variable used was Opportunism (OPP) and was adapted from the scale used by Moore and Cunningham (1999). OPP measures the extent to which supply chain members take advantage of a relationship for their own benefit. The OPP construct demonstrated convergent validity, discriminant validity and reliability. All item loadings were in the expected direction, above .70, and statistically significant ($\alpha \le .05$). Construct reliability and coefficient alpha were greater than .90 for both groups. AVE was above 71% and exceeded shared variance for both groups. Common method bias was assessed by comparing a model allowing all five substantive constructs to load onto one second-order factor to a similar model that also included OPP loading onto the second-order factor. The model excluding OPP demonstrated better fit, and in the alternate model all paths, except the path to OPP, were significant ($p \le .001$). The results support a conclusion that common method bias did not exist in this research.

Overall Structural Model Fit

Figures 4.2 and 4.3 provide a summary of the maximum likelihood estimates and tests of significance for each hypothesized relationship. The structural model demonstrated good overall fit ($\chi^2 = 1545.85$ at 870 degrees of freedom, RMSEA = .04, CFI = .94, TLI = .93). A lambda equivalent model was used to test the proposed model and hypotheses to ensure the items were given equal weight across the groups. All but one of the path weights between SCL, SCF and the structural constructs (INF, COM, REW) were significant ($p \le .001$). Interestingly, only three path weights from the structural constructs to the efficiency and effectiveness performance outcomes were significant (at least $p \le .05$), and no common significant path was found for both groups.

Hypothesis Testing

A significant outcome in the two group design used in this research requires the hypotheses be examined separately for the transactional (Run 1 of the simulation) and transformational groups (Run 2). H_1 and H_2 were evaluated using the measurement model. H_3 through H_6 were tested using the structural model in Figures 4.2 and 4.3.

 H_{1a} and H_{1b} are both supported. The behaviors associated with transformational leaders (inspiration, intellectual stimulation, and individualized consideration) describe the domain of SCL. The measurement model resulted in the creation of a valid and reliable 7-item scale that distinguished among SCL styles on the basis of the presence (transformational SCL) or absence (transactional SCL) of these behaviors. The transactional group and transformational group were found to be significantly different by non-overlapping confidence intervals around the means. An independent samples t-test confirmed the two group means were significantly different (t = 16.072. $p \le .001$).



Figure 4.2: Standardized Path Weights for Transactional Group

* Statistically significant at the $\alpha = .05$ level

** Statistically significant at the $\alpha = .01$ level

*** Statistically significant at the α = .001 level



* Statistically significant at the α = .05 level

** Statistically significant at the $\alpha = .01$ level

*** Statistically significant at the α = .001 level

 H_{2a} and H_{2b} are both supported. The behaviors associated with transformational followers (critical thinking, assumption of responsibility, collaboration, and commitment to supply chain success) describe the domain of SCF. The measurement model resulted in the creation of a valid and reliable 10-item scale that distinguished among SCF styles via the presence (transformational SCF) or absence (transactional SCF) of the behaviors. The mean for each group was found to be significantly different when comparing confidence intervals and using the independent samples t-test (t = 13.461. $p \le .001$).

H₃ was supported at $p \le .001$. In both transactional (.53) and transformational groups (.68), SCL and SCF are highly inter-related as measured by the significant covariance weights found in each environment.

 H_{4b} and H_{4c} were both supported as expected ($p \le .001$). SCL and SCF separately contributed to more informal communications between members in the transformational environment. Likewise, holistic rewards were found to be linked with transformational

SCL and SCF. The result for H_{4a} is not as straightforward. This hypothesis is fully supported in the transactional group ($p \le .001$). In the transformational group, only the path from SCF to INF is significant ($p \le .001$), and the path weight in this group is much stronger than in the transactional environment. Two new models were created to further assess differences between the environments. First, a model forcing the SCL to INF path to equal zero was established and determined to not be significantly different from the baseline lambda equivalent model (p = .379). Because the model compensates adequately for the missing path, this suggests transformational SCL does not promote wider information availability. Second, a model was developed building on the above model and forcing the weights of each group to be equal for the SCF to INF path. This final model was found to perform as well as the lambda equivalent model ($p \le .001$). The interpretation of this analysis suggests that in transactional environments SCL and SCF contribute equally to reduce information availability. In transformational environments, however, SCF is the primary reason for greater availability of information.

Among the most surprising results were the performance outcomes associated with H_{5a} through H_{5c} (efficient performance) and H_{6a} through H_{6c} (effective performance). In the transactional environment only the REW to EFFECTIVE performance path was found to be marginally significant ($p \le .05$). Not only were the effects of INF and COM on performance not significant, the lack of any significant EFFICIENT result was counter to previous leadership literature that found transactional behaviors led to increased production output (Jung and Avolio 2000) and had an inverse relationship with quality and customer service (Masi and Cooke 2000). Conversely, EFFICIENT performance had significant paths from INF ($p \le .001$) and REW ($p \le .01$) in the transformational environment. Arguably the effect of SCF is the greater contributor to EFFICIENT performance in the transformational environment because SCL was found to not influence INF, and the SCL to REW (.32) path weight is much lower than the SCF to REW path weight (.48). Once again, the EFFICIENT results are counter to past research that found transformational leaders create environments where followers produce higher quality output (Hoyt and Blascovich 2003).

Several issues may contribute to the unexpected performance outcomes found in this research. First, the performance outcomes anticipated by H_5 and H_6 were heavily influenced by past findings of research into the behaviors and reactions of individual leaders and followers. Perhaps the actions of individual leaders and followers cannot be directly translated to the organizational level. Second, the majority of past supply chain studies investigating performance have utilized firm-specific performance rather than supply chain-wide performance (Brewer and Speh 2000; Lambert and Pohlen 2001). Firm-specific performance was not captured in this research, so it is not known whether performance at the firm level may have been more conclusively linked to INF, COM, and REW. Third, the limited duration of the simulation may prevent capturing more effective processes in run 2 (transformational group).

DISCUSSION AND IMPLICATIONS

This research provides a starting point for understanding the concepts of SCL and SCF and their impact on supply chain structural and performance outcomes. The theory outlined is distinct from previous descriptions of SCL because it looks at the leader's role holistically by incorporating the behaviors and influence of all supply chain members. The findings suggest SCL and SCF both contribute to supply chain structural outcomes, and most interestingly, that SCF may be a larger force than SCL under certain conditions.

Managerial Implications

Judging by the great disparity in the number of published works, leadership has been presumed to be an important contributing factor to performance (Bass 1990). Followership has not been viewed with the same interest (Chaleff 2003). An important finding of this investigation is that followers have the potential to significantly influence supply chain outcomes, and in a transformational environment SCF may be the primary factor. This is supported in the transformational environment by the lack of a significant result for SCL on information availability, and the positive results of SCF to all structural outcomes and efficient performance. In transformational networks, supply chain follower organizations may be more willing to take on a larger role. Thus, managers in supply chain leader organizations that recognize the presence of transformational behaviors across the supply chain should ensure supply chain follower organizations are given the opportunity to contribute ideas and make decisions that have an effect on structural development (e.g., process change) and/or are provided with holistic performance reward criteria. This appears to be especially true when greater information sharing is desired to facilitate activities across multiple supply chain organizations.

Transactional and transformational networks appear to develop different processes. These structural outcomes are the result of both SCL and SCF in the transactional environment, and primarily due to SCF in the transformational environment. Greater information sharing is especially important to transformational supply chain followers as their desire to drive change and achieve supply chain goals could be limited by a lack of information. Supply chain leaders exert slightly more influence on the type of communication found in both transactional and transformational networks based upon the higher path weights found for SCL in both environments. Somewhat surprisingly, supply chain followers may be more responsible for the type of reward structures created in both environments, and this is especially true in transformational networks. Managers can benefit from ensuring the structures developed in their supply chain environments link appropriately to the leadership and followership styles of behavior exhibited.

Follower's contribution to supply chain performance may be underappreciated. Managers wanting to attain supply chain-wide performance goals, while using transformational behaviors, should emphasize the role of follower organizations. Followers take on and accomplish the majority of supply chain tasks due to their greater numbers (Dixon and Westbrook 2003). Supply chain leaders may find improved efficiency when followers share information and help establish holistic rewards.

Implications for Researchers

Interactive simulations have not been used often in supply chain research. This type of simulation, such as the Supply Chain Value game used in this research, may offer a fresh source for data collection when traditional survey research methods are not appropriate. Actual supply chains are very complex and the potential for confounding interactions increases when compared to typical single firm, or even dyadic, research. A simulation provides control over the complexities found in the real world (McGrath 1982), allowing the researcher to focus on the constructs of interest.

Theories of business, and specifically theories in the supply chain realm, often have their roots in other disciplines such as anthropology, psychology, or sociology (Stock 1996). The theory of supply chain leadership examined in this research is founded principally on theories developed in the leadership field. A contribution of SCL theory is that it is based on the findings of dozens of studies into the behavior of leaders in a social or organizational context. These individual behaviors have been elevated and applied at the organization level in this research. There is an ongoing need for new theory to explain supply chain relationships and predict supply chain outcomes, and researchers interested in understanding complex, inter-organizational behavior may benefit from borrowing theory originally applied to individuals.

Defee and Stank (2005) portrayed five elements of supply chain structure culled from previous SSP literature. Although extensively described, empirical research into specific supply chain structures has been limited. The findings of this research demonstrate structural elements can be perceived by participants and measured effectively. Past SSP research has consistently shown the casual connection between structure and performance. Supply chain researchers should continue to investigate the structure-performance connection as it applies to supply chain organizations.

Limitations and Future Research

A primary purpose of this research was the development of valid and reliable scales for SCL and SCF, making precision a more important criterion than generalizability or realism (McGrath, Martin, and Kula 1982). When precision is a primary goal of research, managers and researchers should not generalize the findings beyond the boundary of the study. Additional research, using other methods and seeking other goals, is necessary to extend the findings and draw broader conclusions. Expanding the survey beyond the simulation to the real world experiences of supply chain managers will allow for greater generalizability of future findings. A first step is to administer the survey to managers from multiple companies in a single supply chain, or multiple closely connected supply chains. This approach may be best facilitated in supply chains with an influential supply chain leader able to convince supply chain partners to participate. Under this approach the findings may serve as a diagnostic tool for the supply chain leader and interested supply chain followers to assess the network style present in the supply chain. Comparing findings across multiple supply chain environments may facilitate identification of network style variations beyond the purely transactional or transformation styles considered in the simulation.

A mixed methods approach has been suggested as appropriate to provide conceptual depth and generalizability (McGrath 1982). Many researchers tend to think of this linearly with qualitative methods being applied prior to quantitative methods, but the sequence of methods used is of less importance when considered over a long-term research program (Creswell 2003). A follow-on qualitative study is therefore recommended to deeply explore the domains of SCL and SCF. An in-depth analysis of managers' perceptions of SCL and SCF may identify behaviors specific to organizations that are not found in the descriptions of leadership and followership based on individuals. Additionally, SCL and SCF behaviors are currently assumed to have equal weight. The relative importance of each behavior may be best uncovered through qualitative inquiry.

While both leadership and followership are important, the styles of SCL and SCF that ultimately create the network style may be of great importance. Networks with matching styles are theorized to outperform mis-matched networks. However, mis-

matched networks were outside the scope of this research. Future research should include a comparison between matched networks and mis-matched networks to test this proposition.

CHAPTER 5 – ARTICLE 2: ROLE OF FOLLOWERSHIP IN SUPPLY CHAINS

Significant research attention has been paid to defining the characteristics of leadership and leaders. Leaders, however, cannot be properly defined without also identifying a group of willing followers (Hollander 1978). Despite being complementary concepts, it has been estimated that thousands of leadership publications are produced annually, while followership garners little mention (Brown 2003; Chaleff 2003; Collinson 2006). An underlying assumption of much of this research is that leadership is something done to others (Goffee and Jones 2006) and that followers are viewed as an indistinguishable group falling subject to the leader's wishes (Collinson 2006).

The disparity holds in the supply chain management related disciplines. Supply chain leaders have been described frequently (Bowersox and Closs 1996; Burnson 2003; Fawcett and Magnan 2004; Lambert, Stock, and Ellram 1998), with supply chain leadership considered an important precondition of supply chain management success (Bowersox 1995). A recent published analysis found that supply chain leaders experience growth in market capitalization up to 26% higher than non-leaders (Byrne 2004). This statistic confirms leadership has a beneficial effect – on the leader's results! Supply chain followership, on the other hand, has not been described in the literature.

Supply chains are defined as consisting of a supply chain leader *and* two or more other members directly linked by one or more upstream and downstream flow of products, services, finances, and information with the goal of providing mutual performance benefit for all supply chain participants, not just the leader (Mentzer 2001). Supply chain performance is a holistic concept requiring the identification of end-to-end goals, measures and rewards (Brewer and Speh 2000). Contributions from all supply

chain members are needed to create optimal supply chain-wide performance. At the firm level, it has been argued that up to 80% of organizational success is the result of the contributions of followers (Kelley 1992), because followers always outnumber leaders by a significant margin (Dixon and Westbrook 2003). We believe the conclusion is valid in supply chains also. The lack of research documenting the contributions of supply chain followers a significant unexplored gap worthy of attention.

The intention of this research is to provide a foundation for the study of supply chain followership. Two research questions guide this investigation. First, how should followership be defined in the inter-organizational context of supply chains? The concept of supply chain followership is developed to identify the defining characteristics of followership and produce a definition supporting the current and future research efforts. Second, how should supply chain followership be measured? To answer this question, we present a summary of the steps taken to create a valid and reliable scale of supply chain followership that researchers can use in the future. Finally, we introduce and test a model that hypothesizes how followership contributes to supply chain performance

LITERATURE REVIEW AND CONCEPTUALIZATION

Leadership has been considered the single most important factor in the success or failure of institutions (Bass 1990; Day and Lord 1988) and has been described as a strategic source of competitive advantage (Waldman et al. 2001). Four elements, synthesized from the many available definitions (Bass 1990; Yukl 2001), are used to describe leadership: influence, identifiability, vision, and relationship. *Influence* may flow from authority (Janda 1960) or may occur outside a source of power (Jacobs 1970). The leader should be distinguishable from followers, or *identifiable*, through their behaviors and greater capacity for influence (Shamir 1999). Leaders identify a need for change, often expressed through a *vision* of the future (Richards and Engle 1986; Schein 1992). Finally, leaders and followers create a mutually-defined *relationship* built on shared goals, commitment, and dual influence (Hogg, Martin, and Weeden 2003; Kouzes and Posner 2004). Research has begun to explore this relational process of leadership by incorporating followers into a holistic transformational concept (Marion and Uhl-Bien 2001). The literature review below summarizes the paradigm of transformational leadership and followership, defining characteristics of each in a supply chain context, and culminating with the introduction of a conceptual model that portrays the relationships among supply chain leadership, followership, and performance.

A New View of Leadership

Transformational leadership theory has gained prominence (Bass 1999; Hunt 1999; Yukl 2001) and considers the leader and followers as existing in a mutually reinforcing relationship. This type of leader understands that followers have their own needs and wishes beyond the goals of the organization (Bass et al. 1987), providing followers a significant opportunity for influence (Grundstien-Amado 1999). The objective of the transformational leader is to motivate followers – rather than attempting to control them – to look beyond their own individual needs by focusing on broader goals that will benefit the organization (Perry 2000).

Transformational leadership has been juxtaposed with transactional leadership on a continuum of leadership behaviors (Burns 1978). Transformational leaders attempt to raise the consciousness of followers to see greater possibilities in the future. Transactional leaders take a shorter term view and consider each interaction with followers an independent event to be optimized. Transactional leaders are described by Hollander's (1978) social exchange theory. In this view, leaders and followers exist within a series of give-and-take exchanges (Bass 1985). Both the leader and followers have needs to be met by the relationship. Leaders want tasks to be accomplished. Followers want to be adequately compensated for their work. Leaders provide an incentive for task accomplishment, and followers trade their effort to obtain a reward (e.g., wages) or avoid a punishment for falling short of the goal (e.g., a reprimand).

Under transformational leadership theory, leaders are found to exhibit five fundamental behaviors: inspiration, intellectual stimulation, individualized consideration, contingent reward, and management-by-exception (Avolio and Bass 2004; Avolio, Bass, and Jung 1995; Bass 1997; Hater and Bass 1988; Howell and Avolio 1993; Waldman, Bass, and Yammarino 1990). Of the five, transformational leaders demonstrate inspiration, intellectual stimulation and individualized consideration more frequently than transactional leaders. Inspiration is related to the creation of a vision of an improved future (Podsakoff et al. 1990), and is particularly motivating when articulated in terms that reflect shared values and goals established between leader and followers. Intellectual stimulation is found when the leader asks followers to utilize their creativity to find better solutions to current problems (Avolio, Bass, and Jung 1999). Individualized consideration occurs as the leader pays attention to the unique skills and developmental needs of individual followers (Hater and Bass 1988). Contingent reward and management-by-exception have been found in both transactional and transformational leaders (Bass and Avolio 1993). Because they do not differentiate between leadership styles, these behaviors are not considered further in this research.

Even though transformational theory is much more inclusive of followers than many past theories, the role of followers has been downplayed. Importance is placed on the leader's *style* as being either more transformational or more transactional. The interactions of leaders and followers are assumed to be directed by the transformational or transactional behaviors exhibited by the leader, thus minimizing the influence of followers. Followers are assumed to match the leader's style. The *fit* of the follower's own style with the leader has been an overlooked issue that will be revisited in this research once the concept of followership is further developed.

The Importance of Effective Followership

The term follower, as traditionally applied, carries a negative connotation (McGregor 2006), and has often been used to refer to someone requiring constant direction (Banutu-Gomez 2004). This negative view of followership conjures up images of docile, conforming, weak, "yes" men; timid personalities that could not make the grade as leaders, and thus fail to excel (Chaleff 2003; Kelley 2004). Leadership in this context is assumed to be a unidirectional model of what a leader does to a subordinate (Yukl and Fleet 1992), and the role of followers is based on their perceived susceptibility to the leader's behaviors and style (Howell and Shamir 2005).

Another view concludes followers are not the antithesis of leaders (Kelley 1992). Followers are important to organizational success, and may collaborate with leaders and assume control over their own actions to achieve personal and organizational goals (Chaleff 2003). Research confirms followers maintain their own identify (Collinson 2006). Followers may be influenced by a leader, but will only endorse a leader that aligns with the values forming their own identity (Hogg, Martin, and Weeden 2003). Followership has been found to be measurable (Dixon and Westbrook 2003), but no consensus definition exists to describe the concept. Even enthusiasts of followership have avoided creating specific definitions (McGregor 2006). A generalized definition of followers and followership is needed to define the boundaries of the concept and allow for effective analysis. Howell and Shamir (2005, pps. 98-99) define a follower as "a person who acknowledges the focal leader as a continuing source of guidance and inspiration, regardless of whether there is any formal reporting relationship." This definition fails to adequately identify the behaviors necessary to describe the domain of followership. Two models of followership are examined next to identify behaviors that may be used to more fully describe the concept.

Characteristics of Followership

Kelly's (1992) model locates followership style in a space defined by the two behavioral dimensions of critical thinking and active engagement. Actively engaged followers that demonstrate independent, critical thinking ability are described as *exemplary followers*. The opposite are the *passive followers* who do not demonstrate independent, critical thinking abilities and are not actively engaged. The latter category is closely associated with the negative connotation of a follower.

Potter, Rosenbach and Pittman (2001) identify follower types in a twodimensional space defined by relationship orientation and performance orientation. Individuals high on the relationship dimension identify with the leader's vision, demonstrate trustworthiness through their behaviors, and communicate honestly with the leader. Individuals high on the performance dimension hold personal performance standards above those required by the job, cooperate willingly with peers, take on leadership roles as needed, and embrace change by looking for new ways to accomplish tasks. Followers exhibiting these characteristics are labeled *partners*. This follower style relates to the leader on equal footing, and may be populated by individuals who are leaders-in-waiting. *Subordinates* rate low on both dimensions and, as in Kelley's model, this group is most closely aligned with the negative view of followers.

Both models propose that a follower's behaviors can be evaluated to determine a style of followership. Four behaviors are used to define the domain of followership: thinking, responsibility, collaboration, and commitment. Followers may be distinguished on the basis of their *style of thinking*. Critical thinking behavior (Kelley 1992) may be manifested through routinely looking for better ways to accomplish a task, providing constructive criticism as a way of developing peers and subordinates, and designing creative solutions to unforeseen problems (Banutu-Gomez 2004). Critical thinkers actively participate in organizational transformation (Chaleff 2003), and champion new ideas (Banutu-Gomez 2004). Directed thinkers prefer to maintain the status quo, and may avoid situations requiring significant change. This type of thinker may require closer oversight, especially for newly assigned tasks.

The *scope of responsibility* is the second differentiating characteristic of followers (Chaleff 2003). Followers seek expanded responsibilities by first demonstrating a high competence with in-role tasks, then taking on extra-role activities (Podsakoff et al. 2000; Podsakoff et al. 1990). This may involve off-loading work from the leader, or picking up a task that has been set aside by others. Extra-role performance is an example of the follower going beyond what is required for the good of the organization (Banutu-Gomez

2004). Other followers desire to maintain more stable responsibilities. These followers also demonstrate solid in-role performance but do not willingly accept additional scope.

The third distinguishing characteristic of followers is their *desire to collaborate* with leaders and others throughout the organization. Followers seeking to actively collaborate will tend to develop a network of relationships to ensure they can bring the necessary skills to bear on a problem when their own expertise is limited (Kelley 1992). They are willing to assist others if it benefits the organization, and work cooperatively with the leader to accomplish mutually held goals (Kouzes and Posner 1990). Other followers do not seek to expand their circle of relationships, and their interactions with the leader are more likely to be directed by the leader. They may collaborate, but their approach will be more reactionary and situationally dependent. These passive collaborators may limit their collaborations to times when personal benefit is greatest.

Demonstrating *commitment* (Banutu-Gomez 2004; Lundin and Lancaster 1990) is the fourth characteristic of followership. Group-oriented followers show their elevated commitment to the organization through the creation of a shared purpose with the leader (Chaleff 2003). This purpose could be achievement of the goals associated with the leader's vision (Kouzes and Posner 1987). Group-oriented followers demonstrate commitment by challenging the leader's direction when it strays from mutually-held goals (Chaleff 2003). Self-oriented followers focus on completing assigned tasks, and accomplishing goals that directly impact their own standing. They are unlikely to disagree with the leader unless the decision has a direct impact on their own welfare.

The followership characteristics of thinking style, scope of responsibility, desire for collaboration, and commitment orientation describe the domain of followership. The definition of followership emerges when combined with the earlier description of leadership as a relational activity: *Followership is a relational concept between leader and follower in which the follower exhibits thinking, responsibility, collaboration, and commitment behaviors that define goal orientation and motivation(s) to succeed.*

The transformational-transactional paradigm may be used to classify followers on the basis of their behaviors in the same way it has previously been applied to leaders. Transformational followers are most closely associated with critical thinking ability, expanded scope of responsibilities, active collaboration, and commitment to group goals. This style of follower is more accepting of change. Transactional followers may be viewed as more directed thinkers, interested in maintaining their existing scope of responsibilities, passive collaborators, and committed to individual goals. This style of follower prefers a stable environment.

Supply Chain Leadership and Followership

Supply chain leaders and followers can be identified by the behaviors they exhibit. An organization may project "behaviors" through the policies and procedures it establishes, and through standards of conduct of boundary spanning managers. The interconnected nature of the concepts makes it necessary to define both supply chain leadership and supply chain followership.

Supply chain leadership (SCL) is a relational concept involving the supply chain leader and one or more supply chain follower organization that interact in a dynamic, coinfluencing process. The supply chain leader is the organization that demonstrates higher levels of the four elements of leadership in relation to other members. This is the organization capable of greater influence, readily identifiable by its behaviors, that creates and articulates a vision of the future, and that establishes a relationship with other supply chain organizations. The relative level of inspirational, intellectual stimulation, and individualized consideration behaviors exhibited by the supply chain leader create a style of leadership that may be classified as either transactional or transformational.

Supply chain followership (SCF) is also a relational, co-influencing concept between a supply chain follower organization and the supply chain leader based on the follower's willingness to acknowledge the leadership role of another organization. The relative level of thinking, responsibility, collaboration, and commitment behaviors exhibited by the supply chain follower organization creates a style of followership that is transactional or transformational.

Table 5.1 summarizes the behaviors expected of transformational and transactional supply chain followers. Transformational supply chain followers are expected to actively exhibit the four defining followership behaviors, often in ways that go well beyond the parameters of their original role. Transformational followers are characterized as more accepting of change and projecting behaviors that are generally more innovative, inclusive of the needs of other supply chain follower organizations will also exhibit the four followership behaviors, but will minimize any extra activities that go beyond the scope of the (contractually) specified relationship. Transactional followers may resist change, and behave in ways that maximize the return to their own firm due to the primacy of firm-specific goals.

A supply chain leader and supply chain followers come together to form supply chain networks. The combination of leader and follower styles creates the style of

Characteristic	Transformational	Transactional			
Thinking Style	"Critical"	"Directed"			
	Seek innovative solutions	Optimizes existing processes			
	Champion change initiatives	• Status quo			
Scope of	"Expanded"	"Stable"			
Responsibility	• Quality task completion	Solid in-role performance			
	• Extra-role activities	• Stay within defined scope			
Collaboration	"Active"	<i>"Passive"</i>Accomplish own goals			
	• Supports SC leader's goals				
	• Decisions benefit entire SC	• Minimizes other org's goals			
	• Network of relationships	• Limited extra contacts			
Commitment	"Group"	"Self"			
	 Accomplish shared goals 	• Decisions benefit own firm only			
	• Supply chain-wide success	• Firm specific success			

 Table 5.1: Comparing Transformational & Transactional Supply Chain Followers

interactions found in the supply chain. Thus, transactional leaders and followers form transactional supply chains while transformational leaders and followers form transformational supply chains. The "fit" of supply chain leader and follower style is expected to translate to overall performance. Thus, transactional and transformational supply chains made up of leaders and followers with matching styles should perform at a higher level than mismatched networks made up of differing leader and follower styles.

PROPOSED MODEL

Figure 5.1 presents the structural equation model and associated hypotheses. Supply chains in this research consist of a supply chain leader and one or more supply chain follower organization that form a co-influencing relationship (Grundstien-Amado 1999). The relationship is reinforced by the creation of shared goals (Kelley 2004; Kouzes and Posner 2004) and overlapping identities (Collinson 2006). The best



performing supply chains contain a leader and followers sharing a similar strategic outlook (Defee and Stank 2005; Stank, Davis, and Fugate 2005), which may be viewed as the creation of complementary supply chain leadership and followership styles.

H1: When supply chain leaders and supply chain followers share a common style, there will be a high degree of inter-relationship between the two.

Processes found in transactional supply chains, consisting of a transactional supply chain leader and one or more transactional supply chain follower organization, are primarily defined by the supply chain leader (Maloni and Benton 2000). Leader-follower relationships are specified by arms-length arrangements (contracts) and tend to be focused on short-term activities and outcomes. This short-term view encourages transactional supply chain leaders to optimize their own performance without consideration of the potential to harm supply chain follower performance. The disproportionate influence of a transactional supply chain leader limits the opportunity of followers to impact performance. Transactional supply chain followers further minimize

their ability to improve supply chain performance by eschewing change, and focusing on their own internal goals as described in Table 5.1.

H2: In transactional supply chains, supply chain leaders will make a greater contribution to both efficient and effective performance outcomes than supply chain followers.

Transformational supply chains, made up of a transformational supply chain leader and one or more transformational supply chain follower organization, should envision the supply chain more holistically by establishing goals supported by both the leader and followers (Bass 1985; Kouzes and Posner 2004). Transformational supply chain leaders and followers should take a longer-term view of relationships because they share a vision of the future (Podsakoff, MacKenzie, and Bommer 1996). Each of these criteria suggest transformational supply chain organizations will be more amenable to a perceived need for change (Bass 1999; Potter, Rosenbach, and Pittman 2001).

Mentzer's (2001) definition suggests many supply chain follower organizations exist in a given supply chain compared to a single supply chain leader. The greater number of followers suggests they will perform the majority of tasks (Dixon and Westbrook 2003). Supply chain followers' impact on performance should be increased in transformational supply chains as the supply chain leader grants followers more latitude to improve processes and take on additional responsibilities (Avolio, Bass, and Jung 1999; Bass 1999). The more collaborative relationships found in transformational supply chains provides greater opportunity for supply chain followers to influence supply chain procedures and standards (Kelley 2004; Stank, Keller, and Daugherty 2001).

H3: In transformational supply chains, supply chain followers will make a greater contribution to both efficient and effective performance outcomes than supply chain leaders.

A primary goal of supply chain management is the improvement of end-to-end performance across the supply chain (Bowersox, Closs, and Cooper 2002; Mentzer 2004). Evaluation of holistic supply chain performance requires measures that span all members and incorporate multiple dimensions (Brewer and Speh 2000; Chow, Heaver, and Henrikkson 1994). Holistic measurement of supply chain performance has rarely been used in research (Holmberg 2000; Lambert and Pohlen 2001), although measures of efficiency and effectiveness have been suggested to capture supply chain performance complexity (Mentzer 2004; Mentzer and Konrad 1991). Holistic measures of efficiency and effectiveness are used to gauge supply chain-wide performance in this research.

Research suggests the quantity of output (related to efficiency) may be of greater importance than the quality of output (related to effectiveness) in transactional supply chains (Jung and Avolio 2000; Masi and Cooke 2000). Transactional supply chain leaders and followers may be less willing to make significant changes, in part because of the shorter time frame under consideration. Therefore, improving effectiveness will not be a priority, and transactional supply chains should be more efficiency-oriented.

H4: Transactional supply chains will emphasize efficient performance over effective performance outcomes.

Transformational supply chains focus on effective operations supporting high end-customer service levels (Hoyt and Blascovich 2003) facilitated by holistic goals and rewards (Defee and Stank 2005). The emphasis on supply chain-wide goals and rewards motivates transformational supply chain leaders and followers to work collaboratively to create innovative process improvements (Bass and Avolio 1994). A collective improvement approach should result in more effective processes because the talents of multiple organizations have been applied to the design, as opposed to the abilities of only the supply chain leader in a transactional supply chain. This suggests that networks with transformational structures will be more effective than those with transactional structures.

H5: Transformational supply chains will emphasize effective performance over efficient performance outcomes.

Research has consistently found transformational leaders facilitate higher performance than transactional leaders through greater follower satisfaction and motivation leading to extra effort (Sparks and Schenk 2001). Likewise, in transformational environments followers demonstrate greater commitment and interest in taking on extra-role tasks (Podsakoff et al. 2000). Transformational environments are characterized by the creation of shared goals between leader and followers (Bass 1999) and the establishment of holistic performance metrics (Brewer and Speh 2000). In contrast, firm-centric goals found in transactional supply chains encourage suboptimization of overall supply chain performance (Lambert and Pohlen 2001). Thus, transformational supply chains are expected to outperform transactional supply chains on both efficiency and effectiveness dimensions.

H6: Transformational supply chains will demonstrate higher efficient and effective holistic performance outcomes than transactional supply chains.

METHODOLOGY

Simulations provide for greater control over extraneous environmental factors (Kelton, Sadowski, and Sadowski 1998) and are appropriate when precision is a primary goal of research (Kerlinger and Lee 2000; McGrath, Martin, and Kula 1982). A methodology utilizing an interactive simulation, The Supply Chain Value game (Stank

2003), was used in this research to address the inherent complexity and potential for confounds present in supply chains, and to meet the research objective of developing valid and reliable scales of the previously untested SCL and SCF constructs.

The game has been used extensively in executive education programs for over a decade. Simulation outcomes are determined by the interactions of up to 30 participants who assume roles as managers and employees of supply chain companies across multiple echelons in the simulated environment including raw materials suppliers, manufacturers, distributors, retailers and the transportation links between each. The game takes place over two runs. The first run is analogous to a traditional "anticipatory" supply chain utilizing long-term demand forecasting and periodic promotions. The second run allows participants to incorporate reengineered processes that facilitate communication and allow companies to more rapidly respond to demand.

Sample and Data Collection Approach

The sample was comprised of 253 experienced supply chain managers from 12 deliveries of the simulation in executive education courses. Although all participants had prior real world supply chain experience, responses were based entirely on their experience in the simulation environment. Managers and executives comprised 72% of the sample with the remaining 28% comprised of analysts and support staff. Thirty four percent of participants reported over 11 years of supply chain experience, 24% had worked in supply chain roles between 6-10 years, and 24% had 2-5 years of related experience. Participants came from many types of supply chain organizations including retailers (45%), distributors (24%) and transportation companies (10%). Complete sample demographics are shown in Appendix B.

Two surveys were completed by each participant (one at the end of each simulation run). A total of 502 surveys were collected (253 for run 1, and 249 for run 2). Non-response bias was not considered an issue as over 99% of participants completed both surveys. Participants were asked to skip questions relating to behaviors they did not observe in the simulation. This instruction may have contributed to an increase in the amount of missing data. Surveys containing more than 25% of the items unanswered were dropped, leaving 473 cases (239 in run 1, and 234 in run 2) in the final dataset. Expectation-Maximization was used to replace missing values (1.4% of responses in the reduced dataset). Tests of means and standard deviations showed the reduced dataset was not significantly different from the dataset containing imputed values.

Initial Scale Development and Pilot Testing

Scales were developed following the process outlined by Churchill (1979) and Dunn, Seaker, and Waller (1994). Because the constructs of SCL and SCF had not been tested in supply chain research, both scales included a combination of items adapted from existing leadership and followership scales, and newly developed items intended to ensure full coverage of the construct domains. Several SCL items were adapted from the Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire (Avolio and Bass 2004). Many of the SCF items were adapted from Kelley's (1992) Effective Followership questionnaire.

Each construct is described by the behavioral domains presented earlier (SCL: inspiration, intellectual stimulation, and individualized consideration; SCF: thinking, responsibility, collaboration, and commitment). New items were developed to ensure the behaviors were adequately covered by multiple items and to establish a larger pool of potential items for each construct. In total, 45 SCL items and 43 SCF items were

iteratively reviewed by 12 subject matter experts to ensure item specificity, representativeness, readability and face validity. Four items were re-worded as a result of the review, and five items were dropped and replaced with additional new items.

All 88 SCL and SCF items were pilot tested with a group of 25 simulation participants, who were not part of the final sample. The purpose of the pilot test was to identify poor performing items rather than create highly purified scales. Full construct validity was examined using the final sample, and is described subsequently. Coefficient alpha was used to examine inter-item reliability (Churchill 1979) based on the pilot test dataset. Items were scrutinized across both the run 1 (transactional environment) and run 2 (transformational environment) datasets. To be retained in a scale, items had to demonstrate reliability across both groups and exceed the recommended .70 cutoff for alpha (Churchill 1979; Garver and Mentzer 1999). The scales were reduced to a 17-item SCL scale and a 29-item SCF scale. A rotated factor analysis produced a two factor solution as anticipated with the items from each scale loading on separate factors.

RESULTS

Measurement Model Analysis

Confirmatory factory analysis (CFA) was used to determine construct validity including testing for unidimensionality, reliability, convergent validity and discriminant validity (Garver and Mentzer 1999). Data from the final sample were analyzed using AMOS 7 structural equation modeling software. A separate CFA was performed on each scale independently in order to facilitate scale purification before combing the SCL and SCF constructs in the full measurement model. A lambda-equivalent technique was used to ensure items were given equal weight across both groups.

Unidimensionality and convergent validity were assessed by the direction, magnitude and significance ($\alpha \le .05$) of each item and its focal construct (Hulland, Chow, and Lam 1996). Items with standardized residuals greater than 2.0 and modification indices of 10 or more were identified as candidates for deletion (Medsker, Williams, and Holahan 1994; Steenkamp and Trijp 1991). One item in each scale was retained despite a marginal path weight. Item Q5 of the SCL scale (My supply chain leader articulates a compelling vision of the supply chain's future) had a path weight of .69 for the transformational group. Item Q37 of the SCF scale (My company independently thinks up new ideas that contribute to supply chain goals) had a path weight of .69 in the transactional group. Both items were retained because they were necessary to tap the theoretical construct domains. Convergent validity was confirmed using these criteria and resulted in the creation of a 7-item SCL scale and a 10-item SCF scale.

Discriminant validity was tested by comparing the average variance extracted (AVE) to the largest shared variance between pairs of constructs (Fornell and Larcker 1981). AVE exceeded shared variance in each case, confirming SCL and SCF discriminate adequately. Scale reliability was confirmed for both constructs with SEM construct reliabilities greater than .70 and AVE greater than .50 (Garver and Mentzer 1999). Overall measurement model fit for the two construct model of SCL and SCF was very good ($\chi^2 = 420.72$ at 251 degrees of freedom, root mean square error of approximation [RMSEA] = .04, comparative fit index [CFI] = .97, Tucker-Lewis index [TLI] = .97). Summary construct validity results are shown in Tables 5.2 and 5.3.

Opportunism (OPP) (Moore and Cunningham 1999) was included in the survey as an additional construct not theoretically related to SCL or SCF to test for common

Construct	Item	Std Item Loading	Sq Mult Corr	Construct Reliability	Coeff Alpha	AVE	Highest Shared Variance
SCL	Q5	0.70	0.50	0.94	0.94	69%	28%
	Q9	0.79	0.62				
	Q10	0.81	0.66				
	Q11	0.88	0.77				
	Q13	0.91	0.82				
	Q17	0.90	0.80				
	Q26	0.82	0.66				
SCF	Q37	0.69	0.48	0.95	0.94	64%	28%
	Q41	0.72	0.53				
	Q43	0.82	0.67				
	Q45	0.79	0.62				
	Q47	0.87	0.75				
	Q50	0.84	0.71				
	Q51	0.77	0.59				
	Q54	0.80	0.64				
	Q56	0.84	0.70				
	Q59	0.85	0.72				
OPP	Q83	0.78	0.62	0.91	0.91	71%	1%
	Q84	0.86	0.75				
	Q85	0.87	0.76				
	Q86	0.86	0.74				

 Table 5.2: Construct Validity Measures (Transactional Group)
Construct	Item	Std Item Loading	Sq Mult Corr	Construct Reliability	Coeff Alpha	AVE	Highest Shared Variance
SCL	Q5	0.70	0.48	0.92	0.92	61%	46%
	Q9	0.80	0.64				
	Q10	0.78	0.61				
	Q11	0.80	0.65				
	Q13	0.80	0.63				
	Q17	0.78	0.61				
	Q26	0.81	0.65				
SCF	Q37	0.70	0.48	0.95	0.95	65%	46%
	Q41	0.71	0.50				
	Q43	0.83	0.68				
	Q45	0.82	0.68				
	Q47	0.85	0.71				
	Q50	0.85	0.73				
	Q51	0.79	0.62				
	Q54	0.82	0.68				
	Q56	0.84	0.70				
	Q59	0.83	0.69				
OPP	Q83	0.86	0.74	0.94	0.95	81%	0%
	Q84	0.91	0.82				
	Q85	0.94	0.89				
	Q86	0.89	0.80				

Table 5.3: Construct Validity Measures (Transformational Group)

method bias (Lindell and Whitney 2001). A model with SCL and SCF loading onto a second-order construct was compared with a similar model that also included OPP. The model excluding OPP demonstrated better fit, and in the alternate model only the path to OPP was not significant ($p \le .001$), suggesting common method bias was not present.

Analysis of the Structural Model

The structural model was analyzed using the refined scales and maximum likelihood estimation. The structural model also demonstrated good fit and required no further modification ($\chi^2 = 524.66$ at 312 degrees of freedom, RMSEA = .04, CFI = .97, TLI = .96). As shown in Figure 5.2, SCL and SCF showed a high degree of interaction with significant covariance paths ($p \le .001$) in both the transactional (.53) and transformational (.68) environments providing support for H₁. Supply chain leadership and supply chain followership appear to be highly interrelated concepts.



Figure 5.2: Standardized Path Weights

* Statistically significant at the $\alpha = .05$ level

** Statistically significant at the $\alpha = .01$ level

*** Statistically significant at the $\alpha = .001$ level

The effects of SCL and SCF on EFFICIENT and EFFECTIVE performance in both the transactional (H₂) and transformational (H₃) environments are examined next using a two-stage analysis. In the first stage, the complete model is tested separately for each environment to identify significant paths (see Figure 5.2). The second testing stage requires the development of post hoc models constraining the weights of significant paths to equal zero. A significant chi-square difference test between the original model and a constrained model allows a conclusion that the models are not equivalent, and the path with the higher weight is relatively stronger.

Interestingly, no paths were significant in the transactional environment, and H_2 is not supported. The contribution of the supply chain leader and supply chain followers to holistic performance cannot be distinguished in the transactional environment. This result is surprising because the leadership literature is built on the expectation that leadership is a primary driver of performance outcomes. A possible explanation for this result is that transactional supply chain leaders are expected to optimize their own performance, and by doing so may sub-optimize holistic performance (Holmberg 2000). Firm-level performance was not measured in this research, and could provide additional insight through comparison to holistic performance in future endeavors.

In the transformational group only the SCF to EFFICIENT path was found to be significant. This result provides partial support for H_3 , and the comparative post hoc test is not needed to conclude supply chain followers make a greater contribution to holistic efficient performance than the supply chain leader. The relative contribution of supply chain followers and the supply chain leader on the holistic effective performance dimension cannot be determined in the transformational environment. Supply chain

leaders are posited to give greater decision-making and innovation responsibilities to capable supply chain followers in a transformational relationship, providing greater opportunity for supply chain followers to have a direct impact on performance.

Analysis of Performance

Both performance measures were captured objectively as outcomes of each simulation run. Efficient performance was measured as the percentage of expedited freight (of total freight moves) used to support delivery requirements for all customers across the supply chain. Effective performance was measured as the percentage of orders judged to be "perfect" by end customers (e.g., only orders received with the right product, in the right quantity, at the right time, at the right location, and without any damage). Performance results captured in the simulation are presented in Figure 5.3.

The three performance hypotheses are explored outside the structural model. H_4 and H_5 compare the performance dimensions within each of the environments (transactional and transformational), and are tested using a paired samples t-test. H_4 is

	Efficiency	Effectiveness
Transactional	68%	16%
Transformational	83%	93%

Figure 5.3: Simulation Performance Results

208

supported (t = 37.26, $p \le .001$). In transactional supply chains EFFICIENT performance is significantly greater than EFFECTIVE performance when both performance dimensions are considered holistically. H₅ is also supported (t = 15.10, $p \le .001$). In transformational supply chain environments EFFECTIVE performance is significantly greater than EFFICIENT performance. H₆ compares performance between the two environments, and is tested using an independent samples t-test. H₆ is fully supported providing empirical support that both EFFICIENT (t = 15.54, $p \le .001$) and EFFECTIVE (t = 92.40, $p \le .001$) performance are improved in transformational supply chains.

IMPLICATIONS AND CONCLUSIONS

Supply chain followership is an important, essentially unexplored concept that may be used to better understand the relationships established between supply chain members. SCF should not be considered to be a stand-alone concept and is best described in the context of supply chain leadership. This research developed the first definition of supply chain followership and linked SCF to holistic efficient performance.

The findings point out several preliminary implications for managers. First, supply chain leaders have typically been conceptualized as the most dominant firm in the supply chain (Maloni and Benton 2000). While power must be considered in the evaluation of a supply chain leader it should not be the sole consideration. In line with transformational leadership theory, the research findings suggest the supply chain leader can be identified on the basis of the organizational behaviors exhibited. The implication of this for managers is that non-leader organizations may re-position themselves to become a supply chain leader by projecting a specific set of leadership behaviors. Many organizations do not possess the capabilities of becoming a supply chain leader, or may

prefer to contribute in the role of supply chain follower. The research findings suggest the follower's role is critical to overall supply chain performance, especially in a transformational environment. Transformational supply chain followers make a significant contribution to performance, and fulfilling a value-adding follower's role provides a better outcome than a failed attempt to assume a leadership role.

Managers of both supply chain leader and follower organizations should be aware of the style of leadership/followership projected by their company. The fit of that style with other members may be a determining factor in overall supply chain performance. Firms may interact best when teamed with leaders and followers demonstrating a similar style, whether transactional or transformational. When managers conclude their organization is part of a supply chain containing both transactional and transformational organizations, they should consider changing their own behaviors to better match the styles of other members, encourage other members to adjust their styles, or identify new partners that are a better fit.

Managers should also be sensitive to the style of the resulting supply chain network. Transformational supply chains should function better in stable environments, and may be a better style when efficiency is significantly more important than customer service (e.g. effectiveness). Transformational supply chains may be more adept at innovation and navigating a path through rapidly changing environments. When customers place a premium on service, transformational supply chain leader and follower styles may be more appropriate. Importantly, the findings suggest transformational supply chains significantly outperform transactional supply chains on both of the performance dimensions examined. A description of the characteristics that may be used to describe supply chain leaders and supply chain followers has been lacking. The definitions of SCL and SCF and creation of valid and reliable scales developed in this research make a theoretical contribution to the field. In addition, it is important to understand that variability in behavior can be used to classify supply chain leaders and followers into differing styles (transactional versus transformational). This conclusion is particularly important for researchers because supply chain followers have often been viewed as an undifferentiated mass of firms subject to the directives of the supply chain leader. Future investigations may examine additional behaviors that may assist in further classifying supply chain followers. Specifically, follow-on research may augment the findings of this research by identifying other SCF styles beyond the purely transactional or transformational styles examined here.

The purpose of this research was to explore and theoretically conceptualize supply chain followership. The findings presented provide an initial investigation into the concept. As with any single investigation this research has limitations (McGrath 1982). The use of interactive simulation facilitated greater control over supply chain conditions and proved useful in developing valid and reliable scales of the constructs of interest. Additional research, using a variety of methods, is needed before generalizing the results to a wider population. The design of this research compared transactional supply chain leaders and followers to transformational supply chain leaders and followers. Conclusions drawn must be limited to these pure forms, and cannot be extrapolated across other configurations such as mismatched supply chains, i.e., transactional leaders with transformational followers and vice versa.

REFERENCES

REFERENCES

Adler, Ulrich (2004), "Structural Change: The Dominant Feature in the Economic Development of the German Textile and Clothing Industries," *Journal of Fashion Marketing & Management*, 8 (3), 300-19.

Anderson, David L., Frank F. Britt, and Donavon J. Favre (1997), "The Seven Principles of Supply Chain Management," *Supply Chain Management Review*, 1 (Spring), 31-43.

Anderson, James C. and David W. Gerbing (1988), "Structural Equation Modeling in Practice: A Review of the Two-Step Approach," *Psychological Bulletin*, 103 (3), 411-23.

Anon (2005), "Nhs Logistics -- a Case Study in Public Sector Supply-Chain Leadership," in *Logistics & Transport Focus* 7 (4)

Archer, Ray (2003), "Dell Is Changing Its Supply Chain," presentation given at the Supply Chain Strategy and Management Forum (October 2003), University of Tennessee

Armour, Henry Ogden and David J. Teece (1978), "Organizational Structure and Economic Performance: A Test of the Multidivisional Hypothesis," *Bell Journal of Economics*, 9 (1), 106-22.

Atkinson, Anthony A., John H. Waterhouse, and Robert B. Wells (1997), "A Stakeholder Approach to Strategic Performance Measurement," *Sloan Management Review*, 38 (3), 25-37.

Aulakh, Preet S. and Masaaki Kotabe (1997), "Antecedents and Performance Implications of Channel Integration in Foreign Markets," *Journal of International Business Studies*, 28 (1), 145-75.

Avolio, Bruce J. and Bernard M. Bass (2004), *Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire: Manual and Sampler Set* (3rd ed.). Palo Alto, CA: Mindgarden.

Avolio, Bruce J., Bernard M. Bass, and Dong I. Jung (1995), *Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire Technical Report*. Redwood City, CA: Mind Garden.

---- (1999), "Re-Examining the Components of Transformational and Transactional Leadership Using the Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire," *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 72 (4), 441-62.

Avolio, Bruce J., William L. Gardner, Fred O. Walumbwa, Fred Luthans, and Douglas R. May (2004), "Unlocking the Mask: A Look at the Process by Which Authentic Leaders Impact Follower Attitudes and Behaviors," *Leadership Quarterly*, 15 (6), 801-23.

Avolio, Bruce J., David A. Waldman, and Walter O. Einstein (1988), "Transformational Leadership in a Management Game Simulation," *Group and Organizational Studies*, 13 (1), 59-80.

Bagozzi, Richard P. (1980), Causal Models in Marketing. New York: John Wiley & Sons.

Bales, R. F. (1954), "In Conference," Harvard Business Review, 32 (2), 44-50.

Banutu-Gomez, Michael (2004), "Great Leaders Teach Exemplary Followership and Serve as Servant Leaders," *The Journal of American Academy of Business*, 4 (1/2), 143-51.

Bartlett, C. A. and S. Ghoshal (1991), *Managing across Borders: The Transnational Solution*. Boston, MA: Harvard Business School.

Bass, Bernard M. (1990), *Bass and Stogdill's Handbook of Leadership*. New York: The Free Press.

---- (1997), "Does the Transactional-Transformational Leadership Paradigm Transcend Organizational and National Boundaries?," *American Psychologist*, 52 (2), 130-39.

---- (1985a), Leadership and Performance Beyond Expectations. New York: Free Press.

---- (1985b), "Leadership: Good, Better, Best," Organizational Dynamics, 13 (3), 26-40.

---- (1999), "Two Decades of Research and Development in Transformational Leadership," *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 8 (1), 9-26.

Bass, Bernard M. and B. J. Avolio (1993), "Transformational Leadership: A Response to Critiques," in *Emerging Leadership Vistas*, Hunt J. G. and B. R. Baliga and H. P. Dachler and C. A. Schriesheim, Eds. Lexington, MA: D. C. Health.

Bass, Bernard M. and Bruce J. Avolio (1994a), *Improving Organizational Effectiveness through Transformational Leadership*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

---- (1994b), "Transformational Leadership and Organizational Culture," *International Journal of Public Administration*, 17 (3/4), 541-54.

---- (1990), Transformational Leadership Development: Manual for the Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire. Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologist Press.

Bass, Bernard M., Bruce J. Avolio, and L. Atwater (1996), "The Transformational and Transactional Leadership of Men and Women," *International Review of Applied Psychology*, 45 (1), 5-34.

Bass, Bernard M., Dong I. Jung, Bruce J. Avolio, and Yair Berson (2003), "Predicting Unit Performance by Assessing Transformational and Transactional Leadership," *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 88 (2), 207-18.

Bass, Bernard M., David A. Waldman, Bruce J. Avolio, and Michael Bebb (1987), "Transformational Leadership and the Falling Dominoes Effect," *Group & Organization Studies*, 12 (1), 73-87.

Beamon, Benita M. (1999), "Measuring Supply Chain Performance," International Journal of Operations and Production Management, 19 (3), 275-92.

Bennis, Warren (1983), "Transformative Leadership," in Harvard University Newsletter

Bennis, Warren and Burt Nanus (1985), *Leaders: The Strategies for Taking Charge*. New York: Harper and Row.

Bogardus, E. S. (1918), *Essentials of Social Psychology*. Los Angeles: University of Southern California Press.

Bono, Joyce E. and Timothy A. Judge (2004), "Personality and Transformational and Transactional Leadership: A Meta-Analysis," *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 89 (5), 901-10.

Bowersox, Donald J., Phillip L. Carter, and Robert M. Monczka (1985), "Materials Logistics Management," *International Journal of Physical Distribution and Logistics Management*, 15 (5), 27-35.

Bowersox, Donald J. and David J. Closs (1996), *Logistical Management: The Integrated Supply Chain Process*. New York: McGraw-Hill.

---- (1989), "Simulation in Logistics: A Review of Present Practice and a Look at the Future," *Journal of Business Logistics*, 10 (1), 133-48.

Bowersox, Donald J., David J. Closs, and Martha C. Cooper (2002), *Supply Chain Logistics Management*. Boston: McGraw-Hill.

Bowersox, Donald J., David J. Closs, and Theodore P. Stank (1999), 21st Century Logistics: Making Supply Chain Integration a Reality. Oak Brook, IL: The Council of Logistics Management.

Bowersox, Donald J. et al (1995), *World Class Logistics*. Oak Brook, IL: Council of Logistics Management.

Bradburn, Norman M. and Seymour Sudman (1978), "Question Threat and Response Bias," *Public Opinion Quarterly*, 42 (2), 221-34.

Brewer, Peter C. and Thomas W. Speh (2000), "Using the Balanced Scorecard to Measure Supply Chain Performance," *Journal of Business Logistics*, 21 (1), 75-95.

Brown, Arnold (2003), "The New Followership: A Challenge for Leaders," *The Futurist*, 37 (2), 68.

Brown, James R. and Ralph L. Day (1981), "Measures of Manifest Conflict in Distribution Channels," *Journal of Marketing Research*, 18 (3), 263/74.

Browne, B. A. and D. J. Brown (1993), "Using Students as Subjects in Research on State Lottery Gambling," *Psychological Reports*, 72 (2), 1295-98.

Bryman, Alan (1992), Charisma and Leadership in Organizations. London: Sage.

Burns, James M. (1978), Leadership. New York: Harper and Row.

Burnson, Patrick (2003), ""a Global View" May Spell End to Supply Chain Complexity," *World Trade*, 16 (9), 43.

Bycio, Peter, Rick D. Hackett, and Joyce S. Allen (1995), "Further Assessments of Bass's (1985) Conceptualization of Transactional and Transformational Leadership," *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 80 (4), 468-78.

Byrne, Patrick M. (2004), "Closing the Gap between Strategy and Results," *Logistics Management*, 43 (3), 27-28.

Cadotte, Ernest R. and Louis W. Stern (1979), "A Process Model of Interorganizational Relations in Marketing Channels," *Research in Marketing*, 2, 127-58.

Calder, B. J. (1977), "An Attribution Theory of Leadership," in *New Directions in Organizational Behavior*, B. M. Staw and G. R. Salancik, Eds. Chicago: St. Clair.

Campbell, Donald T. and Donald W. Fiske (1959), "Convergent and Discriminant Validation by the Multitrait-Multimethod Matrix," *Psychological Bulletin*, 56, 81-105.

Carlyle, Thomas (1841/1907), On Heroes, Hero-Worship, and the Heroic in History. Boston: Houghton Mifflin.

Chaleff, Ira (2003), The Courageous Follower (2nd ed.). San Francisco: Berrett-Koehler.

---- (1995), The Courageous Follower. San Francisco: Berrett-Koehler.

Chandler, Alfred D. Jr. (1962), *Strategy and Structure*. Cambridge, MA: The M.I.T. Press.

Channon, D. F. (1973), "The Strategy and Structure of British Enterprise," Unpublished Dissertation, Graduate School of Business Administration, Harvard University.

Child, John (1972), "Organization Structure, Environment and Performance: The Role of Strategic Choice," *Sociology*, 6 (1), 1-22.

Chow, Garland, Trevor D. Heaver, and Lennart E. Henrikkson (1994), "Logistics Performance: Definition and Measurement," *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*, 24 (1), 17-28.

Chow, Garland, Lennart E. Henrikssen, and Treavor D. Heaver (1995), "Strategy, Structure and Performance: A Framework for Logistics Research," *Logistics & Transportation Review*, 31 (4), 285-99.

Christensen, H. Kurt and Cynthia A. Montgomery (1981), "Corporate Economic Performance: Diversification Strategy Versus Market Structure," *Strategic Management Journal*, 2 (4), 327-43.

Christopher, Martin L. (1992), Logistics and Supply Chain Management. London: Pitman.

---- (2005), Logistics and Supply Chain Management: Creating Value-Added Networks. New York: Prentice-Hall.

Christopher, Martin and Denis R. Towill (2002), "Developing Market Specific Supply Chain Strategies," *The International Journal of Logistics Management*, 13 (1), 1-14.

Chu, Suh-Yueh and Wen-Chang Fang (2006), "Exploring the Relationships of Trust and Commitment in Supply Chain Management," *Journal of American Academy of Business, Cambridge*, 9 (1), 224-28.

Churchill, Gilbert A. (1979), "A Paradigm for Developing Better Measures of Marketing Constructs," *Journal of Marketing Research*, 16 (1), 64-73.

Collinson, David (2006), "Rethinking Followership: A Post-Structuralist Analysis of Follower Identities," *Leadership Quarterly*, 17 (2), 179-89.

Cook, Thomas D. and Donald T. Campbell (1979), "Quasi-Experiments: Nonequivalent Control Group Designs," in *Quasi-Experimentation: Design and Analysis Issues for Field Settings*. Chicago: Rand McNally.

Cooke, James A. (1999), "Auto Id, Software Drive the Supply Chain," *Logistics Management Distribution Report*, 38 (7), 101-02.

Cooper, Martha C., Douglas M. Lambert, and Janus D. Pagh (1997), "Supply Chain Management: More Than a New Name for Logistics," *The International Journal of Logistics Management*, 8 (1), 1-14.

Covey, Stephen R. (1990), *Principle-Centered Leadership*. New York: Simon and Schuster.

---- (1989), The Seven Habits of Highly Effective People. New York: Simon and Schuster.

Creswell, John W. (2003), *Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative, and Mixed Methods Approaches*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Cronbach, Lee J. and Paul E. Meehl (1955), "Construct Validity in Psychological Tests," *Psychological Bulletin*, 52 (July), 281 - 302.

Croxton, Keely L, Sebastian J. Garcia-Dastugue, and Douglas M. Lambert (2001), "The Supply Chain Management Processes," *The International Journal of Logistics Management*, 12 (2), 13-36.

Dalton, Dan R., William D. Todor, Michael J. Spendolini, Gordon J. Fielding, and Lyman W. Porter (1980), "Organization Structure and Performance: A Critical Review," *Academy of Management Review*, 5 (1), 49-64.

Dansereau, Fred, George Graen, and William J. Haga (1975), "A Vertical Dyad Linkage Approach to Leadership within Formal Organizations," *Organizational Behavior and Human Performance*, 13 (1), 46-78.

Day, David V. and Robert G. Lord (1988), "Executive Leadership and Organizational Performance: Suggestions for a New Theory and Methodology," *Journal of Management*, 14 (3), 453-64.

Day, George S. and David J. Reibstein Eds. (1997), Wharton on Dynamic Competitive Strategy. New York: John Wiley & Sons.

Day, George S., Barton Weitz, and Robin Wensley Eds. (1990), *The Interface of Marketing and Strategy*. New York: McGraw Hill.

Defee, C. Clifford (2006), "Defining Supply Chain Leadership," Supply Chain Strategy and Management Forum, Knoxville, TN

Defee, C. Clifford and Theodore P. Stank (2005), "Applying the Strategy - Structure - Performance Paradigm to the Supply Chain Environment," *International Journal of Logistics Management*, 16 (1), 28-50.

Den Hartog, Deanne N., Jaap J. Van Muijen, and Paul L. Koopman (2001), "Transactional Versus Transformational Leadership: An Analysis of the Mlq," *Journal of Operational and Organizational Psychology*, 70 (1), 19-34.

DeVellis, Robert F. (1991), *Scale Development: Theory and Application*. Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications.

Dillman, Donald (2000), *Mail and Internet Surveys: The Tailored Design Method* (2nd ed.). New York: John Wiley and Sons.

Dixon, Gene and Jerry Westbrook (2003), "Followers Revealed," *Engineering Management Journal*, 15 (1), 19-25.

Doney, Patricia and Joseph Cannon (1997), "An Examination of the Nature of Trust in Buyer-Seller Relationships," *Journal of Marketing*, 61 (2), 35-51.

Droge, Cornelia and Richard Germain (1989), "The Impact of the Centralized Structuring of Logistics Activities on Span of Control, Formalization and Performance," *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 17 (1), 83-89.

Dunn, Steven C., Robert F. Seaker, and Matthew A. Waller (1994), "Latent Variables in Business Logistics Research: Scale Development and Validation," *Journal of Business Logistics*, 15 (2).

Dvir, Taly, Dov Eden, Bruce J. Avolio, and Boas Shamir (2002), "Impact of Transformational Leadership on Follower Development and Performance: A Field Experiment," *Academy of Management Journal*, 45 (4), 735-44.

Dwyer, F. Robert and Sejo Oh (1988), "A Transaction Cost Perspective on Vertical Contractual Structure and Interchannel Competitive Strategies," *Journal of Marketing*, 52 (April), 21-34.

Dyas, G. P. and H.T. Thanheiser (1976), *The Emerging European Enterprise: Strategy* and *Structure in French and German Industry*. London: Macmillian.

Egelhoff, William G. (1982), "Strategy and Structure in Multinational Corporations: An Information-Processing Approach," *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 27 (3), 435-58.

---- (1988), "Strategy and Structure in Multinational-Corporations - a Revision of the Stopford and Wells Model," *Strategic Management Journal*, 9 (1), 1-14.

Ellram, Lisa M. and Martha C. Cooper (1990), "Supply Chain Management, Partnerships and the Shipper-Third Party Relationship," *The International Journal of Logistics Management*, 1 (2), 1-10.

Emerson, Richard (1962), "Power-Dependence Relations," American Sociological Review, 27 (1), 31-41.

Epitropaki, Olga and Robin Martin (2005), "The Moderating Role of Individual Differences in the Relation between Transformational/Transactional Leadership Perceptions and Organizational Identification," *Leadership Quarterly*, 16 (4), 569-89.

Etgar, Michael (1977), "Channel Environment and Channel Leadership," Journal of Marketing Research, 14 (1), 69-76.

---- (1978), "Differences in the Use of Manufacturer Power in Conventional and Contractual Channels," *Journal of Retailing*, 54 (4), 49-62.

---- (1979), "Sources and Types of Intrachannel Conflict," *Journal of Retailing*, 55 (1), 61-75.

Fawcett, Stanley E. and Gregory M. Magnan (2004), "Ten Guiding Principles for High-Impact Scm," *Business Horizons*, 47 (5), 67-74.

Fawcett, Stanley E., Linda L. Stanley, and Sheldon R. Smith (1997), "Developing a Logistics Capability to Improve the Performance of International Operations," *Journal of Business Logistics*, 18 (2), 101-27.

Fornell, Claes and David F. Larcker (1981), "Evaluating Structural Equation Models with Unobservable Variables and Measurement Error," *Journal of Marketing Research*, 18 (1), 39-50.

Franko, L. G. (1976), *The European Multinationals: A Renewed Challenge to American and British Big Business*. Stamford, CT: Greylock Publishing.

Frazier, Gary and John Summers (1986), "Perceptions of Interfirm Power and Its Use within a Franchise Channel of Distribution," *Journal of Marketing Research*, 23 (2), 169-76.

French, John and Bertram Raven (1959), "The Bases of Social Power," in *Studies in Social Power*, Dorwin Cartwright, Ed. Ann Arbor, MI: University of Michigan Press.

Fuller, Robert M. (2001), "The Evolving Paradigm of Leadership Development," in *Contemporary Issues in Leadership*, William E. Rosenbach and Robert L. Taylor, Eds. Cambridge, MA: Westview Press.

Galbraith, Jay R. and Robert K. Kazanjian (1986), *Strategy Implementation: Structure, Systems, and Process.* St. Paul, MN: West Publishing Company.

Galbraith, Jay R. and Daniel A. Nathanson (1978), *Strategy Implementation: The Role of Structure and Process*. St. Paul, MN: West Publishing Company.

Galton, F. (1869), Hereditary Genius. New York: Appleton.

Galunic, D. Charles and Kathleen M. Eisenhardt (1994), "Renewing the Strategy-Structure-Performance Paradigm," *Research in Organizational Behavior*, 16, 215-55.

Gammelgaard, Britta and Paul D. Larson (2001), "Logistics Skills and Competencies for Supply Chain Management," *Journal of Business Logistics*, 22 (2), 27-50.

Garver, Michael S. and John T. Mentzer (1999), "Logistics Research Methods: Employing Structural Equations Modeling to Test for Construct Validity," *Journal of Business Logistics*, 20 (1), 33-53.

Gaski, John F. (1984), "The Theory of Power and Conflict in Channels of Distribution," *Journal of Marketing*, 48 (3), 9-29.

Gaski, John F. and John R. Nevin (1985), "The Differential Effects of Exercised and Unexercised Power Sources in a Marketing Channel," *Journal of Marketing Research*, 22 (2), 130-42.

Gerbing, David W. and James C. Anderson (1984), "On the Meaning of within-Factor Correlated Measurement Errors," *Journal of Consumer Research*, 11 (1), 572-80.

---- (1988), "An Updated Paradigm for Scale Development Incorporating Unidimensionality and Its Assessment," *Journal of Marketing Research*, 25 (2), 186-92.

Giuliani, Rudolph (2002), Leadership. New York: Hyperion.

Goffee, Rob and Gareth Jones (2006), "The Art of Followership," *European Business Forum*, 25 (Summer), 22-26.

Goldsby, Thomas J., Stanley E. Griffis, and Anthony S. Roath (2006), "Modeling Lean, Agile, and Leagile Supply Chain Strategies," *Journal of Business Logistics*, 27 (1), 57-80.

Graen, George B. (1976), "Role Making Processes within Complex Organizations," in *Handbook of Industrial and Organizational Psychology*, M. D. Dunnette, Ed. Chicago: Rand-McNally.

Graen, George B. and Mary Uhl-Bien (1995), "Development of Leader-Member Exchange (Lmx) Theory of Leadership over 25 Years: Applying a Multi-Level, Multi-Domain Perspective," *Leadership Quarterly*, 6 (2), 219-47.

Gruman, Galen (2005), "Supply on Demand," InfoWorld, 27 (16), 47-51.

Grundstien-Amado, Rivka (1999), "Bilateral Transformational Leadership: An Approach to Fostering Ethical Conduct in Public Service Organizations," *Administration and Society*, 31 (2), 247-60.

Hair, Joseph F., Rolph A. Anderson, Ronald L. Tatham, and William C. Black (1998), *Multivariate Data Analysis*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.

Hall, David J. and Maurice A. Saias (1980), "Strategy Follows Structure!," *Strategic Management Journal*, 1 (2), 149-63.

Harrison, A. and C. New (2002), "The Role of Coherent Supply Chain Strategy and Performance Management in Achieving Competitive Advantage: An International Survey," *Journal of the Operational Research Society*, 53 (3), 263.

Hater, John J. and Bernard M. Bass (1988), "Supervisors' Evaluations and Subordinates' Perceptions of Transformational and Transactional Leadership," *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 73 (4), 695-702.

Hattie, John (1985), "Methodology Review: Assessing Unidimensionality of Tests and Items," *Applied Psychological Measurement*, 9 (2), 139-64.

Heifetz, Ronald A. (1994), *Leadership without Easy Answers*. Cambridge, MA: Belknap Press.

Hemphill, John K. (1949), *Situational Factors in Leadership*. Columbus, OH: Ohio State University Bureau of Educational Research.

Hemphill, John K. and A. E. Coons (1957), "Development of the Leader Behavior Description Questionnaire," in *Leader Behavior: Its Description and Measurement*, Ralph M. Stogdill and A. E. Coons, Eds. Columbus, OH: Bureau of Business Research, Ohio State University.

Hogg, Michael A., Robin Martin, and Karen Weeden (2003), "Leader-Member Relations and Social Identify," in *Leadership and Power*, Daan van Knippenberg and Michael A. Hogg, Eds. London: Sage.

Hollander, Edwin Paul (1958), "Conformity, Status, and Idiosyncrasy Credit," *Psychological Review*, 65, 117-27.

---- (1978), Leadership Dynamics: A Practical Guide to Effective Relationships. New York: Free Press.

---- (1993), "Legitimacy, Power and Influence: A Perspective on Relational Features of Leadership," in *Leadership Theory and Research: Perspectives and Directions*, M. M. Chemers and R. Ayman, Eds. San Diego: Academic Press.

Holmberg, Stefan (2000), "A Systems Perspective on Supply Chain Measurements," *International Journal of Physical Distribution and Logistics Management*, 30 (10), 847-68.

Hoskisson, Robert E. (1987), "Multidivisional Structure and Performance: The Contingency of Diversification Strategy," *Academy of Management Journal*, 30 (4), 625-44.

Höst, Martin, Björn Regnell, and Claes Wohlin (2000), "Using Students as Subjects: A Comparative Study of Students and Professionals in Lead-Time Impact Assessment," *Empirical Software Engineering*, 5, 201-14.

House, Robert J. (1977), "A 1976 Theory of Charismatic Leadership," in *Leadership: The Cutting Edge*, J. G. Hunt and L. I. Larson, Eds. Carbondale, IL: Southern Illinois University Press.

---- (1965), "Managerial Reactions to Two Methods of Management Training," *Personnel Psychology*, 18 (3), 311-19.

---- (1971), "A Path-Goal Theory of Leader Effectiveness," *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 16 (3), 321-38.

---- (1996), "Path-Goal Theory of Leadership: Lessons, Legacy, and a Reformulated Theory," *Leadership Quarterly*, 7 (3), 323-52.

House, Robert J. and Ram N. Aditya (1997), "The Social Scientific Study of Leadership: Quo Vadis?," *Journal of Management*, 23 (3), 409-73.

House, Robert J. and M. I. Baetz (1991), "Leadership: Some Empirical Generalizations and New Research Directions," in *Research in Organizational Behavior*, B. M. Staw, Ed. Vol. 1. Greenwich, CT: JAI Press.

House, Robert J. and T. R. Mitchell (1974), "Path-Goal Theory of Leadership," *Journal of Contemporary Business*, 3, 81-97.

House, Robert J., Scott A. Shane, and David M. Herold (1996), "Rumors of the Death of Dispositional Theory and Research in Organizational Behavior Are Greatly Exaggerated," *Academy of Management Review*, 21 (1), 203-24.

House, Robert J., William D. Spangler, and James Woycke (1991), "Personality and Charisma in the U.S. Presidency: A Psychological Theory of Leader Effectiveness," *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 36 (3), 364-96.

Howell, Jane M. and Bruce J. Avolio (1993), "Transformational Leadership, Transactional Leadership, Locus of Control, and Support for Innovation: Key Predictors of Consolidated-Business-Unit Performance," Journal of Applied Psychology, 78 (6), 891-902.

Howell, Jane M. and Kathryn E. Hall-Merenda (1999), "The Ties That Bind: The Impact of Leader-Member Exchange, Transformational and Transactional Leadership, and Distance on Predicting Follower Performance," *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 84 (5), 680-94.

Howell, Jane M. and Boas Shamir (2005), "The Role of Followers in the Charismatic Leadership Process: Relationships and Their Consequences," *Academy of Management Review*, 30 (1), 96-112.

Hoyt, Crystal L. and Jim Blascovich (2003), "Transformational and Transactional Leadership in Virtual and Physical Environments," *Small Group Research*, 34 (6), 678-715.

Hulland, John, John Ylu Ho Chow, and Shunyin Lam (1996), "Use of Causal Models in Marketing Research: A Review," *International Journal of Research in Marketing*, 13 (2), 181-97.

Hult, Thomas M., O. C. Ferrell, Robert F. Hurley, and Larry C. Giunipero (2000), "Leadership and Relationship Commitment," *Industrial Marketing Management*, 29 (2), 111-19.

Humphreys, John H. and Walter O. Einstein (2003), "Nothing New under the Sun: Transformational Leadership from a Historical Perspective," *Management Decision*, 41 (1), 85-95.

Hunt, James G. (1999), "Transformational/Charismatic Leadership's Transformation of the Field: An Historical Essay," *Leadership Quarterly*, 10 (2), 129-44.

Hunt, Shelby D. (1991), *Modern Marketing Theory: Criticial Issues in Philosophy of Marketing Science*. Cincinnati, OH: South-Western Publishing Co.

Hunt, Shelby D. and Robert M. Morgan (1995), "The Comparative Advantage Theory of Competition," *Journal of Marketing*, 59 (2), 1-15.

Hunt, Shelby D. and John R. Nevin (1974), "Power in a Channel of Distribution: Sources and Consequences," *Journal of Marketing Research*, 11 (2), 186-93.

Hutt, Michael D., Edwin R. Stafford, Beth A. Walker, and Peter H. Reingen (2000), "Defining the Social Network of a Strategic Alliance," in Sloan Management Review Vol. 41: Sloan Management Review.

Jacobs, Thomas O. (1970), *Leadership and Exchange in Formal Organizations*. Alexandria, VA: Human Resources Research Organization.

Janda, Kenneth F. (1960), "Towards the Explication of the Concept of Leadership in Terms of the Concept of Power," *Human Relations*, 13 (4), 345-63.

Jenkins, W. O. (1947), "A Review of Leadership Studies with Particular Reference to Military Problems," *Psychological Bulletin*, 44, 54-79.

Jennings, Eugene Emerson (1959), "The Authoritarian Cultural Lag in Business," *Journal of the Academy of Management*, 2 (2), 111-26.

John, Oliver P. and S. Srivastava (1999), "The Big Five Trait Taxonomy: History, Measurement and Theoretical Perspectives," in *Handbook of Personality*, Lawrence A. Pervin and Oliver P. John, Eds. New York: Guilford Press.

Johnson, J. David, William A. Donohue, Charles K. Atkin, and Sally Johnson (1994), "Differences between Formal and Informal Communication Channels," *Journal of Business Communication*, 31 (2), 111-22.

Jones, Thomas C and Daniel W. Riley (1985), "Using Inventory for Competitive Advantage through Supply Chain Management," *International Journal of Physical Distribution and Logistics Management*, 15 (5), 16-26.

Jung, Dong I. and Bruce J. Avolio (2000), "Opening the Black Box: An Experimental Investigation of the Mediating Effects of Trust and Value Congruence on Transformational and Transactional Leadership," *Journal of Organizational behavior*, 21 (8), 949-64.

Kahn, Kenneth B. and John T. Mentzer (1996), "Logistics and Interdepartmental Integration," *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*, 26 (8), 6-14.

Kahn, Robert L. and Daniel Katz (1953), "Leadership Practices in Relation to Productivity and Morale," in *Group Dynamics*, D. Cartwright and A. Zander, Eds. New York: Harper and Row.

Kaplan, Robert S. and David P. Norton (1992), "The Balanced Scorecard -- Measures That Drive Performance," *Harvard Business Review*, 70 (1), 71-79.

Katz, Daniel and Robert L. Kahn (1978), *The Social Psychology of Organizations* (2nd ed.). New York: Wiley.

Keller, Robert T. and Andrew D. Szilagyi (1976), "Employee Reactions to Leader Reward Behavior," *Academy of Management Journal*, 19 (4), 619-27.

Kelley, Robert E. (2004), "Followership," in *Encyclopedia of Leadership*, George R. Goethals and Georgia Sorensen and James MacGregor Burns, Eds. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

---- (1992), The Power of Followership. New York: Doubleday-Currency.

Kelton, W. David, Randall P. Sadowski, and Deborah A. Sadowski (1998), *Simulation with Arena*. New York: McGraw-Hill.

Kenny, D. A. and B. W. Hallmark (1992), "Rotation Designs in Leadership Research," *Leadership Quarterly*, 3 (1), 24-41.

Kent, John L. and John T. Mentzer (2003), "The Effect of Investment in Interorganizational Information Technology in a Retail Supply Chain," *Journal of Business Logistics*, 24 (2), 155-75.

Kent, Thomas W. (2005), "Leading and Managing: It Takes Two to Tango," *Management Decision*, 43 (7/8), 1010-17.

Kerlinger, Fred N. and Howard B. Lee (2000), *Foundations of Behavioral Research, 4th Edition*. Ft. Worth, TX: Harcourt College Publishers.

Khandwalla, Pradip N. (1972), "Environment and Its Impact of the Organization," *International Studies of Management & Organization*, 2 (3), 297-313.

Kinsella, Bret (2003), "The Wal-Mart Factor," Industrial Engineer: IE, 35 (11), 32-36.

Kogut, Bruce and Harbir Singh (1988), "The Effect of National Culture on the Choice of Entry Mode," *Journal of International Business Studies*, 19 (Fall), 411-32.

Kohli, Ajay K. (1989), "Determinants of Influence in Organizational Buying: A Contingency Approach," *Journal of Marketing*, 53 (3), 50-65.

---- (1985), "Some Unexplored Supervisory Behaviors and Their Influence on Salespeople's Role Clarity, Specific Self-Esteem, Job Satisfaction, and Motivation," *Journal of Marketing Research (JMR)*, 22 (4), 424-33.

Kohli, Ajay K. and Gerald Zaltman (1988), "Measuring Multiple Buying Influences," *Industrial Marketing Management*, 17 (3), 197-204.

Kouzes, James M. and Barry Posner (1990), "The Credibility Factor: What Followers Expect from Their Leaders," *Management Review*, 79 (1), 29-33.

---- (1987), The Leadership Challenge. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

---- (2004), "A Prescription for Leading in Cynical Times," *Ivey Business Journal*, 20 (11), 1-7.

LaLonde, Bernard J. and James M. Masters (1994), "Emerging Logistics Strategies.," *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*, 24 (7), 35-47.

Lambert, Douglas M., Martha C. Cooper, and Janus D. Pagh (1998), "Supply Chain Management: Implementation Issues and Research Opportunities," *The International Journal of Logistics Management*, 9 (2), 1-19.

Lambert, Douglas M. and Terrance L. Pohlen (2001), "Supply Chain Metrics," *The International Journal of Logistics Management*, 12 (1), 1-19.

Lambert, Douglas M., James R. Stock, and Lisa M. Ellram (1998), *Fundamentals of Logistics Management*. Boston: McGraw-Hill.

Large, Rudolf O. and Christina Gimenez (2006), "Oral Communication Capabilities of Purchasing Managers: Measurement and Typology," *Journal of Supply Chain Management: A Global Review of Purchasing & Supply*, 42 (2), 17-32.

Levy, David L. (1995), "International Sourcing and Supply Chain Stability," *Journal of International Business Studies*, 26 (2), 343-60.

Li, Zhan G. and Rajiv P. Dant (1997), "An Exploratory Study of Exclusive Dealing in Channel Relationships," *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 25 (3), 201-13.

Likert, R. (1961), New Patterns of Management. New York: McGraw-Hill.

Lindell, Michael K. and David J. Whitney (2001), "Accounting for Common Method Variance in Cross-Selectional Research Designs," *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 86 (1), 114-21.

Litzinger, William and Thomas Schaefer (1982), "Leadership through Followership," *Business Horizons*, 25 (5), 78-81.

Lubatkin, Michael and Ronald C. Rogers (1989), "Diversification, Systematic Risk, and Shareholder Return: A Capital Market Extension of Rumelt's 1974 Study," *Academy of Management Journal*, 32 (2), 454-65.

Lundin, Stephen C. and Lynne C. Lancaster (1990), "The Importance of Followership," *The Futurist*, 24 (3), 18-22.

Lusch, Robert F. and Robert H. Ross (1985), "The Nature of Power in a Marketing Channel," *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 13 (3), 39-56.

MacKenzie, Scott B., Phillip M. Podsakoff, and Cheryl Burke Jarvis (2005), "The Problem of Measurement Model Misspecification in Behavioral and Organizational Research and Some Recommended Solutions," *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 90 (4), 710-30.

MacKenzie, Scott B., Phillip M. Podsakoff, and Gregory A. Rich (2001), "Transformational and Transactional Leadership and Salesperson Performance," *Journal* of the Academy of Marketing Science, 29 (2), 115-34.

Mael, Fred A. and Lois E. Tetrick (1992), "Identifying Organizational Identification," *Educational & Psychological Measurement*, 52 (4), 813-24.

Maloni, Michael and W. C. Benton (2000), "Power Influences in the Supply Chain," *Journal of Business Logistics*, 21 (1), 49-73.

Marion, Russ and Mary Uhl-Bien (2001), "Leadership in Complex Organizations," *Leadership Quarterly*, 12 (4), 389-418.

Masarech, Mary Ann (2001), "Authentic Leadership: A Challenge and a Process," *Employment Relations Today*, 28 (3), 79-84.

Masi, Ralph J. and Robert A. Cooke (2000), "Effects of Transformational Leadership on Subordinate Motivation. Empowering Norms, and Organizational Productivity," *International Journal of Organizational Analysis*, 8 (1), 16-47.

Maslow, Abraham H. (1954), Motivation and Personality. New York: Harper and Row.

Maxwell, John C. (1998), *The 21 Irrefutable Laws of Leadership*. Nashville: Thomas Nelson, Inc.

May, Douglas R., Timothy D. Hodges, Adrian Y.L. Chan, and Bruce J. Avolio (2003), "Developing the Moral Component of Authentic Leadership," *Organizational Dynamics*, 32 (3), 247-60.

McClelland, D. C. (1985), Human Motivation. Glenview, IL: Scott, Foresman.

---- (1975), Power: The Inner Experience. New York: Irvington.

McGrath, Joseph E. (1982), "Dilemmatics: The Study of Research Choices and Dilemmas," in *Judgment Calls in Research*, Joseph E. McGrath, Joanne Martin and Richard A. Kula, eds., Ed. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage Publications.

McGrath, Joseph E., Joanne Martin, and Richard A. Kula (1982), "Some Quasi-Rules for Making Judgment Calls in Research," in *Judgment Calls in Research*, Joseph E. McGrath, Joanne Martin and Richard A. Kula, eds., Ed. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage Publications.

McGregor, Jane (2006), "How to Play Follow the Leader," Business Week (3971), 16.

Medsker, Gina J., Larry J. Williams, and Patricia J. Holahan (1994), "A Review of Current Practices for Evaluating Causal Models in Organizational Behavior and Human Resources Management Research," *Journal of Management*, 20 (2), 439-64.

Meindl, James R. and Sanford B. Ehrlich (1987), "The Romance of Leadership and the Evaluation of Organizational Performance," *Academy of Management Journal*, 30 (1), 91-109.

Menon, Ajay, Bernard J. Jaworski, and Ajay K. Kohli (1997), "Product Quality: Impact of Interdepartmental Interactions," *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 25 (3), 187-200.

Mentzer, John T. (2004), *Fundamentals of Supply Chain Management*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

---- Ed. (2001), Supply Chain Management. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.

---- (1989), "Symposium Feature: Approaches to Logistics Modeling," *Journal of Business Logistics*, 10 (1), 104-05.

Mentzer, John T. and Daniel J. Flint (1997), "Validity in Logistics Research," *Journal of Business Logistics*, 18 (1), 199-216.

Mentzer, John T. and Kenneth B. Kahn (1995), "A Framework of Logistics Research," *Journal of Business Logistics*, 14 (1).

Mentzer, John T. and Brenda Ponsford Konrad (1991), "An Efficiency/Effectiveness Approach to Logistics Performance Analysis," *Journal of Business Logistics*, 12 (1), 33-63.

Mentzer, John T., Soonhong Min, and L. Michelle Bobbitt (2004), "Toward a Unified Theory of Logistics," *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*, 34 (8), 606-27.

Miles, Raymond E. and Charles C. Snow (1984), "Fit, Failure and the Hall of Fame," *California Management Review*, 26 (3), 10-28.

---- (1978), Organizational Strategy, Structure and Process. New York, NY: McGraw Hill.

Miller, Danny (1988), "Relating Porter's Business Strategies to Environment and Structure: Analysis and Performance Implications," *Academy of Management Journal*, 31 (2), 280-308.

---- (1987a), "Strategy Making and Structure: Analysis and Implications for Performance," *Academy of Management Journal*, 30 (1), 7-32.

---- (1987b), "The Structural and Environmental Correlates of Business Strategy," *Strategic Management Journal*, 8 (1), 55-76.

Min, Soonhong and John T. Mentzer (2004), "Developing and Measuring Supply Chain Management Concepts," *Journal of Business Logistics*, 25 (1), 63-99.

Minor, John B. (1975), "The Uncertain Future of the Leadership Concept: An Overview," in *Leadership Frontiers*, James G. Hunt and L. L. Larson, Eds. Kent, OH: Kent State University Press.

Mohr, Jakki J., Robert J. Fisher, and John R. Nevin (1996), "Collaborative Communication in Interfirm Relationships: Moderating Effects of Integration and Control," *Journal of Marketing*, 60 (3), 103-05.

Mohr, Jakki and John R. Nevin (1990), "Communication Strategies in Marketing Channels: A Theoretical Perspective," *Journal of Marketing*, 54 (4), 36-51.

Mohr, Jakki and Robert Spekman (1994), "Characteristics of Partnership Success: Partnership Attributes, Communication Behavior, and Conflict Resolution Techniques," *Strategic Management Journal*, 15 (2), 135-52.

Mollenkopf, Diane, Antony Gibson, and Lucie Ozanne (2000), "The Integration of Marketing and Logistics Functions: An Empirical Examination of New Zealand Firms," *Journal of Business Logistics*, 21 (2), 89-112.

Molnar, Joseph J. and David L. Rogers (1979), "A Comparative Model of Interorganizational Conflict," *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 24 (3), 405-25.

Moore, Bert (2005), "The Wal-Mart Mandate: Compliance and Beyond," *Material Handling Management*, 60 (9), 16-19.

Moore, Kevin R. and William A. Cunningham (1999), "Social Exchange Behavior in Logistics Relationships: A Shipper Perspective," *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*, 29 (2), 103-21.

Morris, Michael H., Janinne Brunyee, and Michael Page (1998), "Relationship Marketing in Practice," *Industrial Marketing Management*, 27 (4), 359-71.

Murdock, George P. (1967), *Ethnographic Atlas*. Pittsburgh, PA: University of Pittsburgh Press.

Nault, Barrie R. (1998), "Information Technology and Organization Design: Locating Decisions and Information," *Management Science*, 44 (10), 1321-35.

Nunnally, Jun C. and Ira H. Bernstein (1994), *Psychometric Theory* (3rd ed.). New York: McGraw-Hill.

O'Regan, Nicholas, Abby Ghobadian, and Martin Sims (2006), "Fast Tracking Innovation in Manufacturing Smes," *Technovation*, 26 (2), 251-61.

Organ, Dennis W. (1988), Organizational Citizenship Behavior: The Good Soldier Syndrome. Lexington, MA: Lexington Books.

Pagell, Mark (2004), "Understanding the Factors That Enable and Inhibit the Integration of Operations, Purchasing and Logistics," *Journal of Operations Management*, 22 (5), 459-87.

Paige, G. D. (1977), The Scientific Study of Political Leadership. New York: Free Press.

Parkhe, Arvind (1993), ""Messy" Research, Methodological Predispositions, and Theory Development in International Joint Ventures," *Academy of Management Journal*, 18 (2), 227-68.

Pavan, F. D. J. (1972), "The Strategy and Structure of Italian Enterprise," Unpublished Dissertation, Graduate School of Business Administration, Harvard University.

Pearce, Craig L., Henry P. Sims, Jonathan F. Cox, Gail Ball, Eugene Schnell, Ken A. Smith, and Linda Trevino (2003), "Transactors, Transformers and Beyond," *Journal of Management Development*, 22 (4), 273-307.

Perry, Ken W. (2000), "Does Leadership Help the Bottom Line?," New Zealand Management, 47 (3), 38-41.

Perry, Ken W. and S. B. Proctor (2000), *The New Zealand Leadership Survey*. Wellington, New Zealand: Centre for the Study of Leadership, Victoria University.

Phillips, Don T. (1992), Lincoln on Leadership. New York: Warner Books.

Podsakoff, Philip M., Scott B. MacKenzie, and William H. Bommer (1996), "Transformational Leader Behaviors and Substitutes for Leadership as Determinants of Employee Satisfaction, Commitment, Trust, and Organizational Citizenship Behaviors," *Journal of Management*, 22 (2), 259-98.

Podsakoff, Philip M., Scott B. MacKenzie, Julie Beth Paine, and Daniel G. Bachrach (2000), "Organizational Citizenship Behaviors: A Critical Review of the Theoretical and Empirical Literature and Suggestions for Future Research," *Journal of Management*, 26 (3), 513-63.

Podsakoff, Philip M., Scott B. MacKinsie, Robert H. Moorman, and Richard Fetter (1990), "Transformational Leader Behaviors and Their Effects on Followers' Trust in Leader, Satisfaction, and Organizational Citizenship Behaviors," *Leadership Quarterly*, 1 (2), 107-42.

Porter, Michael E. (1985), Competitive Advantage. New York: The Free Press.

---- (1980), Competitive Strategy. New York: The Free Press.

Potter, Earl H., William E. Rosenbach, and Thane S. Pittman (2001), "Followers for the Times," in *Contemporary Issues in Leadership*, William E. Rosenbach and Robert L. Taylor, Eds. 5th ed. Cambridge, MA: Westview Press.

Raven, Bertram (1965), "Social Influence and Power," in *Current Studies in Social Psychology*, Ivan D. Steiner and Martin Fishbein, Eds. New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston.

Rhea, Marti J. and David L. Shrock (1987), "Measuring the Effectiveness of Physical Distribution," *Journal of Business Logistics*, 8 (1), 31-45.

Richards, D. and S. Engle (1986), "After the Vision: Suggestions to Corporate Visionaries and Vision Champions," in *Transforming Leadership*, J. D. Adams, Ed. Alexandria, VA: Miles river Press.

Rinehart, Lloyd M., James A. Eckert, Robert B. Handfeld, Thomas J. Page Jr., and Thomas Atkin (2004), "An Assessment of Supplier-Customer Relationships," *Journal of Business Logistics*, 25 (1), 25-63.

Ring, Peter Smith and Andrew H. Van De Ven (1994), "Developmental Processes of Cooperative Interorganizational Relationships," *Academy of Management Review*, 19 (1), 90-118.

Rivoli, Pietra and Eugene Salorio (1996), "Foreign Direct Investment and Investment under Uncertainty," *Journal of International Business Studies*, 27 (2), 335-57.

Robertson, Peter W., Peter R. Gibson, and John T. Flanagan (2002), "Strategic Supply Chain Development by Integration of Key Global Logistics Process Linkages," *International Journal of Production Research*, 40 (16), 4021-40.

Rodrigues, Alexandre, Theodore P. Stank, and Daniel Lynch (2004), "Linking Strategy, Structure, Process and Performance in Integrated Logistics," *Journal of Business Logistics*, 25 (2), 65-94.

Rumelt, Richard P. (1974), *Strategy, Structure, and Economic Performance*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

Sanders, Nada R. and Robert Premus (2002), "It Applications in Supply Chain Organizations: A Link between Competitive Priorities and Organizational Benefits," *Journal of Business Logistics*, 23 (1), 65-83.

---- (2005), "Modeling the Relationship between Firm It Capability Collaboration, and Performance," *Journal of Business Logistics*, 26 (1), 1-23.

Sankaran, Jayaram K. and Patrick Luxton (2003), "Logistics in Relation to Strategy in Dairying: The Case of New Zealand Dairy," *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 23 (5), 522-45.

Sashkin, Marshall and W. Warner Burke (1990), "Understanding and Assessing Organizational Leadership," in *Measures in Leadership*, Kenneth E. Clark and Mirium B. Clark, Eds. West Orange, NJ: Center for Creative Leadership.

Sashkin, Marshall and William E. Rosenbach (2001), "A New Vision for Leadership," in *Contemporary Issues in Leadership*, William E. Rosenbach and Robert L. Taylor, Eds. 5th ed. Cambridge, MA: Westview.

Schein, Edgar H. (1992), Organizational Culture and Leadership (2nd ed.). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

Schneider, B. (1983), "Interactional Psychology and Organizational Behavior," in *Research in Organizational Behavior*, L. L. Cummings and B. M. Staw, Eds. Greenwich, CT: JAI Press.

Schriesheim, C. A., Robert J. House, and S. Kerr (1976), "Leader Initiating Structure: A Reconciliation of Discrepant Research Results and Some Empirical Tests," *Organizational behavior and Human Performance*, 15 (2), 297-321.

Schriesheim, Chester A., Stephanie L. Castro, Xiaohua Zhou, and Leslie A. DeChurch (2006), "An Investigation of Path-Goal and Transformational Leadership Theory Predictions at the Individual Level of Analysis," *Leadership Quarterly*, 17 (1), 21-38.

Schriesheim, Chester and Linda L. Neider (1996), "Path-Goal Leadership Theory: The Long and Winding Road," *Leadership Quarterly*, 7 (3), 317-21.

Senge, Peter (2001), "Leading Learning Organizations," in *Contemporary Issues in Leadership*, William E. Rosenbach and Robert L. Taylor, Eds. 5th ed. Cambridge, MA: Westview.

Shamir, Boas (1999), "Leadership in Boundaryless Organizations: Disposable or Indispensable?," *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 8 (1), 49-71.

Sharma, Arun, Dhruv Grewal, and Michael Levy (1995), "The Customer Satisfaction/Logistics Interface," *Journal of Business Logistics*, 16 (2), 1-22.

Shister, Neil (2006), "Applying the Ideas of the Wal-Marts of the World to Smaller Companies," *World Trade*, 19 (3), 26-32.

Simonton, D. K. (1994), Greatness: What Makes History and Why. New York: Guilford.

Sinkovics, Rudolf R. and Anthony S. Roath (2004), "Strategic Orientation, Capabilities and Performance in Manufacturer - 3pl Relationships," *Journal of Business Logistics*, 25 (2), 43-64.

Skjoett-Larson, Tage, Christian Thernoe, and Claus Andresen (2003), "Supply Chain Collaboration," *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*, 33 (6), 531-49.

Slater, Robert (1999), Jack Welch and the G. E. Way: Management Insights and Leadership Secrets of the Legendary Ceo. New York: McGraw-Hill.

Smith, H. L. and L. M. Krueger (1933), "A Brief Summary of Literature on Leadership," *Indiana University: School of Education Bulletin.*

Sparks, John R. and Joseph A. Schenk (2001), "Explaining the Effects of Transformation Leadership: An Investigation of the Effects of Higher-Order Motives in Multilevel Marketing Organizations," *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 22 (8), 849-69.

Spencer, Herbert (1884), The Study of Sociology. New York: Appleton.

Spender, J. C. (1979), "Theory Building and Theory Testing in Strategic Management," in *Strategic Management*, Dan. E. Schendel and Charles W. Hoffer, Eds. Boston: Little, Brown and Company.

Stank, Theodore, Michael Crum, and Miren Arango (1999), "Benefits of Interfirm Coordination in Food Industry Supply Chains," *Journal of Business Logistics*, 20 (2), 21-42.

Stank, Theodore P. (2003), "Value Chain Game Facilitator Manual."

Stank, Theodore P., Beth R. Davis, and Brian S. Fugate (2005), "A Strategic Framework for Supply Chain Oriented Logistics," *Journal of Business Logistics*, 26 (2), 27-45.

Stank, Theodore P., Scott B. Keller, and David J. Closs (2001), "Performance Benefits of Supply Chain Logistical Integration," *Transportation Journal*, 41 (2/3), 32-46.

Stank, Theodore P., Scott B. Keller, and Patricia J. Daugherty (2001), "Supply Chain Collaboration and Logistical Service Performance," *Journal of Business Logistics*, 22 (1), 29-48.

Stank, Theodore P. and Patrick A. Traichal (1998), "Logistics Strategy, Organizational Design, and Performance in a Cross-Boarder Environment," *Logistics and Transportation Review*, 34 (1), 75-86.

Steenkamp, Jan-Benedict E. M. and Hans C. M. van Trijp (1991), "The Use of Lisrel in Validating Marketing Constructs," *International Journal of Research in Marketing*, 8 (4), 283-99.

Stern, Louis W. and Adel I. El-Ansary (1988), *Marketing Channels* (3rd ed.). Englewood Cliff, NJ: Prentice-Hall.

Stock, Gregory N., Noel P. Greis, and John D. Kasarda (1999), "Logistics, Strategy and Structure," *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*, 29 (3/4), 37-52.

Stock, James R. (2002), "Marketing Myopia Revisited: Lessons for Logistics," *International Journal of Physical Distribution and Materials Management*, 32 (1), 12-21.

---- (1996), "The Social Sciences and Logistics: Some Suggestions for Future Exploration," *Journal of Marketing Theory & Practice*, 4 (2), 1-26.

Stogdill, Ralph M. (1974), *Handbook of Leadership: A Survey of Theory and Research*. New York: Free Press.

---- (1948), "Personality Factors Associated with Leadership," *Journal of Psychology*, 25, 35-71.

Stogdill, Ralph M. and A. E. Coons (1957), *Leader Behavior: Its Description and Measurement*. Columbus, OH: Ohio State University Press for Bureau of Business research.

Stopford, J. M. and L. T. Wells (1972), *Managing the Multinational Enterprise*. New York, NY: Basic Books.

Sullivan, Daniel (1998), "Cognitive Tendencies in International Business Research: Implications of a "Narrow Vision"," *Journal of International Business Studies*, 29 (4).

Teas, R. Kenneth, John G. Wacker, and R. Eugene Hughes (1979), "A Path Analysis of Causes and Consequences of Salespeople's Perceptions of Role Clarity," *Journal of Marketing Research (JMR)*, 16 (3), 355-69.

Teece, David J. (1981), "Internal Organization and Economic Performance: An Empirical Analysis of the Profitability of Principal Firms," *Journal of Industrial Economics*, 30 (2), 173-99.

Tejeda, Manuel J., Terri A. Scandura, and Rajnandini Pillai (2001), "The Mlq Revisited: Psychometric Properties and Recommendations," *Leadership Quarterly*, 12 (1), 31-52.

Tickle, Emma L., Joanne Brownlee, and Di Nailon (2005), "Personal Epistemological Beliefs and Transformational Leadership Behaviors," *Journal of Management Development*, 24 (8), 706-19.

Ulrich, Karl T. and David J. Ellison (1999), "Holistic Customer Requirements and the Design-Select Decision," *Management Science*, 45 (5), 641-58.

Vandenberghe, Christian (1999), "Transactional Vs. Transformational Leadership: Suggestions for Future Research," *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 8 (1), 26-32.

Varadarajan, P. Rajan and Satish Jayachandran (1999), "Marketing Strategy: An Assessment of the State of the Field and Outlook," *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 27 (2), 120-43.

Venkatesh, R., Ajay K. Kohli, and Gerald Zaltman (1995), "Influence Strategies in Buying Centers," *Journal of Marketing*, 59 (4), 71-82.

Vera, Dusya and Mary Crossan (2004), "Strategic Leadership and Organizational Learning," *Academy of Management Review*, 29 (2), 222-40.

Waldman, David A., Bernard M. Bass, and Francis J. Yammarino (1990), "Adding to Contingent-Reward Behavior: The Augmenting Effect of Charismatic Leadership," *Group & Organization Studies*, 15, 381-94.

Waldman, David A., Gabriel G. Ramirez, Robert J. House, and Pahanish Puranam (2001), "Does Leadership Matter? Ceo Leadership Attributes and Profitability under Conditions of Perceived Environmental Uncertainty," *Academy of Management Journal*, 44 (1), 134-43.

Waldman, David A. and Francis J. Yammarino (1999), "Ceo Charismatic Leadership: Levels-of-Management and Levels-of-Analysis Effects," *Academy of Management Review*, 24 (2), 266-85.

Walker, William T. (1999), "Use Performance Measures to Align Enterprise Trading Partners," in *Achieving Supply Chain Excellence through Technology*, David L. Anderson, Ed. San Francisco: Montgomery Research.

Wang, Hui, Kenneth S. Law, Rick D. Hackett, Duanxu Wang, and Zhen Xiong Chen (2005), "Leader-Member Exchange as a Mediator of the Relationship between Transformational Leadership and Followers' Performance and Organizational Citizenship Behavior," *Academy of Management Journal*, 48 (3), 420-32.

Watson, Noel and Yu-Sheng Zheng (2005), "Decentralized Serial Supply Chains Subject to Order Delays and Information Distortion: Exploiting Real-Time Sales Data," *Manufacturing & Service Operations Management*, 7 (2), 152-68.

Williams, Lisa (2004), "Leading Beyond Excellence: What Makes a Supply Chain Leader?," *Modern Materials Handling*, 59 (12), S19-S21.

---- (1994), "Understanding Distribution Channels: An Interorganizational Study of Edi Adoption," *Journal of Business Logistics*, 19 (2), 173-203.

Williams, Lisa R., Avril Nibbs, Dimples Irby, and Terence Findley (1997), "Logistics Integration: The Effect of Information Technology, Team Composition, and Corporate Competitive Positioning," *Journal of Business Logistics*, 18 (2), 31-41.

Williamson, Oliver (1979), "Transaction Cost Economics: The Governance of Contractual Relations," *The Journal of Law and Economics*, 22 (2), 233-61.

Williamson, Oliver E. (1975), Markets and Hierarchies. New York: Free Press.

Woods, F. A. (1913), The Influence of Monarchs. New York: Macmillan.

Yukl, Gary (1989), "Managerial Leadership: A Review of Theory and Research," *Journal of Management*, 15 (2), 251-89.

Yukl, Gary A. (1999), "An Evaluation of Conceptual Weaknesses in Transformational and Charismatic Leadership Theories," *Leadership Quarterly*, 10 (2), 285-305.

---- (1998), Leadership in Organizations (4th ed.). Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.

---- (1981), Leadership in Organizations. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.

---- (2001), *Leadership in Organizations* (5th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice-Hall.

Yukl, Gary and D. D. Van Fleet (1992), "Theory and Research on Leadership in Organizations," in *Handbook of Industrial and Organizational Psychology*, M. D. Dunnette and L. M. Hough, Eds. 2nd ed. Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press.

Zeffane, R. M. (1994), "Correlates of Job Satisfaction and Their Implications for Work Redesign a Focus on the Australian Telecommunications Industry," *Public Personnel Management*, 23, 61-76.

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A

- A.1 List of Pre-test Items
- A.2 Pre-test Survey

	Appendix A.1									
	Construct / Item	Source	#	Mod						
	LEADERSHIP CONSTRUCTS & ITEMS									
	The supply chain leader									
Insp	pirational Behavior (IBL)									
1	Is enthusiastic about what needs to be accomplished by the supply chain	Avolio & Bass (2004)	13	Y						
2	Articulates a compelling vision of the supply chain's future	Avolio & Bass (2004)	26	Y						
3	Expresses confidence that supply chain goals will be achieved	Avolio & Bass (2004)	36	Y						
4	Shares its views on the most important values and beliefs	Avolio & Bass (2004)	6	Y						
5	Specifies the importance of having a shared sense of purpose	Avolio & Bass (2004)	14							
6	Considers the consequences of how decisions affect other supply chain members	Avolio & Bass (2004)	23	Y						
7	Emphasizes the importance of having a collective sense of mission	Avolio & Bass (2004)	34							
8	Clarifies the central purpose underlying actions of all supply chain members	Avolio & Bass (2004)	63	Y						
9	Expects high performance from all supply chain members	New								
10	Does not explain performance expectations	New								
Inte	ellectual Stimulation (ISL)									
1	Seeks differing perspectives from my company when solving problems	Avolio & Bass (2004)	8	Y						
2	Gets my company to look at problems from many different angles	Avolio & Bass (2004)	30	Y						
3	Encourages my company to express ideas and opinions	Avolio & Bass (2004)	65	Y						
4	Asks my company to contribute ideas for improving supply chain problems	New								
5	Promotes creativity from my company	New								
6	Helps my company develop more creative solutions to supply chain problems	New								
7	Does not want me to change processes that work	New								
8	Rejects ideas I present that are intended to improves processes	New								
Indi	ividualized Consideration (ICL)									
1	Treats my company as distinct from other supply chain members	Avolio & Bass (2004)	19	Y						
2	Considers my company as having different needs and abilities than other supply chain members	Avolio & Bass (2004)	29	Y						
3	Helps my company develop supply chain execution strengths	Avolio & Bass (2004)	31	Y						
4	Provides useful advice to help my company improve	Avolio & Bass (2004)	29	Y						
	List of Items for Pre-test		Appe	endix A.						
-----	---	-------------------------	------	----------						
	Construct / Item	Source	#	Mod						
5	Is effective in mentoring my company to become a better contributor to supply chain success	New								
6	Uses my company's skills to the supply chain's best advantage	New								
7	Understands my company's capabilities are different from others	New								
8	Encourages my company to continually improve it supply chain skills	New								
9	Assumes all supply chain members have the same abilities	New								
Cor	ntingent Reward (CRL)									
1	Provides my company with assistance in exchange for our efforts	Avolio & Bass (2004)	1	Y						
2	Defines which company is responsible for achieving specific performance targets	Avolio & Bass (2004)	11	Y						
3	Makes clear what my company should expect when performance goals are achieved	Avolio & Bass (2004)	16	Y						
4	Ensures that my company receives appropriate rewards for achieving performance targets	Avolio & Bass (2004)	56	Y						
5	Explains what my company must do to be rewarded for our efforts	Avolio & Bass (2004)	48	Y						
6	Clearly communicates performance standards associated with my company's rewards	New								
7	Applies punishments when my company's performance drops below expectations	New								
8	Does not connect my level of performance with rewards	New								
9	Is not clear in explaining the rewards for achieving performance targets	New								
Ma	nagement-by-Exception (MEL)									
1	Focuses attention on my company's irregularities and mistakes	Avolio & Bass (2004)	4	Y						
2	Concentrates full attention on dealing with my company's failures	Avolio & Bass (2004)	22	Y						
3	Keeps track of all my company's mistakes	Avolio & Bass (2004)	24	Y						
4	Directs my company's attention toward failures to meet standards	Avolio & Bass (2004)	27	Y						
5	Searches for mistakes before commenting on my company's performance	Avolio & Bass (2004)	54	Y						
6	Focuses attention on my company's deviations from standards	New								
7	Strives to uncover performance exceptions in my company	New								
8	Identifies performance failures and takes corrective action	New								
9	Rarely makes suggestions for correcting performance problems	New								

List of Items for Pre-test			Appe	endix A.1
	Construct / Item	Source	#	Mod
	FOLLOWERSHIP CONSTRUCTS AND ITEMS			
	My organization			
Ind	ependent Mindset (IMF)			
1	May question the supply chain leader's wisdom rather than simply doing what we're told	Kelley (1992)	17	Y
2	Declines to follow the supply chain leader's directions when it is contrary to our own values	Kelley (1992)	18	Y
3	Asserts our views on important issues, even when it might cause conflict with the supply chain leader	Kelley (1992)	20	Y
4	Knows what to do to help the supply chain achieve its performance goals	New		
5	Acts with integrity in all business dealings with the supply chain leader	New		
6	Makes supply chain related decisions in line with our set of important values	New		
7	Readily accepts the supply chain leader's direction without	New		
8	Makes the best business decision at the time regardless of prior commitments	New		
Crit	tical Thinking (CTF)			
1	Identifies critical supply chain activities without waiting for direction from the supply chain leader	Kelley (1992)	5	Y
2	Independently thinks up new ideas that contribute to supply chain goals	Kelley (1992)	11	Y
3	Tries to solve tough problems rather than look to the supply chain leader to do it	Kelley (1992)	12	Y
4	Often looks for better ways to accomplish a supply chain task	New		
5	Responds to supply chain problems with creative solutions	New		
6	Champions the need for change in the supply chain	New		
7	Actively participates in supply chain change projects	New		
8	Prefers to keep executing stable supply chain processes rather than developing new ones	New		
9	Depends on the supply chain leader to determine what should be done next	New		
Ass	ume Responsibility (ARF)			
1	Builds a record of success in tasks important to the supply chain leader	Kelley (1992)	7	Y
2	Accepts difficult assignments without the benefit of supervision from the supply chain leader	Kelley (1992)	8	Y
3	Meets supply chain deadlines with the highest quality of work	Kelley (1992)	8	Y
4	Seeks out and completes assignments that go above and beyond what's required	Kelley (1992)	9	Y
5	Assesses its supply chain performance objectively	New		
6	Makes sound decisions that benefit the entire supply chain	New		

List of Items for Pre-test		Appe	endix A.1	
	Construct / Item	Source	#	Mod
7	Completes our supply chain responsibilities accurately and on- time	New		
8	Tries to off-load work from the supply chain leader	New		
9	Never takes on additional responsibilities	New		Y
10	Frequently performs poorly on assigned tasks	New		Y
Col	laborate with Leader (COF)			
1	Understands the supply chain leader's needs and goals	Kelley (1992)	15	Y
2	Works hard to support the supply chain leader's goals	Kelley (1992)	15	Y
3	Develops a network of relationships with other supply chain members	New		
4	Tries to continually improve our relationship with the supply chain leader	New		
5	Strives to accomplish goals that have been mutually defined with the supply chain leader	New		
6	Calls on other supply chain members who possess more knowledge when our skills are limited in a certain area	New		
7	Prefers to stick to our own work	New		
8	Does not try to develop a deeper relationship with the supply chain leader	New		
<u>Sup</u>	ply Chain Commitment (CMF)			
1	Demonstrates commitment to overall supply chain success	Kelley (1992)	3	Y
2	Gives our ideas freely to the supply chain leader	Kelley (1992)	3	Y
3	Enthusiastically supports the efforts of the supply chain leader	Kelley (1992)	4	Y
4	Contributes at a high level when not in a leadership position	Kelley (1992)	10	Y
5	Creates a shared purpose with the supply chain leader	New		
6	Challenges the supply chain leader when it makes decisions that negatively effect overall supply chain performance	New		
7	Agrees with the supply chain leader's decisions, even when it may harm overall supply chain performance	New		
8	Is not interested in the supply chain leader's goals	New		
	SC STRUCTURE CONSTRUCTS AND ITEMS			
	In this supply chain			
Info	ormation Systems (INF)			
1	My company possesses the information needed to rapidly respond to customer requests	Fawcett, Stanly & Smith (1997)	LF3	Y
2	My company possesses the information needed to minimize customer complaints	Fawcett, Stanly & Smith (1997)	LQ3	Y
3	My company possesses the information needed to handle unexpected events	Fawcett, Stanly & Smith (1997)	LF2	Y
4	My company possesses the information needed to effectively plan supply chain tasks	New		

List of Items for Pre-test		Appe	endix A.	
	Construct / Item	Source	#	Mod
5	My company possesses the information needed to accurately fulfill customer orders	New		
6	My company possesses the information needed to control operating costs	New		
7	My company can rely on the order volume information provided by the supply chain leader	New		
8	My company can rely on the order volume information provided by other supply chain members	New		
Cor	nmunications (COM)			
1	We coordinate our activities with the supply chain leader through formal communications channels	Mohr, Fisher & Nevin (1996)	1	Y
2	Formal requirements for communication are established by the supply chain leader	New		
3	The supply chain leader communicates with my company on a predetermined schedule	New		
4	My company must report status to the supply chain leader each period	New		
5	The supply chain leader requires my company to comply with their reporting schedule	New		
6	My company frequently discusses issues informally with the supply chain leader	Li & Dant (1997)	2	Y
7	My company feels comfortable calling on the supply chain leader when the need arises	Menon, Jaworski & Kohli (1997)	3	Y
8	The supply chain leader does not set rules for how or when communication occurs	New		
Dec	sision-Making (DEC)			
1	Little action can be taken until the supply chain leader approves a decision	Mollenkopf, Gibson & Ozanne (2000)	C1	Y
2	Even small matters must be referred to the supply chain leader before my company takes action	Mollenkopf, Gibson & Ozanne (2000)	C2	Y
3	My company is constantly being monitored for rule violations by the supply chain leader	Mollenkopf, Gibson & Ozanne (2000)	C3	Y
4	Supply chain decision-making is highly concentrated with the supply chain leader	Williams (1994)	C1	Y
5	My company has freedom to make decisions that may improve supply chain performance	New		
6	My company makes supply chain decisions without the leader's authorization	New		
7	Supply chain decision-making is distributed across many supply chain members	New		

	List of Items for Pre-test			endix A.1
	Construct / Item	Source	#	Mod
Rev	vards (REW)			
1	All supply chain members are rewarded for working together to meet customers' needs	Mollenkopf, Gibson & Ozanne (2000)	R1	Y
2	Incentives for working with other firms are made available to my company	Mollenkopf, Gibson & Ozanne (2000)	R2	Y
3	Performance evaluation is partly based on end-customer feedback	Mollenkopf, Gibson & Ozanne (2000)	R5	Y
4	Rewards are based in part on integration of objectives across all supply chain member firms	Mollenkopf, Gibson & Ozanne (2000)	R6	Y
5	My company is rewarded for how well we meet our own goals	New		
6	My own company's performance determines our level of rewards	New		
7	Rewards are passed out to the best performing firms in the supply chain	New		
8	The supply chain leader determines the level of my company's rewards	New		

INSTRUCTIONS:

The following questions relate to your just-completed experience in the Supply Chain Value game. When answering the questions, please keep the following points in mind:

- You determine the *supply chain leader* based on your experience in the game.
- <u>*My company*</u> is the role you played in the game.
- <u>*This supply chain*</u> refers to all participants in the game just completed.
- <u>Supply chain members</u> are all companies represented in the supply chain.

Please try to answer each question. However, <u>do not guess</u> just to provide a response. If you cannot honestly answer a question please follow these rules:

- If you have <u>no basis</u> to answer the question, circle the question number and write <u>NB</u> in the left margin.
- If you *can't understand* the question, circle the question number and write a <u>?</u> in the left margin.
- If you <u>can't answer for some other reason</u>, circle the question number and <u>write a few</u> <u>words of explanation</u> in the left margin or on the back of the page.

<u>SECTION 1</u>: Identify the supply chain leader

- 1. Circle the company you consider to be the supply chain leader in the diagram below.
- 2. Mark an "X" through your own company.



Pre-Test Survey SECTION 2: Characteristics of the supply chain leader

Judge how frequently each descriptive statement fits the supply chain leader using the following scale.

Not at all	Once in a while	Sometimes	Fairly often	Frequently
1	2	3	4	5

My supply chain leader...

1	Is enthusiastic about what needs to be accomplished by the supply chain	1	2	3	4	5
2	Articulates a compelling vision of the supply chain's future	1	2	3	4	5
3	Expresses confidence that supply chain goals will be achieved	1	2	3	4	5
4	Shares its views on the most important values and beliefs	1	2	3	4	5
5	Specifies the importance of having a shared sense of purpose	1	2	3	4	5
6	Does not explain performance expectations	1	2	3	4	5
7	Considers the consequences of how decisions affect other supply chain members	1	2	3	4	5
8	Emphasizes the importance of having a collective sense of mission	1	2	3	4	5
9	Clarifies the central purpose underlying actions of all supply chain members	1	2	3	4	5
10	Expects high performance from all supply chain members	1	2	3	4	5
11	Seeks differing perspectives from my company when solving problems	1	2	3	4	5
12	Gets my company to look at problems from many different angles	1	2	3	4	5
13	Does not want me to change processes that work	1	2	3	4	5
14	Encourages my company to express ideas and opinions	1	2	3	4	5
15	Asks my company to contribute ideas for improving supply chain problems	1	2	3	4	5
16	Promotes creativity from my company	1	2	3	4	5
17	Rejects ideas I present that are intended to improves processes	1	2	3	4	5
18	Helps my company develop more creative solutions to supply chain problems	1	2	3	4	5
19	Treats my company as distinct from other supply chain members	1	2	3	4	5
20	Considers my company as having different needs and abilities than other supply chain members	1	2	3	4	5
21	Helps my company develop supply chain execution strengths	1	2	3	4	5
22	Provides useful advice to help my company improve	1	2	3	4	5
23	Is effective in mentoring my company to become a better contributor to supply chain success	1	2	3	4	5
24	Assumes all supply chain members have the same abilities	1	2	3	4	5
25	Uses my company's skills to the supply chain's best advantage	1	2	3	4	5
26	Understands my company's capabilities are different from others	1	2	3	4	5
27	Encourages my company to continually improve it supply chain skills	1	2	3	4	5
28	Provides my company with assistance in exchange for our efforts	1	2	3	4	5
29	Defines which company is responsible for achieving specific performance targets	1	2	3	4	5
30	Makes clear what my company should expect when performance goals are achieved.	1	2	3	4	5

Pre-Test Survey	Appendix A.2
Judge how frequently each descriptive statement fits the supply chain leader using the for	llowing scale.

Not at all	Once in a while	Sometimes	Fairly often	Frequently
1	2	3	4	5

My supply chain leader...

31	Does not connect my level of performance with rewards	1	2	3	4	5
32	Ensures that my company receives appropriate rewards for achieving performance targets	1	2	3	4	5
33	Explains what my company must do to be rewarded for our efforts	1	2	3	4	5
34	Clearly communicates performance standards associated with my company's rewards	1	2	3	4	5
35	Is not clear in explaining the rewards for achieving performance targets	1	2	3	4	5
36	Applies punishments when my company's performance drops below expectations	1	2	3	4	5
37	Focuses attention on my company's irregularities and mistakes	1	2	3	4	5
38	Concentrates full attention on dealing with my company's failures	1	2	3	4	5
39	Keeps track of all my company's mistakes	1	2	3	4	5
40	Directs my company's attention toward failures to meet standards	1	2	3	4	5
41	Rarely makes suggestions for correcting performance problems	1	2	3	4	5
42	Searches for mistakes before commenting on my company's performance	1	2	3	4	5
43	Focuses attention on my company's deviations from standards	1	2	3	4	5
44	Strives to uncover performance exceptions in my company	1	2	3	4	5
45	Identifies performance failures and takes corrective action	1	2	3	4	5

<u>SECTION 3</u>: Characteristics of your role

Judge how frequently each descriptive statement fits <u>your company</u> using the following scale.

Not at all	Once in a while	Sometimes	Fairly often	Frequently
1	2	3	4	5

My company...

May question the supply chain leader's wisdom rather than simply doing what we're told	1	2	3	4	5
Declines to follow the supply chain leader's directions when it is contrary to our own values	1	2	3	4	5
Readily accepts the supply chain leader's direction without regard to our own values.	1	2	3	4	5
Asserts our views on important issues, even when it might cause conflict with the supply chain leader	1	2	3	4	5
Knows what to do to help the supply chain achieve its performance goals	1	2	3	4	5
Acts with integrity in all business dealings with the supply chain leader	1	2	3	4	5
Makes the best business decision at the time regardless of prior commitments	1	2	3	4	5
	May question the supply chain leader's wisdom rather than simply doing what we're told Declines to follow the supply chain leader's directions when it is contrary to our own values Readily accepts the supply chain leader's direction without regard to our own values. Asserts our views on important issues, even when it might cause conflict with the supply chain leader Knows what to do to help the supply chain achieve its performance goals Acts with integrity in all business dealings with the supply chain leader Makes the best business decision at the time regardless of prior commitments	May question the supply chain leader's wisdom rather than simply doing what we're told1Declines to follow the supply chain leader's directions when it is contrary to our own values1Readily accepts the supply chain leader's direction without regard to our own values.1Asserts our views on important issues, even when it might cause conflict with the supply chain leader1Knows what to do to help the supply chain achieve its performance goals1Acts with integrity in all business dealings with the supply chain leader1Makes the best business decision at the time regardless of prior commitments1	May question the supply chain leader's wisdom rather than simply doing what we're told12Declines to follow the supply chain leader's directions when it is contrary to our own values12Readily accepts the supply chain leader's direction without regard to our own values.12Asserts our views on important issues, even when it might cause conflict with the supply chain leader12Knows what to do to help the supply chain achieve its performance goals12Acts with integrity in all business dealings with the supply chain leader12Makes the best business decision at the time regardless of prior commitments12	May question the supply chain leader's wisdom rather than simply doing what we're told123Declines to follow the supply chain leader's directions when it is contrary to our own values123Readily accepts the supply chain leader's direction without regard to our own values.123Asserts our views on important issues, even when it might cause 	May question the supply chain leader's wisdom rather than simply doing what we're told1234Declines to follow the supply chain leader's directions when it is contrary to our own values1234Readily accepts the supply chain leader's direction without regard to our own values.1234Asserts our views on important issues, even when it might cause conflict with the supply chain leader1234Knows what to do to help the supply chain achieve its performance goals1234Acts with integrity in all business dealings with the supply chain leader1234Makes the best business decision at the time regardless of prior commitments1234

Pre-Test Survey	Appendix A.2
Judge how frequently each descriptive statement fits your company using the following s	cale.

Not at all	Once in a while	Sometimes	Fairly often	Frequently
1	2	3	4	5

My company...

Makes supply chain related decisions in line with our set of important values	1	2	3	4	5
Identifies critical supply chain activities without waiting for direction from the supply chain leader	1	2	3	4	5
Independently thinks up new ideas that contribute to supply chain goals	1	2	3	4	5
Prefers to keep executing stable supply chain processes rather than developing new ones	1	2	3	4	5
Tries to solve tough problems rather than look to the supply chain leader to do it	1	2	3	4	5
Often looks for better ways to accomplish a supply chain task	1	2	3	4	5
Responds to supply chain problems with creative solutions	1	2	3	4	5
Depends on the supply chain leader to determine what will be done next	1	2	3	4	5
Champions the need for change in the supply chain	1	2	3	4	5
Actively participates in supply chain change projects	1	2	3	4	5
Builds a record of success in tasks important to the supply chain leader	1	2	3	4	5
Accepts difficult assignments without the benefit of supervision from the supply chain leader	1	2	3	4	5
Meets supply chain deadlines with the highest quality of work	1	2	3	4	5
Never takes on additional responsibilities	1	2	3	4	5
Seeks out and completes assignments that go above and beyond what's required	1	2	3	4	5
Assesses its supply chain performance objectively	1	2	3	4	5
Makes sound decisions that benefit the entire supply chain	1	2	3	4	5
Frequently performs poorly on assigned tasks	1	2	3	4	5
Completes our supply chain responsibilities accurately and on-time	1	2	3	4	5
Tries to off-load work from the supply chain leader	1	2	3	4	5
Understands the supply chain leader's needs and goals	1	2	3	4	5
Works hard to support the supply chain leader's goals	1	2	3	4	5
Prefers to stick to our own work	1	2	3	4	5
Develops a network of relationships with other supply chain members	1	2	3	4	5
Tries to continually improve our relationship with the supply chain leader	1	2	3	4	5
Does not try to develop a deeper relationship with the supply chain leader	1	2	3	4	5
Strives to accomplish goals that have been mutually defined with the supply chain leader	1	2	3	4	5
Calls on other supply chain members who possess more knowledge when our skills are limited in a certain area	1	2	3	4	5
Demonstrates commitment to overall supply chain success	1	2	3	4	5
Gives our ideas freely to the supply chain leader	1	2	3	4	5
Agrees with the supply chain leader's decisions, even when it may harm overall supply chain performance	1	2	3	4	5
	Makes supply chain related decisions in line with our set of important values Identifies critical supply chain activities without waiting for direction from the supply chain leader Independently thinks up new ideas that contribute to supply chain goals Prefers to keep executing stable supply chain processes rather than developing new ones Tries to solve tough problems rather than look to the supply chain leader to do it Often looks for better ways to accomplish a supply chain task Responds to supply chain problems with creative solutions Depends on the supply chain leader to determine what will be done next Champions the need for change in the supply chain Actively participates in supply chain change projects Builds a record of success in tasks important to the supply chain leader Accepts difficult assignments without the benefit of supervision from the supply chain leader Meets supply chain deadlines with the highest quality of work Never takes on additional responsibilities Seeks out and completes assignments that go above and beyond what's required Assesses its supply chain performance objectively Makes sound decisions that benefit the entire supply chain Frequently performs poorly on assigned tasks Completes our supply chain leader's goals Works hard to support the supply chain leader's goals Prefers to stick to our own work Develops a network of relationships with other supply chain members Tries to accomplish goals that have been mutually defined with the supply chain leader Calls on other supply chain members who possess more knowledge when our skills are limited in a certain area Demonstrates commitment to overall supply chain leader Agrees with the supply chain leader Calls on other supply chain members who possess more knowledge when our skills are limited in a certain area Demonstrates commitment to overall supply chain leader Agrees with the supply chain leader's decisions, even when it may ha	Makes supply chain related decisions in line with our set of important values1Identifies critical supply chain activities without waiting for direction from the supply chain leader1Independently thinks up new ideas that contribute to supply chain goals1Prefers to keep executing stable supply chain processes rather than developing new ones1Tries to solve tough problems rather than look to the supply chain leader to do it1Often looks for better ways to accomplish a supply chain task1Responds to supply chain problems with creative solutions1Depends on the supply chain leader to determine what will be done next1Actively participates in supply chain change projects1Builds a record of success in tasks important to the supply chain leader the supply chain leader1Never takes on additional responsibilities1Seeks out and completes assignments without the benefit of supervision from the supply chain performance objectively1Makes sound decisions that benefit the entire supply chain1Tries to off-load work from the supply chain leader1Tries to off-load work for the supply chain leader's goals1Develops a network of relationships with other supply chain1Tries to accomplish goals that have been mutually defined with the supply chain leader's needs and goals1Completes our supply chain nembers who possess more knowledge when our skills are limited in a certain area1Does not try to develop a deeper relationship with the supply chain leader1Calals on other supply chain members	Makes supply chain related decisions in line with our set of important values12Identifies critical supply chain activities without waiting for direction from the supply chain leader12Independently thinks up new ideas that contribute to supply chain goals12Prefers to keep executing stable supply chain processes rather than developing new ones12Tries to solve tough problems rather than look to the supply chain leader12Often looks for better ways to accomplish a supply chain task12Responds to supply chain problems with creative solutions12Champions the need for change in the supply chain12Actively participates in supply chain change projects12Builds a record of success in tasks important to the supply chain leader12Never takes on additional responsibilities12Seeks out and completes assignments that go above and beyond what's required12Assesses it supply chain nerformance objectively12Tries to off-load work from the supply chain leader12Understands the supply chain leader's needs and goals12Tries to off-load work for the supply chain leader's goals12Completes our supply chain negonsibilities accurately and on-time12Completes our supply chain leader's needs and goals12Tries to off-load work for the supply chain leader's goals12Develops a network of relationships with other supply chain members12<	Makes supply chain related decisions in line with our set of important values123Identifies critical supply chain activities without waiting for direction from the supply chain leader123Independently thinks up new ideas that contribute to supply chain goals123Prefers to keep executing stable supply chain processes rather than developing new ones123Tries to solve tough problems rather than look to the supply chain leader123Often looks for better ways to accomplish a supply chain task123Depends on the supply chain leader to determine what will be done next123Champions the need for change in the supply chain123Actively participates in supply chain change projects123Meets supply chain deadlines with the highest quality of work123Never takes on additional responsibilities123Seeks out and completes assignments that go above and beyond what's required123Assesses its supply chain performance objectively123Orompletes our supply chain leader'123Tries to off-load work form the supply chain leader's goals123Seeks out and completes assignments that go above and beyond what's required123Soupelets our supply chain nesponsibilities accurately and on-time123Tries to off-load work from the supply chain leader's goals12 <td< td=""><td>Makes supply chain related decisions in line with our set of important values1234Identifies critical supply chain activities without waiting for direction from the supply chain leader1234Independently thinks up new ideas that contribute to supply chain goals1234Prefers to keep executing stable supply chain processes rather than developing new ones1234Tries to solve tough problems rather than look to the supply chain leader to do it1234Often looks for better ways to accomplish a supply chain task1234Champions the need for change in the supply chain1234Champions the need for change in the supply chain1234Builds a record of success in tasks important to the supply chain leader the supply chain leader1234Never takes on additional responsibilities1234Seeks out and completes assignments that go above and beyond what's required1234Assesses its supply chain performance objectively1234Makes sound decisions that benefit the entire supply chain1234Makes sound decisions that benefit segals1234Makes sound decisions that benefit the entire supply chain1234Ordenpletes are supply chain leader1234Never takes on additional responsibilities</td></td<>	Makes supply chain related decisions in line with our set of important values1234Identifies critical supply chain activities without waiting for direction from the supply chain leader1234Independently thinks up new ideas that contribute to supply chain goals1234Prefers to keep executing stable supply chain processes rather than developing new ones1234Tries to solve tough problems rather than look to the supply chain leader to do it1234Often looks for better ways to accomplish a supply chain task1234Champions the need for change in the supply chain1234Champions the need for change in the supply chain1234Builds a record of success in tasks important to the supply chain leader the supply chain leader1234Never takes on additional responsibilities1234Seeks out and completes assignments that go above and beyond what's required1234Assesses its supply chain performance objectively1234Makes sound decisions that benefit the entire supply chain1234Makes sound decisions that benefit segals1234Makes sound decisions that benefit the entire supply chain1234Ordenpletes are supply chain leader1234Never takes on additional responsibilities

Pre-Test Survey Appendix A.2 Judge how frequently each descriptive statement fits <u>your company</u> using the following scale.

Not at all	Once in a while	Sometimes	Fairly often	Frequently
1	2	3	4	5

My company...

84	Enthusiastically supports the efforts of the supply chain leader	1	2	3	4	5
85	Contributes at a high level when not in a leadership position	1	2	3	4	5
86	Is not interested in the supply chain leader's goals	1	2	3	4	5
87	Creates a shared purpose with the supply chain leader	1	2	3	4	5
88	Challenges the supply chain leader when it makes decisions that	1	2	3	1	5
	negatively effect overall supply chain performance	1	4	5	4	5

<u>SECTION 4</u>: Characteristics of the supply chain

Judge how frequently each statement fits the entire supply chain using the following scale.

Not at all	Once in a while	Sometimes	Fairly often	Frequently
1	2	3	4	5

In this supply chain...

89	My company possesses the info needed to rapidly respond to customer requests	1	2	3	4	5
90	My company possesses the info needed to min. customer complaints	1	2	3	4	5
91	My company possesses the info needed to handle unexpected events	1	2	3	4	5
92	My company possesses the info needed to effectively plan supply chain tasks	1	2	3	4	5
93	My company possesses the info needed to accurately fulfill customer orders	1	2	3	4	5
94	My company possesses the info needed to control operating costs	1	2	3	4	5
95	My company can rely on the order volume information provided by the supply chain leader	1	2	3	4	5
96	My company can rely on the order volume information provided by other supply chain members	1	2	3	4	5
97	We coordinate our activities with the supply chain leader through formal communications channels	1	2	3	4	5
98	Formal requirements for communication are established by the supply chain leader	1	2	3	4	5
99	The supply chain leader communicates with my company on a predetermined schedule	1	2	3	4	5
100	My company must report status to the supply chain leader each period	1	2	3	4	5
101	The supply chain leader requires my company to comply with their reporting schedule	1	2	3	4	5
102	My company frequently discusses issues informally with the supply chain leader	1	2	3	4	5
103	My company feels comfortable calling on the supply chain leader when needed	1	2	3	4	5
104	The supply chain leader does not set rules for how or when communication occurs	1	2	3	4	5

Not at	all Once in a while	Sometimes	Fairly often		Fre	equ	en	tly
	1 2	3	4			-	5	
In thi	s supply chain							
105	Little action can be taken until the decision	supply chain lea	ader approves a	1	2	3	4	5
106	Even small matters must be referre my company takes action	d to the supply	chain leader before	1	2	3	4	5
107	My company is constantly being m supply chain leader	onitored for rul	e violations by the	1	2	3	4	5
108	Supply chain decision-making is hi chain leader	ighly concentra	ted with the supply	1	2	3	4	5
109	My company has freedom to make chain performance	decisions that I	may improve supply	1	2	3	4	5
110	My company makes supply chain c authorization	lecisions without	ut the leader's	1	2	3	4	5
111	Supply chain decision-making is di members	istributed across	s many supply chain	1	2	3	4	5
112	All supply chain members are rewa customers' needs	arded for working	ng together to meet	1	2	3	4	5
113	Incentives for working with other f company	irms are made a	available to my	1	2	3	4	5
114	Performance evaluation is partly ba	ased on end-cus	tomer feedback	1	2	3	4	5
115	Rewards are based in part on integration integration in the second secon	ration of object	ives across all supply	1	2	3	4	5
116	My company is rewarded for how	well we meet or	ur own goals	1	2	3	4	5
117	My own company's performance de	etermines our le	evel of rewards	1	2	3	4	5
118	Rewards are passed out to the best chain	performing firm	ns in the supply	1	2	3	4	5
119	The supply chain leader determines	s the level of m	y company's rewards	1	2	3	4	5

Pre-Test Survey Appendix A.2 Judge how frequently each statement fits <u>the entire supply chain</u> using the following scale.

Thank you again for your valuable participation!

APPENDIX B

B.1	Participant Survey
	Participant Demographics
B.2	Participant Job Responsibility
B.3	Participant Years of Supply Chain Experience
B.4	Participant Company Supply Chain Position
B.5	Participant Company Industry
B.6	Participant Company Annual Revenue
B.7	Missing Data Summary
	Discriminant Validity
B.8	Discriminant Validity (Transactional Group)
B.9	Discriminant Validity (Transformational Group)
	Measurement Model
B.10	Measurement Model (Transactional Group)
B.11	Measurement Model (Transformational Group)
	Hypotheses Testing
B.12	SCL Tests of Significance (H ₁)
B.13	SCF Tests of Significance (H ₂)

INSTRUCTIONS:

The following questions relate to your just-completed experience in the Supply Chain Value game. When answering the questions, please keep the following points in mind:

- You determine the *supply chain leader* based on your experience in the game.
- <u>*My company*</u> is the role you played in the game.
- <u>*This supply chain*</u> refers to all participants in the game just completed.
- <u>Supply chain members</u> are all companies represented in the supply chain.

Please try to answer each question. However, <u>do not guess</u> just to provide a response. If you cannot honestly answer a question please circle the question number.

<u>SECTION 1</u>: Identify the supply chain leader

- 1. Circle the company you consider to be the supply chain leader in the diagram below.
- 2. Mark an "X" through your own company.



3. Briefly describe *why* you selected the supply chain leader (optional):

Participant Survey <u>SECTION 2</u>: Characteristics of the supply chain leader

Judge how frequently each statement fits the supply chain leader using the following rating scale.

Not at all	Once in a while	Sometimes	Fairly often	Frequently
1	2	3	4	5

My supply chain leader...

4	Is enthusiastic about what needs to be accomplished by the supply chain					5
5	Articulates a compelling vision of the supply chain's future	1	2	3	4	5
6	Expresses confidence that supply chain goals will be achieved	1	2	3	4	5
7	Specifies the importance of having a shared sense of purpose	1	2	3	4	5
8	Does not explain performance expectations	1	2	3	4	5
9	Clarifies the central purpose underlying actions of all supply chain members	1	2	3	4	5
10	Seeks differing perspectives from my company when solving problems	1	2	3	4	5
11	Gets my company to look at problems from many different angles	1	2	3	4	5
12	Encourages my company to express ideas and opinions	1	2	3	4	5
13	Asks my company to contribute ideas for improving supply chain problems	1	2	3	4	5
14	Promotes creativity from my company	1	2	3	4	5
15	Treats my company as distinct from other supply chain members	1	2	3	4	5
16	Considers my company as having different abilities than other supply chain members	1	2	3	4	5
17	Helps my company develop supply chain execution strengths	1	2	3	4	5
18	Provides useful advice to help my company improve	1	2	3	4	5
19	Understands my company's capabilities are different from others	1	2	3	4	5
20	Encourages my company to continually improve its supply chain skills	1	2	3	4	5
21	Provides my company with assistance in exchange for our efforts	1	2	3	4	5
22	Makes clear what my company should expect when performance goals are achieved	1	2	3	4	5
23	Ensures that my company receives appropriate rewards for achieving performance targets	1	2	3	4	5
24	Explains what my company must do to be rewarded for our efforts	1	2	3	4	5
25	Clearly communicates performance standards associated with my company's rewards	1	2	3	4	5
26	Focuses attention on my company's irregularities and mistakes	1	2	3	4	5
27	Concentrates full attention on dealing with my company's failures	1	2	3	4	5
28	Keeps track of all my company's mistakes	1	2	3	4	5
29	Directs my company's attention toward failures to meet standards	1	2	3	4	5
30	Focuses attention on my company's deviations from standards	1	2	3	1	5
31	Strives to uncourse performance executions in my company's deviations in my company's	4	2	0	4	5
51	Surves to uncover performance exceptions in my company	1	2	3	4	Э

Participant Survey

<u>SECTION 3</u>: Characteristics of your role

Judge how frequently each statement fits your company using the following rating scale.

Not at all	Once in a while	Sometimes	Fairly often	Frequently
1	2	3	4	5

My company...

32	Declines to follow the supply chain leader's directions when it is contrary to our own values	1	2	3	4	5
33	Asserts its views on important issues	1	2	3	4	5
34	Knows what to do to help the supply chain achieve its performance goals	1	2	3	4	5
35	Acts with integrity in all business dealings with the supply chain leader	1	2	3	4	5
36	Makes supply chain related decisions in line with our set of important values	1	2	3	4	5
37	Independently thinks up new ideas that contribute to supply chain goals	1	2	3	4	5
38	Tries to solve tough problems rather than look to the supply chain leader to do it	1	2	3	4	5
39	Looks for better ways to accomplish a supply chain task	1	2	3	4	5
40	Responds to supply chain problems with creative solutions	1	2	3	4	5
41	Champions the need for change in the supply chain	1	2	3	4	5
42	Actively participates in supply chain change projects	1	2	3	4	5
43	Builds a record of success in tasks important to the supply chain leader	1	2	3	4	5
44	Meets supply chain deadlines with the highest quality of work	1	2	3	4	5
45	Seeks out and completes assignments that go above and beyond what's required	1	2	3	4	5
46	Assesses its supply chain performance objectively	1	2	3	4	5
47	Makes sound decisions that benefit the entire supply chain	1	2	3	4	5
48	Completes our supply chain responsibilities accurately and on-time	1	2	3	4	5
49	Tries to off-load work from the supply chain leader	1	2	3	4	5
50	Works hard to support the supply chain leader's goals	1	2	3	4	5
51	Develops a network of relationships with other supply chain members	1	2	3	4	5
52	Tries to continually improve our relationship with the supply chain leader	1	2	3	4	5
53	Does not try to develop a deeper relationship with the supply chain leader	1	2	3	4	5
54	Strives to accomplish goals that have been mutually defined with the supply chain leader	1	2	3	4	5
55	Calls on other supply chain members who possess more knowledge when our skills are limited in a certain area	1	2	3	4	5
56	Demonstrates commitment to overall supply chain success	1	2	3	4	5
57	Gives our ideas freely to the supply chain leader	1	2	3	4	5
58	Enthusiastically supports the efforts of the supply chain leader	1	2	3	4	5
59	Contributes at a high level when not in a leadership position	1	2	3	4	5
60	Creates a shared purpose with the supply chain leader	1	2	3	4	5

Participant Survey <u>SECTION 4</u>: Characteristics of the supply chain

Judge how frequently each statement fits the entire supply chain using the following rating scale.

Not at all	Once in a while	Sometimes	Fairly often	Frequently
1	2	3	4	5

In this supply chain...

61	My company possesses the information needed to rapidly respond to customer requests	1	2	3	4	5
62	My company possesses the information needed to minimize customer complaints	1	2	3	4	5
63	My company possesses the information needed to handle unexpected events	1	2	3	4	5
64	My company possesses the information needed to effectively plan supply chain tasks	1	2	3	4	5
65	My company possesses the information needed to accurately fulfill customer orders	1	2	3	4	5
66	We coordinate our activities with the supply chain leader through formal communications channels	1	2	3	4	5
67	Formal requirements for communication are established by the supply chain leader	1	2	3	4	5
68	The supply chain leader communicates with my company on a predetermined schedule	1	2	3	4	5
69 70	My company must report status to the supply chain leader each period	1	2	3	4	5
70	schedule	1	2	3	4	5
71	My company frequently discusses issues informally with the supply chain leader	1	2	3	4	5
72	Little action can be taken until the supply chain leader approves a decision	1	2	3	4	5
73	Even small matters must be referred to the supply chain leader before my company takes action	1	2	3	4	5
74	My company is constantly being monitored for rule violations by the supply chain leader	1	2	3	4	5
75	Supply chain decision-making is highly concentrated with the supply chain leader	1	2	3	4	5
76	My company has freedom to make decisions that may improve supply chain performance	1	2	3	4	5
77	All supply chain members are rewarded for working together to meet customers' needs	1	2	3	4	5
78	Incentives for working with other firms are made available to my company	1	2	3	4	5
79	Performance evaluation is partly based on end-customer feedback	1	2	3	4	5
80	Rewards are based in part on integration of objectives across all supply chain member firms	1	2	3	4	5
81	My company is compensated based on how well it meets our own goals	1	2	3	4	5
82	My company is compensated based on how well it meets overall supply chain goals	1	2	3	4	5
83	Other firms alter the facts to get what they want	1	2	3	4	5
84	Other firms exaggerate their needs to get what they want	1	2	3	4	5
85	Other firms breech agreements to their own benefit	1	2	3	4	5
86	Other firms are not always sincere	1	2	3	4	5

Appendix B.1

<u>SECTION 5</u>: Information about the organization you actually work for (*for classification purposes only*)

Participant Survey

Answer these questions based on the company you work for and your actual experience.

87. Which term best describes the position the company you work for occupies in the supply chain?

Raw material supplier	Third-party provider	Wholesaler
Manufacturer	Retailer	End Consumer
Distributor	Other (describe)	

88. Which term best describes your company's industry?

Automotive	Agribusiness/Food	CPG
Electronics	Medical/Rx	Construction
Aerospace	Apparel/Textiles	Transportation
Consumer Appliances	Industrial Products	Office Products
Chemicals/Plastics	General Merchandise	Other

89. Characterize the rate of change in your industry.

____Very Slow ____Slow ____Average ____Fast ____Very Fast

90. What is your Company's approximate annual sales revenue?

Less than \$10 million	\$500-\$999 million	\$10-\$19.9 billion
\$10-\$99 million	\$1-\$4.9 billion	GT \$20 billion
\$100-\$499 million	\$5-\$9.9 billion	

91. Do you consider your firm to be a supply chain leader?

__No ___Yes

92. Briefly explain why you answered number 91 in that way?

93. What is your job title?

94. How long have you been in this role? How long have you been with this company?

95. How many *total* years of supply chain related experience have you accumulated in your career?

Thank you again for your valuable participation!

	Frequency	%	Cumulative
Executive	34	13%	13%
Manager	110	43%	57%
Supervisor / Senior Staff	39	15%	72%
Staff / Analyst	62	25%	97%
Admin / Support Staff	8	3%	100%
Total	253	100%	

Appendix B.2: Participant Job Responsibility

Appendix B.3: Participant Years of Supply Chain Experience						
	Frequency	%	Cumulative			
1 year or less	46	18%	18%			
2-5 years	61	24%	42%			
6-10 years	61	24%	66%			
11-15 years	32	13%	79%			
16-20 years	31	12%	91%			
More than 20 years	22	9%	100%			
Total	253	100%				

D 2. D f C. A **X**7

Apj	pendix	B.4 :	Partici	pant (Comp	oany Su	pply	Chain	Position
-----	--------	--------------	---------	--------	------	---------	------	-------	----------

	Frequency	%	Cumulative
Raw Material Supplier	8	3%	3%
Manufacturer	10	4%	7%
Distributor	60	24%	31%
Third-Party Provider	11	4%	35%
Retailer	121	48%	83%
Wholesaler	4	2%	85%
End Consumer	13	5%	90%
Other	26	10%	100%
Total	253	100%	

"Other" includes transportation and freight delivery, supply chain consulting, real estate development, executive education, management training.

	Frequency	%	Cumulative
Office Products	164	65%	65%
Transportation	34	13%	78%
Consumer Packaged Goods	10	4%	82%
General Merchandise	8	3%	85%
Electronics	7	3%	88%
Medical	4	2%	90%
Aerospace	2	1%	91%
Agribusiness/Food	2	1%	91%
Automotive	2	1%	92%
Construction/Home Repair	2	1%	93%
Other	18	7%	100%
Total	253	100%	

Appendix B.5: Participant Company Industry

"Other includes apparel, chemicals, consulting, consumer applicances, industrial products, executive education.

	Frequency	%	Cumulative
Less than \$10 million	18	7%	7%
\$10-\$99 million	6	2%	9%
\$100-\$499 million	13	5%	15%
\$500-\$999 million	5	2%	17%
\$1.0-\$4.9 billion	26	10%	27%
\$5.0-\$9.9 billion	153	60%	87%
\$10.0-\$19.9 billion	23	9%	96%
Greater than \$20.0 billion	9	4%	100%
Total	253	100	

Appendix B.6: Participant Company Annual Revenue

	Survey Count			Missing Item Count			
	Freq	%	Cumulative	Items % Cum		Cumulative	
Fully completed surveys	330	66%	66%	-	0%	0%	
Surveys missing 1-2 items	87	17%	83%	100	4%	4%	
Surveys missing 3-4 items	17	3%	86%	64	2%	6%	
Surveys missing 5-9 items	17	3%	90%	118	4%	10%	
Surveys missing 10-20 items	22	4%	94%	305	11%	21%	
Surveys missing 21+ items	29	6%	100%	2,241	79%	100%	
Total	502	100%		2,828	100%		

Appendix B.7: Missing Data Summary

	II.				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Constructs	SCL	SCF	INF	СОМ	REW	OPP
SCL	0.69					
SCF	0.28	0.64				
INF	0.21	0.22	0.66			
COM	0.48	0.38	0.46	0.68		
REW	0.36	0.40	0.35	0.62	0.69	
OPP	0.00	0.01	0.05	0.04	0.04	0.71

Appendix B.8: Discriminant Validity (Transactional Group)

Note: Average Variance Extracted (AVE) represented by bolded diagonal values. Values below the diagonal are squared correlations.

Appendix B.9: Discriminant Validity (Transformational Group)							
Constructs	SCL	SCF	INF	СОМ	REW	OPP	
SCL	0.61						
SCF	0.47	0.65					
INF	0.24	0.47	0.76				
COM	0.37	0.32	0.29	0.65			
REW	0.40	0.47	0.47	0.53	0.65		
OPP	0.04	0.00	0.00	0.07	0.04	0.81	

Note: Average Variance Extracted (AVE) represented by bolded diagonal values.

Values below the diagonal are squared correlations.



Appendix B.10: Measurement Model (Transactional Group)



Appendix B.11: Measurement Model (Transformational Group)

	Confidence Interval					
	Mean	Std Dev	Upper	Lower	t-value	p-value
Transactional group	2.23	1.08	2.09	2.36		
Transformational group	3.70	0.90	3.59	3.82		
Difference	1.47				16.072	$\leq .000$

Appendix B.12: SCL Tests of Significance (H1)

Appendix B.13: SCF Tests of Significance (H_2)							
	Confidence Interval						
	Mean	Std Dev	Upper	Lower	t-value	p-value	
Transactional group	2.79	1.10	2.65	2.93			
Transformational group	3.99	0.82	3.89	4.10			
Difference	1.20				13.461	≤.000	

Annondin D 12. SCE Tosts of Significance (II)

VITA

C. Clifford Defee holds Bachelor of Business Administration and Master of Business Administration degrees in Marketing from Texas A&M University His primary research interests include the concepts of supply chain leadership and supply chain followership, inter-organizational capabilities, and supply chain strategy.

Cliff has been actively involved as assistant director of the Supply Chain Management and Strategy Forum at the University of Tennessee. He is a member of the Council of Supply Chain Management Professionals, the American Society of Transportation and Logistics, the Production and Operations Management Society, and the Strategic Management Society. Immediately prior to entering the doctoral program, Cliff was chief operating officer for PFSweb, Inc. Cliff previously served as vice president of operations for Daisytek International, following a 13-year career at Accenture.

In August 2007, Cliff completed the requirements for the Ph.D. in Business Administration with a major in Logistics and minor in Strategy at the University of Tennessee, Knoxville. He is presently employed as an Assistant Professor of Supply Chain Management at Auburn University in Auburn, Alabama.